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Leadership: More than 11 million customers
Expansion: Acquired Hungarian Postabank
Integration: Erste Bank Croatia has become the 
country’s third largest bank
Focused: Reorganised the insurance business
Savings banks: Continued transfer of branches; 
increased stake in Kärntner Sparkasse
Earnings growth: Net profit up 38.4%
Share price: Performance well ahead of benchmarks
Company value: Market capitalisation grew more 
than 50% in 2003

Erste Bank 2003
The Leading Financial Services Provider in Central Europe



2003 2002 3 2001 2 2000 1

in EUR million in EUR million in EUR million in EUR million
Balance sheet
Total assets 128,575 121,222 86,033 71,196

Loans and advances to credit institutions 13,140 15,492 18,913 19,472
Loans and advances to customers 67,766 64,435 39,210 31,238
Risk provisions for loans and advances (2,772) (2,983) (1,875) (1,544)
Trading assets, other current assets, financial investments 39,093 32,795 21,093 16,684
Sundry assets 11,348 11,483 8,692 5,346

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 128,575 121,222 86,033 71,196
Amounts owed to credit institutions 25,704 26,425 28,642 25,638
Amounts owed to customers 64,839 61,308 37,175 28,841
Debts evidenced by certificates, including subordinated capital 20,482 17,577 12,707 10,736
Other liabilities, provisions 11,880 10,708 4,346 3,292
Minority interests 2,879 2,723 1,259 833
Shareholders’ equity 2,791 2,481 1,904 1,856

Changes in total qualifying capital
Risk-weighted assets pursuant to Sec, 22 Banking Act 62,188 60,257 37,803 31,879
Qualifying consolidated capital pursuant to Sec. 23 & 24 Banking Act 7,009 6,983 4,308 3,956

of which core capital (Tier 1) 3,912 3,800 2,337 2,125
Solvency ratio pursuant to Sec. 22 Banking Act (in %) 10.7% 11.0% 10.7% 11.2%

of which core capital ratio (in %) 6.3% 6.3% 6.2% 6.7%

Income statement
Net interest income 2,586.8 2,463.0 1,438.9 924.0
Risk provisions for loans and advances (406.4) (406.4) (203.6) (161.9)
Net comission income 996.6 944.3 574.6 423.4
Net trading result 214.6 167.4 152.6 127.4
General administrative expenses (2,460.8) (2,432.0) (1,454.3) (1,001.0)
Operating result 1,370.1 1,151.2 711.7 473.7
Pre-tax profit 761.6 664.6 405.7 267.8
Net profit after minority interests 353.3 255.2 223.3 191.8

Profitability
Interest margin in % of average interest bearing assets 4 2.30% 2.30% 2.05% 1.68%
Net profit after minority interests in % of average total assets 0.28% 0.22% 0.28% 0.31%
Net profit after minority interests in % of risk-weighted assets (RWA) 0.57% 0.42% 0.59% 0.65%
Cost-income ratio (in %) 64.2% 67.9% 67.1% 67.9%
Return on equity (ROE) (in %) 13.7% 12.7% 12.4% 12.3%
Earnings per share (in EUR) 5.94 4.73 4.47 4.21

Additional information
Number of employees 37,650 36,923 28,222 23,810

Austria 14,974 15,654 7,425 6,615
International 22,676 21,269 20,797 17,195

thereof Česká spořitelna-Group 12,420 12,994 13,341 15,742
thereof Slovenská sporiteľňa, a.s. 5,283 5,248 5,856 –
thereof other subsidiaries 4,973 5 3,027 1,600 1,453

Number of branches
Austria 1,052 1,068 315 279
Czech Republic 667 673 684 707
Slovak Republic 339 353 441 –
Hungary 194 6 79 66 55
Croatia 118 112 34 30

Key figures (IFRS)

1 Including five months of Česká spořitelna, a.s.
2 Including Česká spořitelna, a.s. and Slovenská sporiteľňa, a.s.; the balance sheet data and qualifying capital include Tiroler Sparkasse Bank AG
3 First-time consolidation of the members of the cross-guarantee system and Riječka banka d.d.; the income statement additionally includes Tiroler Sparkasse Bank AG
4 Change in calculation method from the previous year
5 Including 1,804 employees of Postabank
6 Including 112 branches of Postabank



2003 2002 2001 2000
in EUR in EUR in EUR in EUR

Share price
High 98.20 85.83 62.00 51.30
Low 58.45 53.00 47.00 40.85
Closing price 97.97 64.15 59.70 48.00

Share ratios
Earnings per share 5.94 4.73 4.47 4.21
Price-earnings ratio 16.49 13.56 13.36 11.40
Dividend per share 1.50 1 1.24 1.24 1.24
Payout ratio (in %) 25.4% 29.1% 27.7% 32.6%
Dividend yield (in %) 1.5% 1.9% 2.1% 2.6%
Book value per share 46.56 41.47 37.80 36.82
Operating result per share 22.86 19.24 14.13 9.40
Price-book value ratio 2.1 1.5 1.6 1.3

Total Shareholder Return (TSR)
TSR (in %) 54.22% 9.35% 26.50% 11.7%
Average TSR (in %) 15.57% 9.13% 9.10% 4.7%

Number of shares
Number of shares outstanding 59,943,808 2 59,825,114 2 50,362,955 50,360,799
Average number of shares outstanding 59,461,459 53,942,369 49,965,944 45,543,554
Market capitalisation (in EUR billion) 5.87 3.84 3.01 2.42
Trading volume (in EUR billion) 3 2.02 2.85 1.33 0.95
1 Recommendation to Annual General Meeting
2 The Erste Bank shares held by the cross-guarantee system of the savings banks were not deducted from the number of shares outstanding.
3 Source: Vienna Stock Exchange; single counting

Key figures for Erste Bank share

FITCH
Long-term A
Short-term F1
Individual B/C

Moody’s Investors Service
Long-term A1
Short-term P-1
Bank Financial Strength Rating C+

Standard & Poor’s
Short-term A-2

Ratings Performance of Erste Bank share

115

105

95

85

75

65

55

45

35

EUR DEC 97  > >  FEB 04



ERSTE BANK 2003 ANNUAL REPORT

2003 Annual Report

Contents

Key figures: Erste Bank and its share

The Erste Bank Share

Corporate Governance

Group Management Report

Segment Performance
Austria
Central Europe
International Business
Corporate Centre

Credit Risk at Erste Bank Group

2003 Consolidated Financial Statements according 
to IFRS
Group Balance Sheet
Group Income Statement
Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
Cash Flow Statement
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Auditors’ Report

Report of the Supervisory Board

<

02

05

06

14

15

29

33

34

38

48

48

49

50

51

53

100

101



Performance of the Erste Bank share, DJ Euro Stoxx Bank Index and ATX since the beginning of 2003 (indexed) 
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The Erste Bank Share

Rising more than 50% in 2003, the Erste Bank share was one
of the top performers in the European banking sector last
year. In addition to the general recovery in financial markets
and the financial industry, the performance was driven
primarily by the consistent implementation of the growth
strategy in Central Europe, where Erste Bank’s latest signal
achievement was the acquisition of Hungarian Postabank.

Performance of equity indices

Despite a poor start to a tur-
bulent 2003, international equity
markets closed the year on solid gains for the first time since 1999. Defy-
ing the political uncertainty over Iraq, the delayed economic upturn and the
persistent weakness in the US dollar, nearly all important equity markets
charted double-digit advances. The rally was led by the major US indices
(the Dow Jones Industrial Average was up 25.3%, the S&P 500 added
26.4% and the Nasdaq went up 50.0%). The FTSE Eurotop 300 Index rose
by 11.8% on balance in 2003. Austria’s ATX, with a gain of 34.4%, and Ger-
many’s DAX, which climbed 37.1%, were two of the best-performing indi-
ces in Europe. 

The conclusion of the Iraq war – a conflict which had preoccupied
international stock markets in the first quarter of 2003 and depressed
share prices globally to a new low by mid-March – triggered an explosive
rally in equity markets. The critical reasons for the stock market upswing
under way since the turning point on 11 March were the general better
sentiment for equities, interest rate cuts by US and European central banks
and hopes of a recovery in the world economy. From the second half of the

S T R O N G  R A L LY  I N  I N T E R N A T I O N A L

STOCK MARKETS

year, this rally accelerated further, fuelled by positive corporate reporting
and several unexpectedly vigorous economic indicators that supported
the scenario of robust economic growth in the USA and a gradual upturn
in Europe. 

For  banks the downward
trend of the previous year continued
at first in 2003. This was attributable mainly to earnings reports by Euro-
pean banks for 2002 that were below expectations, and the downgrading
of some bank issues by rating agencies and analysts. Against this backdrop,
the DJ Euro Stoxx Bank Index too registered a negative performance in the
first three months of 2003, falling 9.2%, but then rallied on the strength
of an emerging improvement in the profitability of European banks. This
positive trend was validated and reinforced by bank earnings above expec-
tations in the following quarters and by the overall upturn in stock markets,
lifting the DJ Euro Stoxx Bank Index to new highs for the year. In total the
sector index, with a reading of 260.05 points at the end of December,
gained 31.0% on the year. This bullish trend continued with a further 2.1%
increase in January 2004.

B A N K I N G  S E C T O R  B E N E F I T S  F R O M

IMPROVEMENT IN EARNINGS SITUATION

With a rise of 34.4% in the
Austr ian Traded Index (ATX)  to
1,545.15 points, the Austrian stock
market beat almost all other European equity indices in 2003. In part, the
outperformance of the Vienna stock exchange represented the upside
potential arising from the eastward enlargement of the European Union as
of 1 May 2004, which is expected to be a boon to the Austrian economy.
The ATX extended its command performance until into February by attain-
ing several more successive historic highs, and its gain of 11.3% for January
conspicuously outshone all other European equity markets. Over the same
period the FTSE Eurotop 300 Index added only 2.5%. 

V I E N N A  S T O C K  E X C H A N G E  A  S T A R

PERFORMER OF 2003, SETS NEW ALL-

TIME HIGH IN EARLY 2004



Share performance at a glance1

03ERSTE BANK 2003 ANNUAL REPORT

Performance of the Erste Bank share

Last year the Er ste Bank
share delivered a record gain and
several new all-time highs. Reaching
a year-end price of EUR 97.97, the share advanced by 52.7% in 2003. Erste
Bank thus out-distanced both the ATX (up 34.4%), by 18.3 percentage
points, and the sector index for European banks (up 31.0%), by 21.7 per-
centage points. Notwithstanding the adverse environment and the low for the
year of EUR 58.45 recorded on 11 March, Erste Bank’s share closed even the
first quarter of 2003 on a gain, rising by 1.9%. 

Thanks to the recovery in the European banking industry and to the
rating by analysts as a core investment in Central Europe’s banking sector,
the share subsequently soared. This upward surge gained additional momen-
tum when the share marked several all-time highs in October and November.
The highest closing price in 2003 was reached on 4 November, at EUR 98.20.

The chief factor behind this outstanding share performance, aside
from the publication of good business results, was the continuation of the
successful expansion strategy in Central Europe through the acquisition of
Hungary’s Postabank in October 2003. That transaction prompted analysts
to revise their target prices for the Erste Bank share higher. In 2004 the
share continued to gain, advancing swiftly at the very beginning of the year.
On 5 January 2004 Erste Bank’s share price, at EUR 102.00, for the first time
passed the hundred-euro mark. The high during the period under review was
reached on 16 February 2004 at EUR 115.0.

RECORD APPRECIATION IN 2003 AND

FUR THER RISE WELL PAS T HUNDRED-

EURO MARK IN NEW YEAR

Trading volume and market capitalisation

On average in 2003, about
103,000 Erste Bank shares were
traded per day on the Vienna stock exchange, an increase of nearly 20%
on one year earlier. The share’s turnover on the Prague exchange, where
Erste Bank has been listed since October 2002, reached some 21,000
shares per day. The share price gains increased the market capitalisation
of Erste Bank to EUR 5.87 billion as of 31 December 2003, more than 50%
above the prior-year level of EUR 3.84 billion. In February 2004 Erste
Bank’s value in the stock market, boosted further by the share’s headlong
gains, rose well past the EUR 6.5 billion mark.

Proposed distribution of profit 

It will be proposed to the Annual General Meeting on 4 May 2004
to pay a dividend of EUR 1.50 per share. This corresponds to an increase
of 20% on the previous year and represents a payout ratio of 25.4%. The
higher dividend reflects both Erste Bank’s growth in net profit for the year
and comfortable levels of regulatory capital thanks to retained earnings.

PRONOUNCED GROW TH IN VOLUME AND

MARKET VALUE

The Erste Bank share is represented in the following indices

> ATX – Austrian Traded Index
> ATX Prime
> PX 50
> PX-D
> DJ Euro Stoxx Bank Index

> MSCI Standard Index Austria 
> MSCI All World 
> FTSE Eurotop 300 Index
> FTSE All World

THE ERSTE BANK SHARE

Since IPO Dec. 1997 Since SPO Sep. 2000 Since SPO July 2002 2003
Erste Bank share +121.0% +108.4% +40.6% +52.7%
ATX +18.4% +32.2% +26.7% +34.4%
DJ Euro Stoxx Bank Index – 2 – 26.0% +3.5% +31.0%
1 Based on closing prices on 31 December 2003
2 Comparison since IPO is not meaningful as Erste Bank has been included in this index only since 16 January 1998 
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1 This list comprises all institutions known to Erste Bank at the editorial deadline that
prepare research reports on the Erste Bank share.

> BNP Paribas
> Bank Austria Creditanstalt
> Citigroup
> Deutsche Bank 
> Dresdner Kleinwort Wasserstein
> Fox-Pitt, Kelton 
> Goldman Sachs
> ING 
> JP Morgan

> Lehman Brothers
> Main First
> Merrill Lynch
> Patria
> Raiffeisen Centrobank 
> UBM UniCredit Banca Mobiliare
> UBS 
> West LB

Research reports covering the 
Erste Bank share1

THE ERSTE BANK SHARE

in EUR 2003
Earnings per share 5.94
Price-earnings ratio 16.49
Dividend per share 1.50 1

Payout ratio (in %) 25.4%
Dividend yield (in %) 1.5%
Book value per share 46.56
Operating profit per share 22.86
Total shareholder return (in %) 54.22%
Average total shareholder return (in %) 15.57%
Number of shares outstanding 59,943,808 2

Average number of shares outstanding 59,461,459
Market capitalisation (in EUR billion) 5.87
Trading volume (in EUR billion) 2.02 3

1 Recommendation to Annual General Meeting
2 Including Erste Bank shares held by savings banks
3 Source: Vienna Stock Exchange, single counting

Key figures for the Erste Bank share in 2003

4 May 2004 Annual General Meeting
7 May 2004 Ex-dividend date and dividend payment date
10 May 2004 1 Release of results for the first quarter of 2004
17 August 2004 1 Release of results for the first half of 2004
12 November 2004 1 Release of results for the third quarter of 2004
1 Preliminary date

Financial calendar

Ownership structure

34.0% DIE ERSTE Privatstiftung

 6.1% Austria Verein

42.9% of which institutional investors

   8.3% of which retail investors

   7.0% of which Austrian savings banks

   1.7% of which employees

59.9% Free float

Erste Bank Investor Relations

Erste Bank, Graben 21, A-1010 Vienna/Austria
E-MAIL: investor.relations@erstebank.at
FAX: from within Austria 05 0100-13112

international +43 5 0100-13112
INTERNET: www.erstebank.com/ir

Gabriele Semmelrock-Werzer
PHONE: from within Austria 05 0100-11286

international +43 5 0100-11286
E-MAIL: gabriele.werzer@erstebank.at

Thomas Schmee
PHONE: from within Austria 05 0100-17326

international +43 5 0100-17326
E-MAIL: thomas.schmee@erstebank.at

Nina Higatzberger
PHONE: from within Austria 05 0100-17795

international +43 5 0100-17795
E-MAIL: nina.higatzberger@erstebank.at

Ticker symbols
Reuters ERST.VI
Bloomberg EBS AV
Datastream O:ERS
ISIN AT0000652011
ADR Cusip-Code 296 036 304



05ERSTE BANK 2003 ANNUAL REPORT

The inclusion of employees forms an important part of Erste Bank’s
corporate culture. This manifests itself in large-scale staff surveys whose
results are analysed by outside consultants and taken into account in the
management’s decisions. The first survey throughout Austria was conduct-
ed in 2000; another followed in the first half of 2003. Similar surveys are
carried out at the subsidiaries in Central Europe.

The high esteem in which
Erste Bank holds its employees is
expressed in the Staff Charter signed at the beginning of 2004. The Staff
Charter documents the employee-friendly value system as well as the aims
of management and staff. In addition, in order to keep pace with the
changing market environment, the Char ter creates a focus on joint
productivity.

Safeguarding the rights of all shareholders is the cardinal rule of cor-
porate management. Erste Bank thus created a clear capital structure
made up only of ordinary shares. Consistent with giving shareholders a sub-
stantial share in company profits, Erste Bank announced at its initial public
offering in 1997 that it would strive to pay dividends at a rate of about 30%
when possible. In the years since then this target has largely been met. 

The need of shareholders to speak directly with top management
is accommodated in Internet chats that have been held regularly since
2000. These events allow investors to find out first-hand about current
developments at Erste Bank. 

The rights and responsibilities of employees and the appropriate
conduct towards customers (Code of Conduct) are specified in a detailed
and comprehensive set of instructions. The current version of these binding
standards is available on Erste Bank’s intranet.

STAFF CHARTER REFLECTS ESTEEM FOR

EMPLOYEES IN THE ERSTE BANK GROUP

Corporate Governance

In the interest of accountable business management, Erste
Bank is committed to putting the Austrian Code of Corporate
Governance into action. In order to ensure the greatest pos-
sible transparency for all stakeholder groups, Erste Bank
adheres to all statutory rules of this Code and most of its
recommendations. Good corporate governance is regarded
as a key element of Erste Bank’s corporate culture.

The Austrian Code of Corporate Governance

In October 2002 the Austri-
an Working Group for Corporate
Governance presented the Austrian
Code of Corporate Governance. The Code constitutes a voluntary, self-
regulatory initiative and goes beyond a corporation’s statutory responsi-
bilities. The Code seeks to promote accountable corporate management
and supervision that sustainably create value and that balance and defi-
ne all rights and responsibilities of every stakeholder – management,
supervisory board, employees, shareholders and the general public – and
the relationships between these groups. The Code is designed to ensure a
high degree of transparency for all stakeholders. The complete wording of
the Code is available at www.corporate-governance.at.

Erste Bank is deeply committed to good
corporate governance

Erste Bank complies with all
statutory requirements of the Aus-
trian Code of Corporate Governance and with most of its recommendations.
Detailed explanations of the compliance with specific parts of the Code can
be found on the website of Erste Bank at www.erstebank.com/ir.

At the public offerings in 1997 and 2000, Erste Bank’s employees
had the opportunity to acquire shares of Erste Bank on preferential terms
and thus benefit from the Group’s upside potential on the stock market. In
2002, in addition to a management share option plan, a new employee
share ownership programme (ESOP) for all Group staff was launched under
the name “Creating Value”. The strong demand from staff has reinforced
the management’s intention to continue the ESOP, with the goal of raising
employees’ ownership of Erste Bank to about 5% in the medium term. 

CLOSE ADHERENCE TO THE CODE DETAILS

AT WWW.ERSTEBANK.COM/IR

H I G H  T R A N S PA R E N C Y  I N  A U S T R I A’ S

C APITAL MARKET THROUGH CODE OF

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Management Report and Financial Review of the
Erste Bank Group

The consolidated financial statements of Erste Bank are prepared
in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),
formerly known as International Accounting Standards (IAS).

Consolidated results in brief

When reviewing the rates of change presented here, it should be
taken into account that in 2002, Riječka banka was not consolidated until
May and the stake in Česká spořitelna was increased only in July of the
same year. As well, the acquisition made in Hungary in December 2003,
Postabank és Takarékpénztár Rt. (Postabank), was integrated from the
transaction’s closing date of 16 December 2003.

Moreover, as in the previous years, in 2003 ownership of a num-
ber of Erste Bank branches was transferred to local savings banks in the
Austrian regions. The financial year thus saw the Erste Bank branches in
the Vorarlberg region taken over by the savings banks in Dornbirn, Feldkirch
and Bregenz. The effects on the consolidated financial statements are
negligible; only the item “other operating result” contains resulting sales
proceeds of about EUR 13 million.

Total operating income of
the Erste Bank Group (consisting of
net interest income, net commission income, net trading result and in-
come from insurance business) rose 6.9% in the year under review to 
EUR 3,830.9 million. General administrative expenses (comprising per-
sonnel expenses, other administrative expenses as well as depreciation and
amortisation of fixed assets) meanwhile only inched up a modest 1.2% to
EUR 2,460.8 million.

OPERATING INCOME INCREASED 6.9% 

TO EUR 3,830.9 MILLION

Operating result – the balance of operating income and general
administrative expenses – was EUR 1,370.1 million, 19.0% higher than in
the year before.

In 2003 this led to a marked improvement in the cost-income
ratio (general administrative expenses as a percentage of operating inco-
me) from 67.9% to 64.2%.

While risk provisions for loans and advances remained virtually
unchanged at about EUR 406.4 million compared to the previous year, the
absolute amount of the negative other operating result increased from 
EUR –80.2 million to EUR –202.1 million.

This resulted in pre-tax profit of EUR 761.6 million, which consti-
tutes a 14.6% increase on the level of 2002.

After taxes on income and minority interests, net profit for the
2003 financial year was EUR 353.3 million, an increase of 38.4% on the
year before.

Based on average shareholders’ equity less own shares (calculat-
ed from the monthly figures), the return on equity reached 13.7% com-
pared to 12.7% one year earlier.

Earnings per share increased from EUR 4.73 to EUR 5.94.

  2,166.1 
(+46.9%)

1,454.3 
(+45.3%)

2001

  1,474.8 
(+25.8%)

1,001.0 
(+21.8%)

2000

  
1,172.4

 821.7

1999

  3,830.9 
(+6.9%)

2,460.8 
(+1.2%)

2003

   3,583.1 
(+65.4%)

2,432.0 
(+67.2%)

2002

Operating income General adminstrative expenses

Operating income and general adminstrative expenses 
(in EUR million)

  711.8 
(+50.2%)

223.3 
(+16.4%)

2001

  473.8 
(+35.1%)

191.8 
(+16.5%)

2000

  
350.7

164.6 

1999

  1,370.1 
(+19.0%)

353.3 
(+38.4%)

2003

   1,151.2 
(+61.7%)

255.2 
(+14.3%)

2002

Operating result Net profit after minority interests

Operating result and net profit after minority interests 
(in EUR million)
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Earnings developments

Operating income

Operating income increased 6.9% to EUR 3,830.9 million, with
satisfactory growth rates in all components. Growth was above average in
net trading result and income from insurance business.

Net interest income

Net interest income represents three constituent items: net inter-
est in the narrow sense, interest-like income and expenses, and income
from equity holdings including the share in the results of subsidiaries con-
solidated at equity (associates). In 2003 net interest income grew 5.0%
to EUR 2,586.8 million. 

While the interest margin (net interest income as a percentage of
average interest-bearing assets, with the latter representing total assets less
cash and balances with central banks, trading assets, tangible and intan-
gible assets, and other assets) remained constant year-on-year at 2.3%,
this reflected positive influences from an increase of 12% in average total
assets as well as higher income from associates. Income from asset/lia-
bility management also rose. This trend was driven both by the domestic
business and the Central European subsidiaries.

Net commission income

Net commission income last year was raised 5.5% to EUR 996.6
million.

This growth occurred in almost all categories of fees and commis-
sions, led by the insurance and building society business.

The securities business as well witnessed a very positive trend
amid the improved market conditions.

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

574.6

1,438.9

152.6

2001

423.4

924.0

127.4

2000

322.4

736.3

113.7

1999

944.3

2,463.0

167.48.4

2002

996.6

2,586.8

214.632.9

2003

Net interest income Net commission income

Net trading result Income from insurance business

Operating income by source (in EUR million)

26.6%

66.4%

7.0%

2001

28.7%

62.7%

8.6%

2000

27.5%

62.8%

9.7%

1999

26.4%

68.7%

4.7%0.2%

2002

26.0%

67.5%

5.6%0.9%

2003

Net interest income Net commission income

Net trading result Income from insurance business

3,830.9
(+6.9%)

3,583.1
(+65.4%)

2,166.1
(+46.9%)

1,474.7
(+25.8%)

1,172.4

Trend in operating income (in EUR million)
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20%
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2001

16%
13%

24%
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2000

22%
11%
15%

44%

8%

1999

18%

25%

16%

36%
5%

2002

14%

25%

16%

39%
6%

2003

Securities transactions Building society and other business Lending business

Payments  Insurance business

996.6
(+5.5%)

944.3
(+64.3%)

574.6
(+35.7%)

423.4
(+31.3%)

322.4

Net commission income by component (in EUR million)
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Net trading result

The net trading result encompasses realised and unrealised gains
and losses on securities transactions, on interest and equity derivatives 
and on foreign exchange. The item also includes interest and dividend
income on trading positions and interest expenses for financing these
positions.

Taking full advantage of the better market environment, the Group
lifted its net trading result above average by 28.2% to EUR 214.6 million.

Income from insurance business

Whereas insurance income had been unusually low in 2002 as a
result of the poor market situation and high losses from natural disasters,
insurance profits all but quadrupled in 2003 to EUR 32.9 million, due in
part to the more buoyant capital markets and better loss experience.

The chart below shows the trend in net interest margin (net interest
income as a percentage of average interest-bearing assets) and operating
margin (operating profit as a percentage of average total assets):

General administrative expenses

General administrative expenses are composed of personnel
costs, other administrative expenses, as well as depreciation and amorti-
sation of fixed assets. 

On balance, 2003 saw only a modest increase of 1.2%. Excluding
the exceptional expenses for the pension fund (described in the discussion
of personnel costs), general administrative expenses decreased slightly by
0.1%.

Personnel expenses rose 3.6% to EUR 1,422.3 million. This in-
cludes non-recurring costs of about EUR 32 million for the transfer of
pension entitlements of staff and pensioners to a new sub-fund within the
pension fund. This switch was made possible by an amendment to the
pension fund legislation in 2003 in Austria (see details in the Notes).

When this one-off expense is stripped out, the increase in person-
nel expenses eases to only 1.2%.

This covered a regular increase in the collective-agreement pay
rates in Austria and necessary pay scale adjustments at the subsidiaries
in the extended home market, while the number of employees (excluding
the addition of 1,804 employees through the acquisition of Postabank) fell
significantly.

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT
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The headcount of the Erste Bank Group in terms of full-time equiv-
alents (not including employees on parental leave) changed as follows:

As of the year-end another 72 employees (previous year: 256)
worked in non-bank subsidiaries, especially in the hotel and leisure in-
dustry. The expenses for these employees, like the income of these non-
financial companies, are included under other operating result.

By rigorous cost management, other administrative expenses
were reduced by 9.3% to EUR 691.9 million, reflecting particularly a reduc-
tion of 22.4% in IT expenses.

Risk provisions for loans and advances

Risk provisions for loans and advances represent the balance of
allocations to and releases of risk provisions for loans and advances,
including charge-offs of loans and advances and amounts recovered on
charged-off loans and advances.

As expected, the actual requirement for risk provisions for loans and
advances remained unchanged at EUR 406.4 million. This caused risk
costs to ease from 65 to 62 basis points based on average loans and
advances to customers.

Not included in this item is suspended interest income, which is
instead reflected in net interest income.

The additions to and releases of risk provisions not pertaining to
lending are reported in other operating result.

Detailed information on risk management and the risk situation is
provided in the Notes.

Other operating result

Other operating result comprises price gains from held-to-matu-
rity and available-for-sale investments, gains from the revaluation and
disposal of equity interests, as well as amortisation of goodwill, income
from asset sales, restructuring charges, risk provisions not related to lend-
ing, deposit insurance contributions at the Central European subsidiaries,
and other expenses and income.

The negative balance increased signif icantly last year from 
EUR –80.2 million to EUR –202.1 million.

The three principal reasons were higher goodwill amortisation –
owing in part to the expansion of the stake in Česká spořitelna in mid-2002
and other acquisitions of equity interests – as well as lower extraordinary
income from the sale of equity interests and write-downs of software in the
course of restructuring.

A detailed breakdown of this item is provided in the Notes.
The resulting pre-tax profit was EUR 761.6 million, up 14.6% on

one year earlier.

Tax situation

Erste Bank forms a single entity for tax purposes with some of its
largest domestic subsidiaries (notably Bausparkasse der österreichischen
Sparkassen, Immorent, ERSTE-SPARINVEST KAG and Salzburger Spar-
kasse).

For 2003 this profit pool incurred no current expense for Austrian
corporation tax, thanks to deferred tax losses and a high proportion of
tax-exempt earnings. The amounts reported under taxes on income there-
fore constitute primarily the deferred tax assets and liabilities required to
be recognised under IFRS, taxes payable by smaller Austrian subsidiaries
and various cross-guarantee-system savings banks, and income-based
taxes payable in other countries.

The tax rate of 29.4% for 2003 (income taxes as a percentage of
pre-tax profit) was in line with expectations, but substantially higher than
the prior-year level of 22.8%.

This increase results partly from the fact that the rate for 2002
was unusually low as a result of legislative changes. Moreover, in the year
under review the non-tax-deductible amortisation of goodwill was much
higher, which raises the tax rate by reducing the base.

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

at at
31 Dec. 2003 31 Dec. 2002

Austria 14,974 15,654
of which cross-guarantee savings banks 6,931 7,272

International 22,676 21,269
of which Česká spořitelna Group 12,420 12,994
of which Slovenská sporiteľňa 5,283 5,248
of which other subsidiaries 4,9731 3,027

Total 37,650 36,923
1 of which 1,804 from the first-time consolidation of Postabank

Number of employees
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Net profit after minority interests

Minority interests fell sharply in 2003 by 28.7% to EUR 184.1 mil-
lion. This was attributable chiefly to the acquisition of additional stakes in
Česká spořitelna in the middle of 2002, which is unfolding its full effect only
from 2003 in the form of lower minority interests in Group profit. On the
other hand, the effective Group portion under IFRS of the earnings of the
cross-guarantee-system savings banks – and thus minority interests, as
Erste Bank has little or no equity in most of these institutions – were adver-
sely affected, as the exceptionally high amount of price gains on Erste
Bank shares held by these savings banks were eliminated from the income
statement at Group level. As IFRS do not permit price gains on own shares
to be recognised in income statements, this led to a reduction in minority
interests.

Net profit after minority interests for 2003 reached EUR 353.3
million. This represents growth of 38.4% on the year before. 

As a consequence, return on equity (ROE) also rose materially over
the year from 12.7% to 13.7%. In the calculation of ROE, net profit after
minority interests is divided by the average (based on the twelve month-
end levels) of shareholders’ equity less own shares held by the Group. 

Earnings per share rose to EUR 5.94 last year, also a substantial
improvement on 2002 (EUR 4.73).

Balance sheet developments

In the reporting year, total assets of the Erste Bank Group grew
6.1% to EUR 128.6 billion.

This involved an increase of 5.2% in loans and advances to
customers to EUR 67.8 billion. In connection with this development, it
should be noted that 2003 saw both the first-time inclusion of Postabank
at EUR 1.1 billion of loans and advances and the sale by Česká spořitelna
of high-risk loans with an aggregate nominal amount of about CZK 8 bil-
lion (EUR 0.25 billion) by way of an auction.

As well, in May 2003 Erste Bank conducted a loan securitisation
in the form of asset-backed securities for its auto leasing subsidiary, EBV-
Leasing. To this end, Erste Bank sold a portfolio of about 20,000 lease con-
tracts from the loan book of EBV-Leasing with a value of approximately 
EUR 220 million. 

Combined with these one-off events and changes in FX rates the
overall economic setting and tight risk control policies allowed only
moderate growth in loans and advances to customers.

In the already mentioned divestment of problem loans at market
prices at Česká spořitelna, existing risk provisions were also used. This and
the consumption of other loan loss provisions in 2003, together with the
effect of exchange rate movements, reduced the stock of risk provisions
for loans and advances despite the new additions.

Financial investments again grew strongly, rising 17.2% to 
EUR 26.5 billion. This resulted above all from an expansion in the held-to-
maturity portfolio of listed fixed income securities.

Significant growth in securities holdings was also witnessed in
investments available for sale, which increased 9.6% to EUR 7.4 billion.

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT
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On the liabilities side, amounts owed to customers rose 5.8% to
EUR 64.8 billion, including slight growth in savings deposits. 

As in the preceding years, funding through Erste Bank’s own
issuance increased strongly. The total of debts evidenced by certificates
and subordinated capital advanced 16.5% to EUR 20.5 billion.

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT
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Shareholders’ equity of Erste Bank AG (including net profit after
minority interests) increased in 2003 by EUR 310 million or 12.5% to
about EUR 2.8 billion.

This also reflects an increase of EUR 0.9 million in share capital and
of EUR 5.7 million in additional paid-in capital as a result of capital in-
creases related to the exercise of options under the 2002 management
stock option plan and the subscription of shares under the 2003 employ-
ee stock ownership programme.

Minority interests in equity include the proportionate Erste Bank
equity of those savings banks in the cross-guarantee system in which Erste
Bank has little or no ownership. In 2003 this figure increased 5.7% to EUR
2.9 billion; in the first quarter of 2003 Erste Bank placed a hybrid Tier 1
yen issue in the amount of approximately EUR 150 million.

The Group’s total eligible qualifying capital under the Austrian
Banking Act stood at EUR 7,009 million as of 31 December 2003 
(2002: EUR 6,983 million). This figure includes EUR 340 million (2002:
EUR 325 million) of short-term subordinated capital eligible to cover the
trading book in accordance with Section 22b of the Act and the equity
requirements for the foreign exchange positions pursuant to Section 26 of
the Act. 

The statutory minimum requirement at the balance sheet date was
EUR 5,315 million; the coverage ratio was thus 131.9% (2002: 135.7%).

The Group’s base of risk-weighted assets as defined by Section 
22 Austrian Banking Act increased by EUR 1,931 million or 3.2% to 
EUR 62.2 billion (2002: EUR 60.3 billion). Of the increase, EUR 1,136 mil-
lion represents the first-time inclusion of Postabank.

The Tier 1 capital of the Erste Bank Group under the Austrian
Banking Act at 31 December 2003 was EUR 3,912 million (2002: 
EUR 3,800 million).

The Tier 1 ratio at year-end was unchanged on the previous year
at about 6.3%. The solvency ratio was 10.7% (2002: 11.0%) and thus
remained well above the statutory minimum ratio of 8%.
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Outlook for 2004 and recent developments

In the coming weeks Erste Bank will place a EUR 275 million hybrid
Tier 1 issue.

Erste Bank is also enlarging its ownership interest in Slovenská
sporiteľňa by 10 percentage points to 80.01%. 

As part of a tax reform taking effect in 2005, the Austrian govern-
ment plans to lower the corporation tax rate from the present level of 34%
to 25%. Given that the reform package also calls for changes in the tax base
and new rules for group taxation that have not yet received final approval,
the overall effect on the Erste Bank Group cannot yet be assessed.

For 2004 Erste Bank expects the positive business performance to
continue. As in the past years, the Central European subsidiaries will con-
tribute heavily to this development, but an improvement is also projected
for Austria.

The Erste Bank Group’s targets for 2005 are about EUR 500 mil-
lion of net profit after minority interests, a return on equity of at least 16%
and a cost-income ratio of at most 62%.

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT
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Segment Performance 

Banks segment. The former Asset Gathering segment, in light of its client
mix, was largely reassigned to the Retail and Real Estate segment; a smaller
por tion (institutional customers) now forms par t of Large Corporate
Customers. Finally, International Business (including the corporate lending
of the London, New York and Hong Kong branches) was taken out of Large
Corporate Customers and now forms a segment in its own right.

In the Central Europe region, all major subsidiaries in Erste Bank’s
extended home market are presented separately.

Through this clear presentation, the segments are largely aligned
with Erste Bank’s organisational structure and more closely correspond to
the market geography. This will also make it possible to compare perfor-
mance between the regions of Erste Bank Group – Austria, Central Europe
and International Business. The 2002 segment report has been restated
accordingly.

The business results are summarised by segment and geographic
market in Note 38 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In 2003, in the interest of a clearer presentation of the Group struc-
ture, the Erste Bank Group introduced a new segmentation for its reporting.
In order to do justice to the difference in growth rates between Erste Bank’s
geographic markets, the first-level segmentation is based on regions,
these being Austria, Central Europe and International Business. The Cor-
porate Centre segment continues to support the implementation of Erste
Bank’s Group-level strategy by providing marketing, organisation and infor-
mation technology services. 

The Austria region is subdivided into four business segments:
Savings Banks, Retail and Real Estate, Large Corporate Customers, and Tra-
ding and Investment Banking. The Retail and Real Estate segment now
also encompasses those savings banks in which Erste Bank holds a major-
ity stake (Salzburger Sparkasse, Tiroler Sparkasse and Sparkasse Hain-
burg-Bruck-Neusiedl). The savings banks that are consolidated as a result
of their membership in the cross-guarantee system or in which Erste Bank
holds no interest or only a minority interest are grouped in the Savings

Austria Central Europe Int. Business Corporate Centre Total
Pre-tax profit for the year 2003 409.4 312.6 94.1 (54.5) 761.6

2002 298.9 338.7 63.3 (36.2) 664.6
Net profit after minority interests 2003 168.7 189.7 70.1 (75.3) 353.3

2002 99.4 147.7 51.4 (43.4) 255.2
Cost-income ratio (in %) 2003 67.1 61.0 20.2 – 64.2

2002 69.1 64.2 25.6 – 67.9
ROE based on net profit after 
minority interests (in %) 2003 10.9 31.1 18.3 – 13.7

2002 8.4 30.7 16.0 – 12.7
1 These figures incorporate goodwill amortisation and funding costs that are allocated to the relevant segments.

Financials at a glance1

AUSTRIA

CENTRAL EUROPE

INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS page 33

CORPORATE CENTRE page 34

Savings Banks page 15

Retail and Real Estate page 16

Large Corporate Customers page 23

Trading and Investment Banking page 26

Česká spořitelna page 29

Slovenská sporiteľňa page 30

Erste Bank Hungary page 31

Erste Bank Croatia page 31
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Savings Banks

The Savings Banks segment encompasses all Austrian savings
banks that are consolidated as a consequence of their mem-
bership in the cross-guarantee system and in which Erste Bank
holds little or no equity. Those savings banks majority-owned by
Erste Bank (Salzburger Sparkasse, Tiroler Sparkasse, Sparkasse
Hainburg-Bruck-Neusiedl) are assigned to the Retail and Real
Estate segment.

In the Savings Banks subsegment, net commission income grew
substantially in 2003 (up 20.2% to EUR 321.5 million). An element of
this rise can be accredited to the first time inclusion in this segment of the
savings bank payment services company. This also explains the rise in
general administrative expenses, as in 2002 the business was allocated
to the Corporate Center. Net interest income was down slightly, by 2.9%.
As a result of improved capital market conditions, this segment was also
able to achieve an excellent trading result, up 19.2% to EUR 29.3 million.

Strategy and goals

> True to Erste Bank’s core strategies, the division responsible for the
savings banks aims to expand and deepen the cooperation of Erste Bank
and the Austrian savings banks.

> As the savings banks’ lead bank, Erste Bank’s aim is to set up a division
of labour within the savings banks group. In this undertaking, every group
member focuses on its particular strengths, under the umbrella of the
shared, strong “Sparkasse” brand. This is expected to produce a steady
increase in market shares and profitability for the savings banks group.

> The overarching goal of the partnership between Erste Bank and the
savings banks is to ensure optimum service for customers, and to extend
the joint success of the whole savings bank group in the market.

Highlights in 2003

> For the first time in several years – and unlike the other large banks – Erste
Bank and the savings banks increased their customer share in Austria. Last
year, against the market trend, this figure was pushed up by 1.5% overall
and by a particularly welcome 3.8% in major accounts. This is compelling
evidence that the pooling of advertising budgets by the savings banks
group is bearing fruit.

> One purpose of the co-operation between Erste Bank and the savings
banks is to avoid overlaps in their local market presence that would result
in duplication of effort. With this objective in mind, the streamlining of the
branch network under way since 1999 continued last year. Thus, in Octo-
ber 2003 Erste Bank transferred five branches with combined total assets
of about EUR 400 million to savings banks in Austria’s Vorarlberg region.
These transfers were partly paid for in cash and partly with an increase in
Erste Bank’s equity interest in Sparkasse Bregenz. All told, more than
100 locations have thus already been transferred to regional savings
banks in the past several years.

> By the beginning of October 2003 all savings banks were linked to the uni-
fied information technology platform developed jointly by Erste Bank and
the savings banks. Within the space of two years, the partners have thus
created the basis for uniform, standardised processes in the savings
banks group as well as for joint planning and development.

> A major underpinning of the cross-guarantee system is the definition of
common standards of controlling for Erste Bank and the savings banks.
These standards were developed last year and implemented throughout
the savings banks group. This ensures not only the controlling of all insti-
tutions by consistent managerial criteria, but also the comparability of
product- and customer-segment-specific results between the savings
banks as well as joint, more cost-efficient staff training and develop-
ment.

> In 2003 Erste Bank and the savings banks, using a reorganised planning
process, for the first time prepared joint cost and investment budgets for
several years in advance. By rigorous planning based on a sweeping cost-
benefit analysis, the budgeted development costs for systems and prod-
ucts in the savings banks group were reduced markedly. 

> As well, SPARDAT, the IT company of the savings banks group, plans a sig-
nificant medium-term reduction in its total operating expenses through
greater flexibility and more cost-sensitive pricing of its services.

> In close co-operation between s Haftungs- und Kundenabsicherungs
GmbH and the savings banks in the Lower Austria region, a satisfactory,
rapid and timely solution was found for Sparkasse Melk, Mank-Kilb AG,
a savings bank that had experienced financial difficulties. The effec-
tiveness of the savings banks group’s cross-guarantee system was
demonstrated by the efficient handling of the first case that required the
system’s intervention. 

Austria

in EUR million 2003 2002
Pre-tax profit for the year 151.3 167.1
Net profit after minority interests 3.1 3.3
Cost-income ratio (in %) 68.8 68.5
ROE based on net profit after 
minority interests (in %) 1.6 –

Financials
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> Erste Bank’s Central Europe strategy is now also unfolding its positive
effects for the customers of the entire savings banks group. By banking
with a group that spans multiple countries, customers only pay the
domestic fees for BankCard cash withdrawals at the automated teller
machines of the Central European subsidiaries.

Outlook for 2004

> A chief objective in 2004 is the further development of uniform risk
management tools and processes based on a shared credit philosophy.
Continuing improvement in data quality will greatly enhance the ability
to benchmark and to transfer knowledge.

> The savings banks group will reap additional synergies this year in devel-
opment costs and settlement functions.

Retail and Real Estate

The Retail and Real Estate segment comprises all activities of
the Erste Bank Group in the three business units Retail, Real
Estate and Small and Medium-Sized Corporate Customers.
Those savings banks of which Erste Bank is the majority owner
are also included in this segment. The former Asset Gathering
segment, in view of its target group, was also largely included
into the Retail and Real Estate segment. A smaller component,
institutional clients, has been re-assigned to the Large Corpo-
rate Customers segment. These business units represent key
means of pursuing the core strategies of Erste Bank.

The significant increase in net profit after minority interests from
EUR 0.5 million to EUR 19.8 million was due to excellent progress in the
insurance business (up to EUR 25.9 million) as well as to a clear improve-
ment in other operating result (mainly due to higher results from valuation of
securities held as investments available for sale of the savings banks where
Erste Bank has a majority stake). The slight reduction in net interest income
of 1.7% was mainly a result of higher funding costs due to the acquisition of
an additional stake in Sparkassen Versicherung at the end of 2002. Whilst
general administrative expenses were reduced by 0.4% to EUR 653 million,
risk provisioning in the lending business was up 7.0% to EUR 132.4 million.
The main reason for this were measures taken at Tiroler Sparkasse.

Retail Strategy and goals 

> Erste Bank pursues the clear goal of becoming entrenched as the best
retail bank in all its geographic markets.

> The complete retail concept centres on meeting the individual customer’s
specific needs with made-to-measure, personal service. The target groups
of this business segment are retail customers, the professions and small
businesses.

> Through a wide array of state-of-the-art distribution channels, Erste Bank
gives clients around-the-clock access to the latest in financial products
and services.

> In Austria the retail model is delivered by Erste Bank and the savings banks;
in Central Europe it is implemented by the Group’s local subsidiaries.

AUSTRIA SEGMENT

   5.43% Not in cross-guarantee system

94.57% In cross-guarantee system

Savings banks in the cross-guarantee system 
(by customer deposits)

Ownership Total assets
in % in EUR million1

Salzburger Sparkasse 98.7 3,868.9
Sparkasse Hainburg-Bruck-Neusiedl 75.0 682.1
Tiroler Sparkasse 74.7 3,402.9
Sparkasse Mühlviertel-West 40.0 483.6
Allgemeine Sparkasse Oberösterreich 26.9 7,634.3
Steiermärkische Bank und Sparkasse 25.0 9,281.5
Sparkasse Bregenz 43.7 433.6
Sparkasse Kremstal-Pyhrn 24.1 447.4
Kärntner Sparkasse 25.0 2,786.0
Sparkasse Voitsberg-Köflach 6.3 418.3
1 Preliminary figures, according to Austrian Accounting Standards

Erste Bank’s equity stakes in savings banks 
at 31 December 2003

in EUR million 2003 2002
Pre-tax profit for the year 40.5 2.1
Net profit after minority interests 19.8 0.5
Cost-income ratio (in %) 78.8 79.8
ROE based on net profit after 
minority interests (in %) 2.7 0.1

Financials
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Retail Highlights in 2003 

> For the first time in several years – and unlike the other large banks – in
2003 Erste Bank and the savings banks expanded their customer share
in Austria. Last year, against the market trend, this figure was pushed up
by 1.5% overall and by fully 3.8% in major accounts.

> Erste Bank wants to structure its distribution network consistently along
profitability lines and thus conducted a comprehensive analysis of its
branches in 2003. Every location was scrutinised for its earning power
and future market potential. Acting on this analysis, a total of 14 bran-
ches were closed in the first months of 2004 (including four in Vienna,
nine in Lower Austria and one in the Burgenland region) as they offered
no opportunity for sustained improvements in profitability. Meanwhile,
a new branch was opened in Vienna to tap newly created market poten-
tial in an attractive location.

> In the course of changing Erste Bank’s retail business over to a multi-
channel distribution model, the offering of the individual branches was
updated and further differentiated. To concentrate customer service
expertise, regional branch management centres of competence were
created that have tangibly improved the quality of customer care.

> The cross-selling rate at Erste Bank was boosted further compared to the
year before: The number of product groups sold to each customer in-
creased from 1.6 in 2002 to 1.7 last year. 

> Since December 2003 Erste Bank and the savings banks have been pro-
viding customers with a particular cross-border service: For cash with-
drawals at Central European subsidiaries Česká spořitelna, Slovenská
sporiteľňa, Erste Bank Hungary and Erste Bank Croatia, the same lower
rates are now charged as for domestic transactions. The Group thus
moved another step ahead in its quest to make Central Europe one con-
tinuous banking region for customers.

> In the ongoing rationalisation of the branch network in the savings banks
group, Erste Bank transferred four branches with combined total assets
of about EUR 400 million to three savings banks in Austria’s Vorarlberg
region.

Retail Outlook for 2004

> The optimisation of the branch network continues in 2004. Amid rigorous
cost management and programmes to boost profits, none of the regional
branch management centres should have a cost-income ratio of more
than 90% by the end of this year.

> The cross-selling rate will in future be calculated on adjusted criteria.
These take account of the changed requirements in an international
banking group and thus make the resulting information more meaning-
ful. Measured by this modified standard, the cross-selling rate in 2003
would be 2.2.

> Progress continues in the restructuring of Tiroler Sparkasse, the regional
savings bank in which Erste Bank acquired a majority stake in Decem-
ber 2001. The planned organisational changes were completed on sched-
ule and the associated cost reduction targets were fully achieved. On the
other hand, the measures to boost profitability only took hold in the final
months of 2003; Tiroler Sparkasse therefore was not yet able to reach
the ROE objective for 2003. However, these initiatives form a key priority
for 2004, and a ROE of more than 10% is targeted for this year.

> Salzburger Sparkasse has not yet made up the deterioration in earnings
caused by the poor market conditions of the last two years. Nevertheless,
given the signs of an economic upswing and the internal efficiency-
raising efforts, an ROE in excess of 10% is forecast.

Private Banking and Asset Management 
Strategy and goals 

> Erste Bank and the savings banks have made it their goal to provide
their clients with exactly the right investment services. In addition to
embracing absolute transparency, they attach great importance to using
the most advanced analytical tools and offering a very wide selection of
products. Private banking clients and institutional customers, according
to their expectations, are thus given complete solutions that deliver the
desired balance between risks and returns.

> One priority for Erste Bank’s Asset Management is to expand activities
in the extended home market, Central Europe, where the demand for port-
folio management and life insurance is soaring. Erste Bank intends to
make full use of this potential through its subsidiary banks.

AUSTRIA SEGMENT
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Private Banking and Asset Management 
Highlights in 2003 

Private banking
> In its private banking operations, the Erste Bank Group provides per-

sonal, customised service to high-net-worth individuals and institutional
clients. In addition to the extensive array of international mutual funds
and the other Erste Bank products, these customers can choose from
solutions for private foundations, made-to-measure investment concepts,
special-fund structures and individual discretionary portfolio manage-
ment.

> Erste Bank’s objective for 2003 was to achieve growth in Private Banking
at a rate above the Austrian market average. Despite a subdued first half
of the year on stock markets and customer reticence about new invest-
ment, this target was attained, with assets under management growing
by nearly 28% to more than EUR 12.6 billion. The number of customers
rose by 7.2% to 1,351.

> Erste Bank’s chosen strategy of comprehensive service for private bank-
ing clients is now also being followed by four savings banks in the Aus-
trian regions. At the end of 2003, on completion of a study of the Czech
market, it was decided to establish a private banking unit in Prague.

Portfolio management
> In portfolio management, Erste Bank offers both standardised products

– such as ECM (short for Erste Capital Management), ECM Plus and the
Private Banking Management service –, and custom-tailored solutions
involving the selection of individual securities investments based on a
thorough understanding of the client’s unique needs. 

> In spite of an increased rotation from standardised, fund-based ECM port-
folio management to inflation-indexed or capital-guaranteed products
and to one-of-a-kind solutions at the portfolio level, assets under mana-
gement were held nearly constant on the year before, at EUR 1.2 billion.

ERSTE-SPARINVEST KAG 
> ERSTE-SPARINVEST KAG is the fund company of Erste Bank and the

savings banks. In mutual funds it is the long-standing market leader in
Austria.

> In 2003 the assets managed in 211 funds grew 6.98% to EUR 19.0 bil-
lion (up EUR 1,238.5 million). With an overall market share of 17.1%,
ERSTE-SPARINVEST KAG remains Austria’s second largest provider of
investment funds. 

> In retail funds, assets under management were boosted by EUR 1,027.9
million to EUR 11.8 billion. The market share (20.1%) was thus slightly
increased compared to the previous year, and the market-leading posi-
tion was strengthened.

> Assets managed in institutional funds rose slightly by EUR 210.5 milli-
on (3.0%) to EUR 7,17 billion. Although the market share eased to 13.8%
from the prior year’s 14.4%, ERSTE-SPARINVEST KAG successfully de-
fended its third-place position in this market segment and even narro-
wed the gap to the second-ranking market player. 

> The company took advantage of the opportunities in the new and prom-
ising market for individual retirement savings accounts in Austria, both
through its own mutual funds and by acquiring mandates to manage
such assets for insurance companies. As most of these products take a
gradual approach to filling pension accounts, growth in this business is
expected to continue over the coming years. ERSTE-SPARINVEST KAG
currently manages EUR 56.5 million of assets dedicated to retirement
savings. ERSTE-SPARINVEST KAG last year became the only Austrian
investment company to offer a single-premium retirement savings plan. 

> ERSTE-SPARINVEST KAG further heightened the overall performance of
its funds. Thanks to a strong increase in the number of four- and five-star
funds (as rated by Standard & Poor’s), at the end of last year 60% of the
funds eligible for this rating fell into these two categories. That puts
ERSTE-SPARINVEST KAG well ahead of its Austrian competitors.

> In the swiftly growing markets of Central Europe, next to the local products
of the regional fund companies, products of ERSTE-SPARINVEST KAG
are increasingly being offered, such as enhanced cash funds and equi-
ty funds.

AUSTRIA SEGMENT
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Private Banking and Asset Management 
Outlook for 2004

Private Banking
> For 2004 Erste Bank expects the growth of the last two years in private

banking to continue. Specifically, assets under management are pro-
jected to increase by 10%. New products designed especially for the pri-
vate banking clientele, coupled with intensified marketing, are to ensure
continued success in the private banking activities.

ERSTE-SPARINVEST KAG
> For 2004 ERSTE-SPARINVEST KAG expects growth of 7 to 10% in assets

under management.
> The expansion of the bond fund range continues, particularly in spread

products. Additionally, the company is issuing a growing number of abso-
lute return products, with asset allocation still front and centre.

Sparkassen Versicherung Strategy and goals

> Sparkassen Versicherung focuses mainly on life insurance. The com-
pany is the exclusive life insurance partner for Erste Bank, the savings
banks and their building society, Bausparkasse der österreichischen
Sparkassen.

> The successful approach taken in Austria is to be extended to Central
Europe. With the help of its local banking subsidiaries, Erste Bank intends
to attain a leading position in life insurance in this growth region as well.

Sparkassen Versicherung Highlights in 2003

> In 2003 the Austrian market for life insurance grew by 1.7% overall in
terms of premium volume. Austrians’ interest in making private provisions
for old age was the mainspring driving the market’s expansion of 10.1%
in the regular-premium segment. 

> For the third consecutive year, Sparkassen Versicherung in 2003 de-
fended its position as Austria’s largest life insurer. The company saw
especially strong growth in regular-premium life insurance. Sparkassen
Versicherung achieved premium income of EUR 279 million, an increase
of 18.8% on the previous year.

> Thanks to the sustained low interest rates, single-premium volume, down
2.1% to EUR 481.1 million, was close to the year-earlier level of EUR 491.5
million. Sparkassen Versicherung thus did significantly better than the
industry and, with a market share of well more than 30% in single-pre-
mium life insurance, remains the clear market leader. 

> On balance in 2003, Sparkassen Versicherung reached premium volume
of EUR 760 million in life insurance. This represents a market share 
of 13.3% and growth of 4.7% compared to 2002. With these results,
Sparkassen Versicherung performed better than the industry average
(1.7%).

> In casualty insurance, Sparkassen Versicherung’s premium income was
EUR 12.4 million, up 12.6% on one year earlier.

> The company’s total number of insurance contracts was pushed up about
11% last year to a year-end level of 886,000 policies in the life and
accident lines. 

AUSTRIA SEGMENT
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> In 2003 Sparkassen Versicherung closed a total of about 43,000 con-
tracts known as “s Private Pensions with Premium Plus”, a new govern-
ment-subsidised retirement savings product, thus taking a leading posi-
tion in this area of the market. Sales of this product by the industry in Aus-
tria last year amounted to about 230,000 policies, a result that fully
met initial expectations.

Sparkassen Versicherung Outlook for 2004

> The strong impetus from the demand for retirement savings products is
expected to drive continuing growth in life insurance in 2004. Products
enhanced by government incentives are likely to figure especially pro-
minently.

Real Estate Strategy and goals

> The Real Estate Finance unit serves non-profit and commercial housing
developers, property management companies, real estate brokers, real
estate trusts and retail mortgage customers.

> By positioning itself as a center of competence for every aspect of home
building, Erste Bank seeks to optimise the co-operation in this field
between real estate developers and retail customers, with the goal of pro-
viding superb service to its clients. A focal point of this effort is the co-
operation with the savings banks, particularly in matters of target group
management, syndicated loans and in providing finance.

> The transfer of real estate finance know-how to the subsidiaries in Cen-
tral Europe is being stepped up in order to provide seamless service for
customers’ cross-border transactions throughout the extended home
market of the Erste Bank Group.

> By issuing bonds with dual tax advantages, s Wohnbaubank raises low-
cost capital at stable long-term interest rates for social-welfare housing
and municipal residential construction.

Real Estate Highlights in 2003

Commercial housing finance
> The market environment in 2003 was characterised by a still sluggish con-

struction cycle and continuing low level of subsidies for public sector fund-
ing. New construction activity, true to expert forecasts, again settled at
about 40,000 housing units last year. On the other hand, the low level
of new construction continues to have positive implications for devel-
opers’ ability to find buyers and tenants. 

> As the non-profit housing corporations largely have good capital strength,
banks concentrate their efforts on this target group. Thanks to its high
placement power, s Wohnbaubank provided competitive financing by
means of housing bonds. 

> Deposits in commercial housing finance grew about 3.9% in 2003 to 
EUR 397 million. Total financing amounted to EUR 1,779 million. The
commercial housing finance business of Bausparkasse der österreichi-
schen Sparkassen reached EUR 391 million, up 23.3% year-on-year.

> Total loans in retail and commercial housing finance also increased by
3.9%, to EUR 9,560 million. 

> New bond issues by s Wohnbaubank were stable at a high level, reaching
EUR 189 million compared to the previous year’s EUR 194 million, while
lendings rose again strongly by 25% to EUR 815 million. This trend was
driven above all by the sales activities of the savings banks.

AUSTRIA SEGMENT
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Retail housing finance
> The expansion of the “wohnquadrat” centres to 50 locations across Aus-

tria further improved the savings banks group’s “wohnquadrat” offering –
a marketplace for real estate advice and opportunities that has proved
very popular since its launch a few years ago.

> Total retail housing loans in 2003 were expanded by 9% to EUR 2,967
million. Business was further fuelled both by the lending opportunities
arising from the ongoing industry concentration among real estate trusts
and by the recent greater readiness of private commercial real estate inve-
stors to make investments.

> Growth was also recorded by Bausparkasse der österreichischen Spar-
kassen in home savings deposits, which increased 5.7% to EUR 5,284
million. The total loan book grew by 1.6% to EUR 4,815 million.

Other activities
> Erste Bank’s specialist real estate brokerage and appraisal firm, s REAL,

last year brokered real estate transactions worth EUR 249 million. This
represents growth of 6.4% on the year before.

Real Estate Outlook for 2004

> In commercial housing finance, Erste Bank foresees stable lending, as
government subsidies for housing construction is likely to shrink and
new construction activity is apt to decrease accordingly. 

> By contrast, in retail housing finance, opportunities should exist in
connection with the “maturing” of the earliest parts of non-profit housing,

where tenants have the statutory option to buy their flat after ten years
of occupancy, and the flourishing market for income properties, such as
apartment buildings.

> An expansion of the product range by, for instance, interest rate hedges
and special amortisation models, as well as more cross-selling of invest-
ments and payment products also offer good opportunities for business
growth.

Small and Medium-Sized Corporate Customers (SME)
Strategy and goals

> Small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) constitute a traditional core
segment of Erste Bank’s customer base. 

> The financing and service products of Erste Bank are the complete answer
to this customer group’s need for highly specialised expertise. Regional
SME banking centres provide comprehensive advisory and other ser-
vices and are especially active in the Vienna, Lower Austria and Burgen-
land regions. 

> Erste Bank’s department for syndicated lending provides support to the
local savings banks for SME financing. 

> The Group serves Austrian SME clients across national borders, a capa-
bility that is becoming ever more attractive in view of EU enlargement in
this part of Europe. The Central European subsidiaries of the Erste Bank
Group are capable partners in this endeavour.

> Likewise, the services of EBV-Leasing, an automotive leasing firm, are
made available to the customers of Erste Bank and the savings banks via
the Group’s extensive distribution network.

AUSTRIA SEGMENT
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SME Highlights in 2003

> The economic setting in 2003 remained unfavourable for small and
medium-sized companies as well. Although business investment in-
creased, the number of corporate insolvencies in Austria rose some-
what, particularly among SMEs.

> Erste Bank therefore realigned its portfolio of SME clients to reflect
expected returns on equity, in order to enhance the profit trend in this
customer segment. This repositioning involved a withdrawal from com-
mitments with a high risk of default or unreasonable risk-return profile.
As a result, the SME loan portfolio contracted in 2003 from EUR 2,150
million to EUR 1,550 million. 

> The measures taken allowed Erste Bank to expand margins materially in
the Austrian SME business in 2003, both in lending and deposit opera-
tions. For long-term loans the average margin improved by 17 to 151 basis
points. In short-term lendings the increase was even more substantial,
with a rise of 25 to 116 basis points.

> In spite of the unfavourable business environment and the more con-
servative positioning of the SME portfolio, Erste Bank last year won new
customers in this segment. 

> By regular evaluation of clients’ current needs, greater use was made of
the scope for cross-selling with the existing customers. 

> As part of the strategic strengthening of the savings banks in their re-
gions, the commercial centre in Vorarlberg was transferred to Sparkasse
Dornbirn in November 2003. The central focus of Erste Bank’s Austrian
SME business now lies on the Vienna, Lower Austria and Burgenland
regions. 

> The Group’s auto leasing firm, EBV-Leasing, performed extremely well last
year. While the market grew 7.4% in 2003 based on new vehicle
registrations, the company recorded EUR 265.4 million of new business.
This represents an increase of 21%, greatly exceeding expectations for
the 2003 financial year. A total of 13,422 new lease agreements were
signed, compared to 10,673 in 2002. With a market share of some 12%,
EBV-Leasing remains the largest manufacturer-independent provider of
automobile leases in Austria.

> In May 2003, by way of an asset-backed securities transaction, a portion
of the existing lease assets was for the first time placed on the capital
market. These divested leases represented only contracts financed by
Erste Bank and amounted to a total of EUR 220 million.

> In the Slovak Republic, EBV-Leasing and Slovenská sporiteľňa jointly
established a subsidiary, Leasing Slovenskej sporiteľňe, which has
already begun operation.

AUSTRIA SEGMENT

2,300

2001

2,150

2002

1,550

2003

SME loan portfolio of Erste Bank AG (in EUR million)

              140

              160

              120

              100

                80

              60

              40

              20

              0

                2001                 2002                 2003 Basis points

Long-term Short-term

128

88

134

151

91

116

Margins of Erste Bank AG in the SME business (averages)

10,673

219.7

2002

13,422

265.4

2003

10,805

218.7

2001

Number of new contracts

Volume of new contracts (in EUR million)

Auto leases: New contracts of EBV-Leasing



23ERSTE BANK 2003 ANNUAL REPORT

SME Outlook for 2004

> In 2004, based on positive economic forecasts, the economic environ-
ment is expected to brighten. This should make itself felt in consumer
spending, which will ultimately stimulate the SME business. At the same
time, in keeping with this trend, the risk situation of the SMEs should also
improve. 

> In 2004 Erste Bank will continue along the path taken last year in the
Small and Medium-Sized Corporate Customers unit, while concentrating
on earning returns commensurate with the levels of cost of production
and risk. 

> In order to continue to offer the Austrian SME customers fair, service-
appropriate prices that are in line with market rates, service costs will be
critically examined this year.

> For 2004 EBV-Leasing expects steady growth in new business.

Large Corporate Customers

The Large Corporate Customers segment serves companies
in Austria and abroad that have sales of at least EUR 70 mil-
lion in Austria. True to its strong tradition of financing trad-
ing companies and the service sector, the Large Corporate
Customers segment is a centre of excellence for structured
finance, trade and export finance. With extensive project len-
ding – such as for tourism development projects, tourist
facilities and commercial real estate in Austria and inter-
nationally – Erste Bank fulfills a critical function in the eco-
nomy by supporting the development of small and medium-
sized businesses.

While net interest income showed a substantial increase (up 8.7%
to EUR 147.7 million), net commission income was down by 29.9% on last
year at EUR 53.1 million. This decrease is mainly due to the above average
result in commission income from Immorent in 2002 (particularly in the
areas of construction project financing and other leasing commissions),
which could not be repeated in 2003. Risk provisions for loans and advan-
ces were down 16.5%, and strict cost management measures resulted in
a 5.2% decrease in general administrative expenses.

Strategy and goals 

> On the strength of superb advice and service, Erste Bank intends to win
additional major accounts in Austria.

> In addition to serving large corporate customers in the extended home
market through the local subsidiaries, the growth market of Central and
Eastern Europe offers ample opportunity also for Erste Bank in Austria
to do business directly, particularly in projects concerning tourism and
commercial real estate.

> The paramount guiding principle in the large corporates business remains
“quality before quantity”. In credit approval decisions, the dominant
consideration is credit quality.

AUSTRIA SEGMENT

in EUR million 2003 2002
Pre-tax profit for the year 86.1 70.1
Net profit after minority interests 54.6 47.7
Cost-income ratio (in %) 40.2 40.0
ROE based on net profit after 
minority interests (in %) 13.1 14.0

Financials
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Highlights in 2003

> Amid the weak economic environment, numerous companies entered a
phase of consolidation. The capacity adjustments, scaling-down of invest-
ment plans and the cost reduction programmes stabilised the earnings
position of many customers and improved their liquidity and gearing. The
cases of improvement in credit ratings were nearly in balance with cases
of deterioration, and the number of clients that caused a credit default
decreased. 

> Nearly one-half of the 500 largest Austrian companies maintain business
relationships with Erste Bank, whose market position thus continued to
solidify in 2003. Owing to the continued weak economic trend last year,
credit demand in Austria remained subdued, while total lendings were
stable at EUR 10.5 billion. 

> Erste Bank responded to the growing importance of the markets in Cen-
tral and Eastern Europe for Austrian and international large corporates
by creating a centre of excellence for supra-regional servicing of multi-
national groups. While large corporate accounts in the extended Central
European home market are as a rule catered for by the local subsidiaries,
the Erste Bank business relations with customers that are groups are now
centrally co-ordinated and optimised. 

> The strong position held by Erste Bank in the extended home market is
borne out both by the rising number of projects (for example with inter-
national food retail chains and home-improvement retailers) and in cor-
porate acquisitions made by Austrian industrial companies in Central
Europe. Erste Bank supports its clients in implementing their expansion
strategies in Central Europe and in funding existing distribution systems.
These projects are executed in close co-operation with subsidiary
Immorent, Erste Bank’s leasing specialist. 

> The portfolio of tourism project finance in 2003 amounted to about 
EUR 900 million; about two-thirds of this represented projects located
in Austria and the Erste Bank’s extended home market. As a prominent
example, Erste Bank won the mandate for financing the Ritz Carlton
Hotel in Prague. The business with international hotel operator chains was
expanded by a project with Radisson SAS in St. Gallen.

> The volume of commercial real estate finance, despite mounting com-
petition, was boosted to more than EUR 1 billion thanks mainly to grow-
ing demand from German property funds. Structuring the financing for
the purchase of Telekom Austria’s new head office was one of the land-
mark achievements in this sector.

> Prices in the large corporates business at present are generally unsatis-
factory, especially by international standards. Through risk-appropriate
pricing, Erste Bank nonetheless succeeded in lifting the margins in new
long-term lending business by 5 to 130 basis points. In short-term credit,
the average margin remained constant at 60 basis points.

Outlook for 2004

> Although a mild economic upturn is forecast for 2004, Erste Bank expects
credit demand to remain sluggish in Austria. 

> The bank continues to see rich opportunities in the EU’s enlargement
towards the east, as numerous Austrian customers will go on expanding
their activities in Central and Eastern Europe.

AUSTRIA SEGMENT
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Immorent Strategy and goals

> Immorent is Erste Bank’s leasing specialist for equipment and real es-
tate.

> In addition to providing financing, Immorent focuses on planning, con-
struction and construction management of real estate and on managing
real estate investment funds.

> In addition to its activities in Austria, Immorent operates especially in
Erste Bank’s extended Central European home market, where the com-
pany’s entire portfolio of services is available.

> Under the slogan “leasing & more”, Immorent provides a full line of ser-
vices in real estate leasing, equipment leasing, project development
and real estate investment.

Immorent Highlights in 2003

> The volume of new leases in the domestic, cross-border and interna-
tional segments reached a total of EUR 1.2 billion in 2003 compared to 
EUR 940.1 million in the prior year, representing an increase of more than
27.6%.

> New real estate leases increased from EUR 598.1 million to EUR 777.6
million. The most vigorous growth was seen in international leasing busi-
ness, which was expanded by 70.6% from the previous year’s EUR 262.3
million to EUR 447.4 million.

> New equipment leases rose in 2003 from EUR 341.9 mill ion to 
EUR 421.7 million. The domestic share of the new contracts eased slight-
ly to EUR 214.0 million as a result of the subdued investment behaviour.
Gratifying growth was achieved by the foreign subsidiaries: New business
increased 60.7% from EUR 79.6 million to EUR 127.9 million. In cross-
border financing, new business more than doubled to EUR 79.9 million
(2002: EUR 34.7 million).

> In order to unify the marketing of Immorent’s equipment leasing business
and facilitate the integration of this unit’s offering into the distribution net-
work of the Erste Bank Group and the savings banks, the “s Leasing”
brand was launched last year. In addition, through a new distribution leas-
ing company, F&S Leasing, the presence in the equipment segment was
further reinforced.

> On balance, Immorent’s foreign subsidiaries were the growth engine last
year, already generating EUR 575.3 million of new leases, or 48% of all
new leasing business. Growth of these international operations was
equally impressive in real estate leases (up 70.6%) and equipment leas-
ing (up 60.7%).

> Immorent is perceived by the market as a full-service provider of real
estate services. This strong positioning was further strengthened in 2003.
Thus, revenues from project planning, design and construction co-ordi-
nation services rose from EUR 5.8 million to EUR 6.6 million. In property

management, revenues in 2003 were EUR 7.6 million (2002: EUR 5.8 mil-
lion).

> Given Immorent’s strategic positioning as a full-service provider in the
leasing market, the project development offering is to form a key focus
of the company’s activity. Revenues in this business segment already
climbed in 2003 from EUR 4.8 million to EUR 5.3 million.

Immorent Outlook for 2004

> By expanding its activities in Southeastern Europe, a market with abun-
dant growth potential, Immorent plans to take advantage of future oppor-
tunities and assure long-term business growth. 

> With greater use of s Leasing as a distribution channel and increased tai-
loring of the product range to address the needs of small and medium-
sized companies, new growth is to be stimulated in equipment leasing
in particular.

> Immorent expects to gain an important impetus for growth, through the
development of public-private par tnerships for handling complex
projects.

AUSTRIA SEGMENT
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Trading and Investment Banking

The Trading and Investment Banking segment of the Erste
Bank Group consists of the Investment Banking and Treasury
business units and, as one of the major responsibilities of
the Treasury unit, asset/liability management function.

Net profit after minority interests of this segment was up strongly
to EUR 91.2 million from EUR 47.8 million and can be attributed to good
results within asset/liability management. Net interest income rose by
almost 60% (EUR 112.1 million from EUR 70.7 million in 2002) and the
net trading result increased by 13.3% (EUR 89.6 million from EUR 79.1 mil-
lion in 2002), both as a result of the improved market conditions in gen-
eral. Furthermore, net commission income saw a sharp increase to EUR 29
million from EUR 13.2 million in 2002 mostly as a result of the sale of struc-
tured products. General administrative expenses maintained stable, up by
a modest plus of 3%.

Treasury Strategy and goals

> The primary task of the Treasury unit is to safeguard the liquidity of the
Erste Bank Group in Austria and Central Europe, both in the short and long
term.

> Treasury is also responsible for the further development of group-wide
systems for profit-oriented and risk-conscious liquidity management.

> As well, Treasury supports the Group (including the savings banks in the
cross-guarantee system) in asset/liability management, with the analysis
of interest-rate and currency risk and with management of their own
financial investments. 

> The Treasury unit takes the important task of developing retail products
and leveraging the high potential of the customers in the Central Euro-
pean growth markets.

> International companies that deal with Erste Bank in several countries
of the extended home market are served centrally by the Treasury unit.

Treasury Highlights in 2003

Trading and sales 
> All trading and sales units significantly surpassed their targets in 2003.
> Thanks to the trend in spreads over the year, the trading arm delivered

very good profits on fixed-income corporate bonds. Like last year, the
good positioning in foreign exchange operations contributed to Erste
Bank’s positive performance in this market segment.

> A landmark success was achieved in structured and capital-guaranteed,
fixed-income products, where sales to institutional customers were up
50% compared to the year before.

> The Treasury product range was diversified further in 2003. The sales force
focused largely on structured products (for example based on equities,
indices or credit derivatives) and alternative investments (such as hedge
fund products designed for customers). 

> With the broadly based stabilisation in international capital markets,
the commission trading of equities and funds for retail customers of the
savings banks and non-Group banks likewise was a large source of Trea-
sury earnings.

> The push to build up the distribution system for structured products now
concentrates increasingly on the growth markets of Central Europe. The
co-ordination of the group-wide sales activities and the hedging and
structuring of transactions are performed by Erste Bank in Vienna. The
focus here is on structured retail products. Thus, the unit was already able
to record its first successes in Central Europe in 2003. Development of
these products is very closely guided by customer needs and local cir-
cumstances. For this reason the co-operation with local trading and
sales units of the Central European subsidiaries was deepened further.

New issues
> In September 2003 Erste Bank issued a 10-year, EUR 750 million fixed-

interest benchmark bond. 
> A new 5-year, EUR 850 million benchmark floating-rate note further

expanded the Erste Bank benchmark curve. This brought the issuance of
floating-rate bonds since 1999 to a total of EUR 4.7 billion.

> Erste Bank again demonstrated the effectiveness of its issuance strategy:
While an A-rated institution, it traded near the level of peers’ AA issues.

AUSTRIA SEGMENT

in EUR million 2003 2002
Pre-tax profit for the year 131.5 59.6
Net profit after minority interests 91.2 47.8
Cost-income ratio (in %) 41.5 58.4
ROE based on net profit after 
minority interests (in %) 43.5 23.4

Financials
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Asset/liability management
> The number of savings banks using Erste Bank’s asset/liability mana-

gement (ALM) service increased. Erste Bank provided ALM consulting to
47 Austrian savings banks, two more than in the previous year. 

> Requirements under Basle II were met by producing a liquidity rule book
that sets out the regulations for managing liquidity at Group level.

> For alternative investments, 2003 brought general strong demand both
from institutional and retail customers. In answer to this trend, the unit
forged ahead with its in-house development of a diversified product
range.

> Erste Bank’s alternative investment products were a signal success, win-
ning the European Hedge Funds Award. Thus, CIS Plus was named “Best
Newcomer Hedge Fund of Funds 2003” for its outstanding performance
and risk management. Erste Bank was also nominated for “Best European
Hedge Fund of Funds Product Provider 2003”.

Information technology
> The group-wide standardisation of the platform for market data and

information systems allows Erste Bank to actively manage IT costs. By vir-
tue of state-of-the-art technology and better service quality, the project
costs were already recouped in the first year through the synergies re-
alised.

> In addition, IT contracts valid for the whole Group were concluded to uti-
lise cost and resource synergies.

Treasury Outlook for 2004

> The focal product areas in 2004 will be Treasury retail products for Cen-
tral Europe, alternative investments, structured products and credit struc-
tures.

> Moreover, Treasury will strive to automate the standard business (com-
mission trading in shares and funds, as well as NetFX) for greater effi-
ciency. NetFX will be rolled out next year at Slovenská sporiteľňa in the
Slovak Republic and possibly also at Erste Bank Hungary. In these
countries as well, that will make it possible to greatly enhance the
efficiency of the foreign exchange and money market business of the
branches and the commercial centres.

Investment Banking Strategy and goals

> In the Investment Banking unit, Erste Bank’s aim is to become the lead-
ing full-service bank in the Austrian capital market and offer, under one
roof, the whole spectrum of investment banking services, such as capi-
tal market transactions, corporate finance and advisory, M&A consulting,
investment research and sales.

> True to the Group strategy, the investment banking operation targets
especially the core clientele of Austrian small and medium-sized enter-
prises (SMEs). Within Erste Bank this business unit is to be established
as a central contact hub for non-credit financing, and the range of ser-
vices is to grow further.

> Additionally, Erste Bank is working towards deeper co-operation with
the savings banks in the area of capital markets and corporate finance.

> Erste Bank’s strategy is to entrench itself as an investment banking spe-
cialist in the extended home market as well and to be the partner of
choice for customers operating in Central Europe.

Investment Banking Highlights in 2003

In many core markets of Erste Bank in Central and Eastern Europe, the
business performance was again better than in the previous years. This
trend reflected higher real economic growth in these countries coupled
with increasing convergence in the run-up to the imminent EU accession.

Capital markets and corporate finance
> In the privatisation of Voestalpine by means of a secondary public offer-

ing and an exchangeable bond in the autumn of 2003, Erste Bank acted
as joint lead manager and joint bookrunner for the equity portion and as
co-lead manager for the bond issue. 

> Erste Bank also assumed the lead management role in capital increases
of conwert Immobilien Invest AG, EYBL International and s IMMO INVEST.
In a secondary public offering by Andritz, Erste Bank was co-manager.

AUSTRIA SEGMENT
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> Beyond handling the transactions cited above, last year the capital mar-
kets arm stepped up its offering of alternative equity financing and cor-
porate finance advisory services. For example, the unit structured two
AWS profit-sharing bonds and held numerous advisory mandates.

Equity sales and equity derivatives
> In 2003 the Vienna stock exchange continued to hold investors’ interest,

taking the ATX to new highs (1,548.69 points) and fuelling brisk growth
in trading volume (53%). The ATX closed 2003 at 1,545.15, near its high
for the year, and thus logged a winning performance of 34.4%. 

> Amid rising volumes in trading for account of customers, Erste Bank held
its leading position with a market share of 27.4%. Several pension funds
were won as new clients. As a result of their new retirement savings pro-
duct, these funds will develop into a significant investor group on the Vien-
na stock exchange.

> On the ÖTOB, the Austrian derivatives exchange, most CECE products were
switched to euros. Erste Bank maintained a constant market position in
trading on behalf of customers compared to the prior year’s level. 

> In equity sales the co-operation with the local Central European units was
intensified and the pace of the organisational melding of operations in
the region was quickened. 

> In the international derivatives business the number of contracts rose
considerably. Moreover, for the first time the unit engaged in over-the-
counter trading.

Investment Banking Outlook for 2004

> Sentiment on international stock markets is expected to be friendlier on
balance in 2004. The Central European bourses are likely to be buoyed
especially by the EU entry of most of the key markets of Erste Bank.
Forthcoming privatisations both in Austria and Central Europe likewise
offer attractive opportunities for Erste Bank.

> In 2004, Austria’s new individual retirement savings accounts will remain
a driver of equity transactions with various pension funds.

AUSTRIA SEGMENT
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In the Central Europe region, all subsidiaries in Erste Bank’s
extended home market are presented separately. These 
are Česká spořitelna in the Czech Republic, Slovenská
sporiteľňa in the Slovak Republic, Erste Bank Hungary in
Hungary and Erste Bank Croatia in Croatia. Hungarian Posta-
bank, acquired in December 2003, is included from 16
December in the Erste Bank Group.

Strategy and goals

> Erste Bank defines the Central European countries near Austria as its
extended home market. This region of more than 30 million people con-
sists of the Czech Republic, Slovak Republic, Hungary, Croatia and Slove-
nia.

> For Erste Bank a strong market presence is an important prerequisite for
success in retail banking. The Group’s goal is therefore to attain a market
share of at least 20% in each country of its extended home market.

> The expansion of Erste Bank’s position in Central Europe is achieved by
acquisitions and organic growth. 

> Strategically, Erste Bank seeks to increase its market share in those
countries of the extended home market where it has not yet reached
20%. This is to be achieved by marketing campaigns to utilise the existing
potential for organic growth, and can also be attained by further acquisi-
tions. Target markets are as well those countries which are expected to
join the EU as of 2007 and therefore hold out superior prospects for
growth.

Česká spořitelna

The decrease in net interest income (EUR 460.8 million from 
EUR 477.3 million) at Česká spořitelna was due to higher funding costs
(acquisition by Erste Bank of additional stakes in Česká spořitelna in mid
2002), a weaker Czech Crown and the sharp decline in interest rates.
However this was largely off-set by the rise in net commission income to
EUR 252.3 million (up 11.2%), which was mainly due to the increased
sale of asset-management products and from payment services. The in-
surance business returned to normal levels, achieving results of EUR 10.2
million after the previous year, in which it was affected by the flood cata-
strophe and generally weak capital market conditions. General admin-
istrative expenses (including depreciation and amortisation of fixed assets)
rose only slightly to EUR 474.1 million. Looking at these costs in more
detail, administrative and personnel costs were reduced by 3%. The
decrease in other operating result is due partly to the additional amortisa-
tion of goodwill following the acquisition of the additional stake in Česká
spořitelna in 2002, and also to the higher expenses for the deposit
insurance contributions and a one-time write-off of intangible assets.
These developments as well as the acquisition of the further stake in mid-
2002 have all contributed to an improved net profit after minority interests
by 16% to EUR 122.5 million.

> In 2003 Česká spořitelna successfully defended or further expanded its
market shares in major business areas. Thus, the market share in total
lendings to customers increased from 18.4% to 19.5% and the share in
customer deposits rose from 20.2% to 21.0%. 

> The total loan portfolio of Česká spořitelna (bank, unconsolidated) grew
12.8% last year to CZK 196.1 billion. Retail lending increased 22.2%
overall to CZK 72.7 billion, including growth of 55.2% in retail mort-
gages to CZK 26.9 billion. Corporate loans were up 31.5% to CZK 86.6
billion by the year-end.

> With the sale of the last tranche of fully provisioned legacy loans from
before the privatisation, Česká spořitelna completed the clean-up of its
credit portfolio: At the end of August 2003, loans with a face value of 
CZK 8.2 billion were sold, generating proceeds of CZK 775 million.

> The implementation of a customer relationship management (CRM)
system in 2003 now permits Group-wide analytical and operational CRM
for efficient, sustained customer care across all distribution channels.

Central Europe

Country Erste Bank subsidiary Ownership
Czech Republic Česká spořitelna 97.9%
Slovak Republic Slovenská sporiteľňa 70.0%
Hungary Erste Bank Hungary 99.6%

Postabank 99.9%
Croatia Erste Bank Croatia 77.3%
1 At 31 December 2003

Holdings of Erste Bank in Central Europe1

in EUR million 2003 2002
Pre-tax profit for the year 212.9 269.4
Net profit after minority interests 122.5 105.5
Cost-income ratio (in %) 62.3 62.3
ROE based on net profit after 
minority interests (in %) 32.4 32.2

Financials
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The primary purpose is not the acquisition of new clients, but the opti-
mum servicing of the existing customer base and the expansion of cross-
selling.

> The further development of the alternative distribution channels is making
rapid progress. Thus, the number of customers using the “Servis 24”
products (Telebanking and netbanking) rose 81.3% to near 680,000. By
the end of the year some 780,000 people already availed themselves of
alternative channels. 

> Česká spořitelna was recognised with awards for the high quality of its
online products and presence. Thus, the bank’s portal was named best
electronic banking product of 2003 in the Czech Republic. In addition,
an independent jury chose Česká spořitelna’s Internet presence as the
country’s best banking website.

> Last year Česká spořitelna again garnered several awards from inde-
pendent organisations for the excellent service enjoyed by its 5.5 million
customers. Thus, for the second year in a row, Česká spořitelna was
named “MasterCard Bank of the Year” in a trade survey. And the title of
“Most trustworthy bank in the Czech Republic”, based on a survey con-
ducted across Europe by Reader’s Digest, has been awarded to Česká
spořitelna annually since 2001. 

> To further increase efficiency, Česká spořitelna’s staff was reduced by
4.4% to 12,420 employees as of the end of 2003. 

> In line with the Erste Bank Group’s strategy of focusing its insurance
operations exclusively on life insurance, subsidiary Pojišťovna ČS sold its
property and casualty insurance business to Kooperativa pojišťovna,
the Czech subsidiary of Wiener Städtische Versicherung, as of the end of
November. Wiener Städtische thus became a partner of the Erste Bank
Group in Central Europe. The sale proceeds of about CZK 4.1 billion (the
exact amount will depend on the 2003 financial statements of Pojišťovna
ČS) will not have an effect on the results of Česká spořitelna until 2004.
Pojišťovna ČS is 55% owned by Česká spořitelna, the other 45% is held
by Sparkassen Versicherung.

Slovenská sporiteľňa

The effect of both the completed restructuring and the strengthened
marketing initiatives was evident in the results of Slovenská sporiteľňa. Net
interest income increased by 45.5% to EUR 234.7 million. This rise was also
supported by an exceptionally high result in the at-equity valuation of the
Slovakian building society (PSS) of approximately EUR 36 million. Com-
mission income improved by almost 20% to EUR 51.6 million – particularly
in payment services and the lending business. These increases comfort-
ably covered the rise in general administrative expenses by 8.5% to 
EUR 157.3 million. Again, the sum of personnel and other administrative
costs was contained at last year’s level (adjusted for inflation, there was
even a reduction). The success of the restructuring was clearly illustrated
by the increase in net profit after minority interests, up by 95.1% to 
EUR 32.7 million. The decline in other operating result was mainly due to
provisioning outside the lending business as well as the one-time write-off
of intangible assets.

> Last year Slovenská sporiteľňa was able to maintain or increase its
market shares in the most important business areas. Notably the share
of lendings to customers grew from 11.1% in 2002 to 13.9% by the end
of 2003.

> Gratifying growth was also seen in lending to customers at Slovenská
sporiteľňa. The Slovak subsidiary’s loans and advances to customers rose
42.2% to SKK 54.7 billion, with the retail portion of this portfolio increas-
ing 55.3% to SKK 19.6 billion. Retail mortgage loans were lifted 98.9%
to SKK 6.2 billion.

> The restructuring and selective re-sizing of the branch network continued.
With 339 branches at the end of the year, Slovenská sporiteľňa remains
the leading bank in the Slovak Republic.

> Alternative distribution channels were also expanded greatly. The total
number of users of electronic banking channels increased 50% last year
to more than 320,000 customers.

> The founding of Leasing Slovenskej sporiteľne, a joint auto leasing firm
of Slovenská sporiteľňa and EBV-Leasing, broadened the product range
with a view to intensified cross-selling.

CENTRAL EUROPE SEGMENT

in EUR million 2003 2002
Pre-tax profit for the year 61.3 35.8
Net profit after minority interests 32.7 16.8
Cost-income ratio (in %) 52.9 67.8
ROE based on net profit after 
minority interests (in %) 36.5 30.9

Financials
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> A strong per former was the factoring business, where Slovenská
sporiteľňa, with a market share of now 22%, positioned itself among the
leading providers.

Erste Bank Hungary

In Erste Bank Hungary, the effect of the good market positioning was
visible in earnings growth. Net interest income, boosted by the significant
increase in business volume, was up by 30.1% from EUR 45 million to
EUR 58.5 million. The rise in commission income by 66.7% from EUR 17.3
million to EUR 28.8 million was particularly pleasing. The reason for this
was an increase in revenues within the payment services and commission
growth in the lending business. The increase in general administrative
expenses was mainly due to the expansion of the branch network and the
related higher personnel costs. The other operating result was affected by
provisions connected to the takeover of Postabank, which was completed
at 16 December 2003. Net profit after minority interests rose from EUR 4.9
million to EUR 13.2 million, resulting in return on equity exceeding 20% for
the first time.

> In 2003 Erste Bank strengthened its presence in the Hungarian market
overnight: On 20 October 2003 Erste Bank signed an agreement to buy
99.97% of the shares of Postabank és Takarékpénztár Rt. after having
been chosen as the successful bidder in the privatisation procedure.

> At the end of 2003 Postabank had total assets of about EUR 1.7 billion.
Its staff of approximately 1,800 serves some 480,000 customers at
112 branches. Postabank’s subsidiary Postabank Leasing is one of the
market leaders in Hungarian car leases, with a market share of about
10%. The purchase of Postabank raised Erste Bank’s market share in
Hungary from roughly 4% to 8% and made Erste Bank the second largest
retail bank in the country by number of customers. Together, Postabank
and Erste Bank Hungary at the end of 2003 had approximately 900,000
clients and just under 200 branches. A strategic partnership with the
Hungarian postal service gives customers access to an additional 3,200
post offices. The resulting cross-selling opportunities and the cost savings

from Postabank’s merging with Erste Bank Hungary (involving, for
example, the integration of the IT systems and central control functions
and the optimisation of the retail network) represent crucial benefits of
this acquisition.

> The purchase price of EUR 394.1 million amounts to 2.7 times the IFRS-
based shareholders’ equity reported as at 31 December 2002. The price
reflects, in addition to the stand-alone value of Postabank, the sub-
stantial synergies accruing to Erste Bank from the merger of the two
institutions in Hungary and from the special strategic importance of 
the Hungarian market for Erste Bank. The shares were transferred on 
16 December 2003 and Postabank was consolidated into the balance
sheet of Erste Bank Group with effect from this date.

> Erste Bank Hungary extended its dynamic growth in 2003. Total assets
grew 26.9% last year and the loan book increased 30.9% to HUF 352 bil-
lion. Thanks to strong demand for mortgage loans, retail lendings even
swelled nearly 50% to HUF 97 billion. Lendings to corporate customers
gained 26%, reaching HUF 249 billion. Primary deposits were lifted 18%
to about HUF 308 billion. By means of organic growth alone, Erste Bank
Hungary thus managed to win market shares in nearly all its businesses.

Erste Bank Croatia
(Erste & Steiermärkische banka)

The acquisition of Riječka Banka in the second quarter 2002 was
one of the main reasons behind the increase in net profit in this segment.
In the course of this financial year, the merger of Riječka Bank with Erste
& Steiermärkische banka, which took place in the third quarter of 2003,
was one of the key events. Despite a government lending regulation, interest
income increased by 30%. Similarly, net commission income rose by 29.3%
to EUR 12.5 million, reflecting the good position in the market. The higher
general administrative expenses were a consequence of the merger of the
two banks. Here in particular, marketing costs in connection with introduc-
tion of a new logo and increased restructuring measures as a result of the
merger were the main contributors.

CENTRAL EUROPE SEGMENT

in EUR million 2003 2002
Pre-tax profit for the year 14.7 5.0
Net profit after minority interests 13.2 4.9
Cost-income ratio (in %) 70.0 79.1
ROE based on net profit after 
minority interests (in %) 23.8 15.8

Financials

in EUR million 2003 2002
Pre-tax profit for the year 23.7 28.5
Net profit after minority interests 21.3 20.5
Cost-income ratio (in %) 67.1 59.3
ROE based on net profit after 
minority interests (in %) 24.2 29.9

Financials
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> For Erste Bank Croatia the 2003 fiscal year was marked by a profound
transformation and merger process. The merger of subsidiaries Erste &
Steiermärkische banka and Riječka banka to form the new Erste Bank
Croatia (Erste & Steiermärkische banka) was legally effected on 1 August
2003, with retroactive effect from 1 January 2003. Just 16 months after
the purchase of Riječka banka, this unit’s transformation was completed
and it now forms the basis for strengthening the excellent position in the
Croatian banking market. With a market share of about 10%, Erste Bank
Croatia ranks third in Croatia. 

> Given Croatia’s regional significance for Steiermärkische Bank und Spar-
kassen AG, this bank is Erste Bank’s partner in Croatia and, in January
2004, increased its stake in Erste Bank Croatia to 35.0%.

> Symbolising the identity as part of the Group, a new logo was introduced
at Erste Bank Croatia after the conclusion of the merger in August 2003,
thus signalling to customers the high service quality of the Erste Bank
Group.

> Even with restructuring in progress, Erste Bank Croatia succeeded in
growing its business. A particularly impressive increase was that in lend-
ings to customers, which grew 15.6% to HRK 10.573 billion. Last fiscal
year this achievement was made more difficult by the restrictions impo-
sed by the Croatian central bank on banks’ lending. 

> Especially worthy of mention was the growth of 20% in customer depos-
its to HRK 11.153 billion, made possible above all by regaining the trust
of customers in the Rijeka region.

Outlook for 2004

> Tasks at Česká spořitelna of paramount importance for 2004 are the con-
tinuing expansion of customer lending and of cross-selling. Further staff
reduction is planned to boost cost efficiency. By the end of 2004 the
Czech savings bank is to reach a return on equity of at least 20%.

> Slovenská sporiteľňa likewise seeks to enlarge its credit portfolio strong-
ly and thus expand its market share, especially among retail customers.
The streamlining of the branch network is to continue, with preference
given to regions of high future potential. As well, the personnel reduction
is set to persist in order to raise efficiency, especially in internal opera-
tions. An ROE of at least 20% is targeted for 2004.

> The focal undertaking in Hungary this year is the organisational integra-
tion of the two subsidiaries, which began immediately after the acquisi-
tion of Postabank in December by placing the two banks under the same
management. The purpose of the integration is to reap extensive syner-
gies through optimisation both at the branches and in central functions.
Furthermore, the mutual cross-selling already begun in 2003 is to be
greatly stepped up in 2004 in order to make use of all existing potential
for this approach and win additional market shares. The legal consum-
mation of the integration – the merger of Erste Bank Hungary and Posta-
bank – is planned for the second half of 2004. The merged bank will pro-
bably deliver approximately a break-even result for the full year 2004 and
is to earn a return on equity of at least 15% in 2005, after the integra-
tion and restructuring are complete. 

> In 2004 Erste Bank Croatia will adopt Erste Bank’s retail customer ser-
vice model and further expand its branch network. This is expected to
additionally strengthen its market position in the customer business and
lead to a minimum ROE of 18% or more as of the end of 2004.

CENTRAL EUROPE SEGMENT

Česká spořitelna Slovenská sporiteľňa Erste Bank Hungary 1 Erste Bank Croatia 2

in EUR million 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002
Operating result 314.2 298.0 145.7 75.3 32.2 17.2 39.7 40.5
Profit for the year 3 234.9 184.3 66.3 29.5 14.6 7.4 29.9 28.4
ROE (in %) 23.7 21.4 19.2 10.1 18.3 10.6 14.7 18.6
Cost-income ratio (in %) 59.8 62.6 51.9 66.8 68.5 75.9 62.3 58.3
Total assets 17,095 16,504 5,060 4,918 2,072 1,818 2,551 2,095
Shareholders’ equity 1,062 947 377 307 90 76 210 184
Number of employees 12,420 12,994 5,283 5,248 1,161 1,166 1,463 1,471
Number of customers (in million) 5.5 5.4 2.5 2.3 0.4 0.4 0.6 0.6
Number of branches 667 673 339 353 82 79 118 112
1 Excluding Postabank
2 Figures 2002 proforma Erste & Steiermärkische banka including 12 months’ result of Riječka banka
3 After taxes and minority interests

Key figures of Erste Bank subsidiaries in Central Europe (IFRS) – as reported by stand-alone entities
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International Business

> For 2004 it is planned – after two years of decreases – to moderately
increase new lending and the size of the commercial portfolio. Structured
credit products are being implemented in order to utilise the earnings
potential for returns more fully and manage credit risk more efficiently.

London profit centre
The activities of the London branch, like the previous year, included acqui-
sition financing with a focus on Central Europe, asset-backed securities,
trade finance, real estate finance and aircraft finance.
> Business growth was strong, and almost evenly distributed across all

areas of activity. An exception was the aircraft finance business, which
was reduced sharply amid the market turmoil in the aviation industry.

> The quality of the portfolio is unchanged with the investment-grade por-
tion standing at almost 70%.

Hong Kong profit centre
The Hong Kong branch lends to financial institutions, governments and com-
panies with good credit ratings in the Asia-Pacific region.
> Loans outstanding followed a positive trend, due mainly to a dispropor-

tionate increase in lending to banks. 
> The portfolio’s credit quality remains impressive; thanks to the improved

economic outlook in Asia, the share of assets rated investment grade
climbed to more than 80%.

International Business is made up of commercial lending of
the London, New York und Hong Kong branches and the
international business of Erste Bank Vienna, including trans-
actions with foreign banks inasmuch as these do not
constitute treasury interbank business.

In this segment, growth was seen in both net interest income (up 8.9%
to EUR 146.8 million) and net commission income (up 38.8% to EUR 21.1
million). This led to an increase of 36.4% in net profit after minority interests
to EUR 70.1 million. The positive trend in risk costs in the lending business
has to be seen in conjunction with the development of other operating results,
which declined due to the higher revaluation requirements for the held-to-
maturity portfolio in response to decreasing asset quality. In total, however,
risk provisions were below last year’s level.

Strategy and goals

> The International Business unit has the function of balancing the risk
profile of the Erste Bank Group’s loan portfolios in Austria and Central
Europe. 

> This business unit does not lend directly to customers, but instead op-
erates largely in the secondary and syndication markets.

> All profit centres actively manage their credit portfolios by risk-return cri-
teria in order to make stable contributions to the Erste Bank Group’s
results over periods of several years.

Highlights in 2003 

New York profit centre
The New York branch focuses on corporate, trade and project finance.
> About two-thirds of all lending consists of syndicated senior secured

loans to corporate clients. A reduction in defaults has swelled demand
for these forms of investment in the US market. On the other hand, there
was no upturn in issuance. 

> Trade finance activities with Latin American banks remained approxi-
mately at the level of the previous years.
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Loan portfolio – New York profit center (in EUR million)
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Loan portfolio – Hong Kong profit center (in EUR million)
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Loan portfolio – London profit center (in EUR million)



The Corporate Centre segment supports the pursuit of Erste
Bank’s strategic goals by providing marketing, organisation
and information technology services. Erste Bank’s growing
e-business was also assigned to this segment. In addition,
the Corporate Centre segment encompasses accounting,
controlling, settlement, participations management, non-
banking subsidiaries and subsidiaries that support the bank-
ing activities.

In this segment, general administrative expenses were affected by
a one-off payment of EUR 32 million which was made into a pension fund
as a result of an amendment in the pension legislation law. Due to a change
in the segment constituents in 2003 (the Savings Bank payment services
company was included in this sector in 2002 and for 2003 falls under the
Savings Banks segment), a comparison line by line to previous years is not
representative. As a result of consolidation effects, particularly between
service units and business areas in this segment, the development of the
net commission income and general administrative expenses can only be
seen from the aggregate of these positions.

Marketing Strategy and goals

> The Group Marketing unit establishes the brands of the Erste Bank Group
in Austria and its extended home market in Central Europe. As part of its
Group-wide responsibility, Marketing ensures the co-ordination of the
marketing activities and advertising of all entities in the Erste Bank
Group, including the Austrian savings banks.

Marketing Highlights in 2003

> Together with the savings banks, Erste Bank has reinforced the position-
ing of the successful dual logo representing the strong shared brand. As
in the previous year, recognition of the shared maxim “Every relationship
is about people” rose further to reach the equivalent of 53% in the fourth
quarter of 2003. 

> A new strategy was developed for Erste Bank’s sports sponsorship activi-
ties that is in keeping with the Group’s brand positioning. The backing
given to sports eloquently embodies the dynamism and forward-looking
focus of Erste Bank’s expansion strategy.

> Thanks to the closer co-ordination of their marketing and sales activities,
Erste Bank and the savings banks were the only institutions in Austria to
gain market share. Last year, the market share grew 1.5% overall and by
fully 3.8% in major accounts.

Corporate Centre
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Vienna profit centre
> International Business in Vienna is centred on lending to governments and

banks, rounded out by a small portfolio of corporate loans. The strate-
gic emphasis lies in maximum diversification of country risks.

> In accordance with Erste Bank’s strategy, the unit continued to have
considerable exposure in Central and Eastern Europe, as well as sup-
porting the activities of the banking subsidiaries in this region.

> The portfolio consists largely of asset swaps (approximately 30%), euro-
loans (about 30%) and floating rate notes (some 20%). 

> Portfolio quality was improved further in 2003, with investment-grade
assets increasing to over 80% of the total exposure. 

> Despite the weak US dollar – the currency in which one-third of the port-
folio is denominated – total lendings were expanded significantly.

Outlook for 2004

> The International Business unit’s strategy of generating a steady income
stream remains in place. 

> As demand for financing is rising while supply has remained the same,
a high priority is given to safeguarding the quality of the credit portfolio.
Structured credit products are used to assist in this endeavour.

> In view of Basle II, management of the portfolio increasingly concentrates
on capital-efficient products. 

Loan portfolio – Vienna profit center (in EUR million)

5,602

2001

5,196

2002

6,303

2003
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Organisation & IT Strategy and goals

> The overall goal of the Organisation & IT unit is to ensure the cost-effi-
cient functioning of the entire day-to-day IT operations of Erste Bank
and the savings banks. Key objectives are to increase the performance
transparency for customers and realise ongoing cost savings by reaping
synergies.

> The efficient deployment of the Organisation & IT resources supports
Erste Bank and the savings banks in reaching their business targets. 

> In addition, Organisation & IT is responsible for the further development
of the long-term IT strategy, which fits into the core strategy of the Erste
Bank Group. The IT strategy is based on the expectations and require-
ments of the Erste Bank Group’s individual business units and tech-
nology departments. On this basis, further harmonisation and optimisa-
tion is expected in the medium term. 

> The organisational powers of Erste Bank continue to be extended more
widely to the Austrian savings banks and Central European subsidiaries
through selected initiatives. Prominent examples are the standardisation
of project management training and the institutionalisation of methods,
processes and quality assurance efforts.

Organisation & IT Highlights in 2003

Activities in Austria
> After the successful migration of Erste Bank to the IT platform of the

savings banks in 2002, the business processes based on this shared soft-
ware were to a large extent unified within the project sPlus. The intenti-
on of this project is to further enlarge the potential synergies. As well, in
lending processes, a basis was created for efficient implementation of
the Basle II directives throughout the savings banks group.

> The multi-channel management (MCM) model for enhancing customer
service and accelerating the expansion of the additional distribution
channels was further expanded by the following main initiatives and fea-
tures:

> – Through the implementation of customer relationship management
(CRM) measures, customer service representatives gain a better under-
standing of their clients’ particular needs and can thus address these
with even more precision. The purpose is primarily to create closer
customer relationships.

> – In the area of complementary distribution channels, Erste Bank
launched new functionalities in netbanking and mobilebanking, and
successfully rolled out online purchases of savings products via net-
banking. Moreover, the retail support activities of the sServiceCenter
were integrated into the MCM distribution processes.

> The merger of Croatian banking subsidiaries Erste & Steiermärkische
banka and Riječka banka was brought to its successful conclusion. Since
the autumn of 2003 the combined entity operates under the Erste Bank
logo. In 2003, for the second year running, Česká spořitelna received Fin-
centrum’s prestigious “MasterCard Bank of the Year” award. In the same
competition Česká spořitelna also won in the category “Mortgage of the
Year 2003”. 

> The organisational integration of the target group marketing operation into
the Group’s Marketing unit greatly strengthened the effectiveness of the
combined unit in 2003.

Marketing Outlook for 2004

> The successful positioning of Erste Bank and the savings banks as modern
financial services providers continues apace and is being strengthened
further by a large-scale marketing campaign.

> As part of the group-wide establishment and the greater use of customer
relationship management, marketing priorities will be defined for target-
group-specific customer selection and non-traditional channels will be
used for communication and distribution. 

> At the Central European subsidiaries, an important item on the market-
ing agenda is to emphasise the Group’s service offering for small and
medium-sized businesses. Especially the extensive EU-related advice
and service available will acquire additional significance in Austria and
Central Europe with the accession of the countries of Erste Bank’s ex-
tended home market to the European Union on 1 May.

> In 2004 Česká spořitelna is launching a new advertising campaign to
highlight the modernisation and the improvement in service quality
achieved over the past few years.

4th quarter
2002

4th quarter
2003

40%

53%

Recognition of the maxim “Every relationship is about
people”

CORPORATE CENTRE SEGMENT



Organisation & IT Outlook for 2004 

> In the future, multi-year plans are to ensure efficiency measurement
activities of the Erste Bank Group and to safeguard continuous plan-
ning. At the subsidiaries as well, strict criteria are used in project eval-
uation in the interest of obtaining the most efficient results.

> The ongoing implementation of the adjustments required for compliance
with Basle II rules throughout Erste Bank and the savings banks group
continues to form a key thrust of the unit’s operations. Data pooling and
the standardisation of rating and calculation procedures are moving
briskly ahead.

> The centre of activity in Hungary is the fastest achievable technical inte-
gration of Postabank with Erste Bank Hungary in order to give Postabank
customers the quality of products and services provided by Erste Bank
as soon as possible. With the planning stage now largely complete, the
extensive integration is to be achieved by 2005.

> The greater exploitation of synergy effects by harmonising the core
systems of Česká spořitelna and Slovenská sporiteľňa through Spordat
– a development and competence centre located in Bratislava – repre-
sents another high priority for the Organisation & IT group.

E-Business Strategy and goals

> One of Erste Bank’s core strategies is to give customers the choice of how
and when to use its services. As a cornerstone of this multi-channel
approach to distribution, e-business is quickly becoming indispens-
able.

> The electronic banking products of Erste Bank are developed and rolled
out together with the Austrian savings banks.

> In Central Europe as well, Erste Bank offers e-business services via its
subsidiaries and is therefore accelerating the development of these
channels in the region.

E-Business Highlights in 2003 

> The Customer Sales Service Center (CSSC), a virtual branch accessible
to customers around the clock for standard financial transactions, was
rolled out to additional regional savings banks in 2003. As a result, the
number of clients reached by these services increased 200% to almost
1.1 million.

> Dynamic growth continued in the number of retail customers of Erste Bank
and the savings banks who use netbanking, the platform for PC-based
access to banking services. The user base widened by 32.4% last year
to 492,000 clients. Growth within netbanking is particularly strong in
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> By updating the accounts management system, new business potential
was created that is made possible only by the modern real-time pro-
cessing now given in the bookkeeping systems. Advantages that this
now affords customers are, among others, 

> – the 24-hour availability of netbanking turnover and 
> – the ability to view all cash transactions immediately at the account

statement printer.
> The stage was set for generating payments synergies beyond the savings

banks group through a co-operation agreement with Austrian banking
group BAWAG/PSK. The agreement covers key areas of domestic and
international payments. By teaming up in this manner, both groups expect
to reduce their costs substantially. For 2004, in connection with the
creation of NACH, a national automated clearing house, the Austrian
National Bank is promoting this model of collaboration as an infrastruc-
tural basis for the clearing house and, in fact, for harnessing additional
synergies between all Austrian credit institutions.

Projects at the banking subsidiaries in Central Europe
> Following the merger of Riječka banka with Erste & Steiermärkische

banka, the technical harmonisation between the two institutions was
also accomplished successfully and on schedule. Since the beginning of
November 2003, the same products and services are now available to
all customers of the bank.

> For all clients of Erste Bank, the savings banks and the Central Europe-
an subsidiaries, an improvement was made last year in cash transactions.
For withdrawals at any of the Erste Bank Group’s approximately 1,800
banking machines inside and outside Austria, customers are no longer
charged the fees customary in non-EU countries, but only the respective
domestic fees. 

> At Slovenská sporiteľňa, action was taken in the summer of 2003 together
with Erste Bank’s Organisation & IT unit to prepare for the expected
growth in customer demand for securities and personal retirement savings
products. A detailed study still underway is to be completed soon and a
software solution already used in the Group is to be adopted. 

> The implementation at Slovenská sporiteľňa of RICOS, a global risk
management system, was carried out according to plan. As a result, this
system is now used by all subsidiaries in Central Europe.

> Another focus of activity in 2003 was the execution of the project work
for the Basle II programme. Sub-projects such as the introduction of
application and behaviour scoring systems were completed.

> Under the direction of the Organisation & IT unit, detailed analyses were
prepared in 2003 regarding process cost accounting, budgeting and
controlling in the whole Erste Bank Group in order to generate medium-
term economies by harmonising the different systems and standards
used in these areas. The solutions selected as standard approaches are
gradually being implemented.

CORPORATE CENTRE SEGMENT
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CORPORATE CENTRE SEGMENT

E-Business Outlook for 2004

> In 2004 the main e-business task is to make greater use of the growing
client activity in electronic channels for the online selling of standard
products, true to Erste Bank’s multi-channel management strategy.

> The existing functionalities are to be further refined. Notably, the Group
plans to enable customers to buy retirement savings products – which will
grow strongly in importance – directly online via netbanking.

standard transactions. For instance, account statement transactions
increased by 539% in 2003 to just under 1.7 million and electronic
requests to customer service representatives went up 110% to more
than 90,000. Nearly 16 million customer contacts were logged alto-
gether through all electronic transaction channels.

> Phonebanking, Erste Bank’s telephone banking system, was already
used by 329,000 customers of the savings banks group, an increase of
38% compared to the year before.

> Similarly, the customer base of nettrading and brokerjet, the securities
trading platforms designed for different client investment horizons, was
expanded by 43% in 2003 to more than 20,000. Together with Česká
spořitelna, brokerjet – the platform for customers who are active traders
– was also implemented in the Czech language for the local market.

> Many of the savings banks group’s SME clients have already adopted
Telebanking. This e-business product also saw growth of 6.4% to almost
47,000 users, aided in part by new functionalities. 

> The e-business activities in Central Europe were also expanded in 2003.
Thus, at the end of the year, Česká spořitelna already had more than
780,000 users of alternative distribution channels, 17.0% more than
one year earlier. At Slovenská sporiteľňa the number rose 50% to
180,000 e-banking customers.

107,000
8,000

19,000

223,000

2001

242,000

386,000

2002

   14,000

   33,000
329,000

492,000

2003

   20,000

   43,000

netbanking phonebanking

nettrading and brokerjet ecetra members

Customer numbers in e-business (Erste Bank and 
savings banks in Austria)
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Credit risk at the Erste Bank Group

Group risk management

Strategic risk management in the Erste Bank Group defines Group
standards for ensuring uniform methods and processes of credit risk man-
agement and assembles an aggregate picture of the credit risk of the Erste
Bank Group from the data supplied by the Group institutions. Strategic risk
management is also responsible for implementing the requirements for the
earliest possible qualification of the Erste Bank Group for the IRB (inter-
nal-ratings-based) approach under Basle II. The necessary steps were
taken on schedule in 2003. 

Operational credit risk management in the Erste Bank Group is as
a rule performed at the level of the individual Group companies.

The central importance of risk management was also acknowl-
edged in early 2003 by the creation of a separate Management-Board-level
responsibility for risk management and controlling without responsibility
for business management or profits.

Credit portfolio of the Erste Bank Group

Total credit risk

> The credit exposure corresponds to the sum of the balance sheet items
loans and advances to credit institutions and loans and advances to
customers, fixed-income securities (whether held in the trading book or
as investments available for sale or financial investments) and the off-
balance sheet credit risks in the form of guarantees and letters of credit.
The investment portfolio of Sparkassen Versicherung also forms part of
the credit exposure.

> The total credit risk of the Erste Bank Group as of 31 December 2003
increased by 7.5% (EUR 8.4 billion) to EUR 120.4 billion. Of this rise, EUR
3.3 billion occurred at Erste Bank AG (largely representing interbank
business and treasury investment securities), EUR 2.9 billion was ac-
counted for by the subsidiaries in the Central European core markets
(including EUR 1.5 billion associated with the newly consolidated Posta-
bank), EUR 1.2 billion represented the cross-guarantee-system savings
banks and EUR 0.8 billion was generated by Sparkassen Versicherung.

Trend in credit quality

> 97% of the expansion in total credit risk fell into the best risk class (“low
risk”), while the size of the “non-performing” and “substandard” cate-
gories each decreased by about EUR 200 million, or approximately 5%
and 4%, respectively.

> Some 82.9% (2002: 81.8%) of the Erste Bank Group’s total credit port-
folio is now in the best risk category; the relative importance of the other
risk levels declined.

   3.4% Substandard

82.9% Low risk

10.4% Management attention

   3.4% Non-performing

Total credit exposure by risk class in 2003 (in %)

Management Total 
in EUR million Low risk attention Substandard Non-performing exposure
Total exposure at 31 Dec. 2003 99,825 12,498 4,070 4,038 120,431
As a percentage of total 82.9% 10.4% 3.4% 3.4% 100.0%
Risk provisions at 31 Dec. 2003 177 118 504 2,030 2,829
As a percentage of exposure 0.2% 0.9% 12.4% 50.3% 2.3%
Total exposure at 31 Dec. 2002 91,638 11,882 4,290 4,217 112,027
As a percentage of total 81.8% 10.6% 3.8% 3.8% 100.0%
Risk provisions at 31 Dec. 2002 185 152 498 2,199 3,034
As a percentage of exposure 0.2% 1.3% 11.6% 52.1% 2.7%
Change in total exposure in 2003 8,187 616 (219) (179) 8,404
As a percentage 8.9% 5.2% (5.1%) (4.3%) 7.5%
Change in risk provisions in 2003 (8) (34) 6 (168) (205)
As a percentage (4.4%) (22.4%) 1.1% (7.7%) (6.8%)

Credit exposure by risk class (in EUR million)
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Trend in Austria and abroad

> Credit exposure is shown by country of the debtor; the distribution among
the Erste Bank Group institutions is expressed by the credit exposure by
reporting segment.

> Credit risk abroad rose EUR 10.4 billion or 21.8%.
> Here growth in the two best risk classes was above average while the

exposure in the non-performing category fell by more than one-quarter
compared to the previous year. This resulted from the sale of fully

provisioned bad loans by Česká spořitelna from the legacy portfolio and
the reduction of non-performing loans in the International Business seg-
ment.

> In Austria total credit risk eased by EUR 2.0 billion year-on-year or 3.1%.
> Only the non-performing loan category showed an increase of some 

EUR 100 million or 3.2%, while all other risk classes declined in size.

CREDIT RISK AT THE ERSTE BANK GROUP

Management Total 
in EUR million Low risk attention Substandard Non-performing exposure
Total exposure at 31 Dec. 2003 46,545 9,111 3,436 3,198 62,290
As a percentage of total 74.7% 14.6% 5.5% 5.1% 100.0%
Risk provisions at 31 Dec. 2003 35 36 381 1,504 1,956
As a percentage of exposure 0.1% 0.4% 11.1% 47.0% 3.1%
Total exposure at 31 Dec. 2002 48,241 9,213 3,723 3,100 64,277
As a percentage of total 75.1% 14.3% 5.8% 4.8% 100.0%
Risk provisions at 31 Dec. 2002 33 62 404 1,434 1,933
As a percentage of exposure 0.1% 0.7% 10.8% 46.3% 3.0%
Change in total exposure in 2003 (1,696) (102) (287) 98 (1,987)
As a percentage (3.5%) (1.1%) (7.7%) 3.2% (3.1%)
Change in risk provisions in 2003 2 (26) (23) 70 23
As a percentage 6.4% (42.0%) (5.7%) 4.9% 1.2%

Credit exposure by risk class in Austria (in EUR million)

Management Total 
in EUR million Low risk attention Substandard Non-performing exposure
Total exposure at 31 Dec. 2003 53,280 3,387 635 840 58,142
As a percentage of total 91.6% 5.8% 1.1% 1.4% 100.0%
Risk provisions at 31 Dec. 2003 142 82 123 526 873
As a percentage of exposure 0.3% 2.4% 19.4% 62.7% 1.5%
Total exposure at 31 Dec. 2002 43,397 2,669 567 1,118 47,750
As a percentage of total 90.9% 5.6% 1.2% 2.3% 100.0%
Risk provisions at 31 Dec. 2002 152 90 94 765 1,102
As a percentage of exposure 0.3% 3.4% 16.7% 68.5% 2.3%
Change in total exposure in 2003 9,883 718 68 (278) 10,392
As a percentage 22.8% 26.9% 12.0% (24.8%) 21.8%
Change in risk provisions in 2003 (10) (8) 29 (239) (228)
As a percentage (6.8%) (8.9%) 30.4% (31.2%) (20.7%)

Credit exposure by risk class outside Austria (in EUR million)



> Outside Austria an increase in the credit portfolio by EUR 8.4 billion – the
result of the net increase in investments by the Erste Bank treasury –
occurred predominantly in banking and insurance and the public sector.
Strong growth was also registered in exposure to private households, up
EUR 2.0 billion or 70%. Of the expansion in the retail business in Central
Europe, approximately one-third is explained by growth of 50% at Česká
spořitelna and one-third by the first-time consolidation of Postabank. 

> The foreign component of the credit exposure rose in 2003 from 43% to
48%. However, as this trend was caused by treasury transactions and the
expansion of business in the core markets (through the acquisition of
Postabank and organic growth), it does not significantly change the
credit risk profile of the Erste Bank Group.
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Credit risk distribution by sector > As in the year before, the sectors with the highest credit risk exposure were
banks and insurance companies, private households and the public
administration. 

> The next highest exposure levels were found in real estate and other
business activities, manufacturing and trade.

> Except for construction (3.4%), the shares of the other industries are less
than 2.5%. The sector mix thus remains balanced, with an appropriate
degree of risk diversification.

> In Austria, due to a shift in the Group’s treasury investments towards the
non-Austrian euro zone, a decrease of EUR 1.3 billion was observed in
the banking and insurance industry and the public administration. Ex-
posure to the trade sector was reduced by EUR 0.4 billion.

CREDIT RISK AT THE ERSTE BANK GROUP

Credit risk by sector in 2003 (in %)

Management Total 
in EUR million Low risk attention Substandard Non-performing exposure
Agriculture and forestry 722 260 76 89 1,146
Mining 312 189 230 28 760
Manufacturing 4,582 1,753 858 449 7,643
Energy and water supply 1,238 508 74 51 1,871
Construction 2,493 920 333 350 4,096
Trade 4,099 1,744 759 630 7,233
Hotels and restaurants 1,097 917 498 395 2,906
Transport and communication 1,718 759 154 217 2,849
Banking and insurance 38,382 734 80 51 39,246
Real estate and other business activities 6,673 2,833 445 631 10,582
Public administration 17,594 150 9 21 17,775
Health and social work 834 124 37 35 1,030
Other service activities 987 330 116 155 1,587
Private households 18,233 1,225 388 914 20,760
Other 862 51 13 22 947
Total 99,825 12,498 4,070 4,038 120,431

Total credit risk by sector (in EUR million)

14.8% Public administration

17.2% Private households

   6.0% Trade

   3.4% Construction

   8.8% Real estate and other business activities
   6.3% Manufacturing

10.9% Other

32.6% Banking and insurance



41ERSTE BANK 2003 ANNUAL REPORT

CREDIT RISK AT THE ERSTE BANK GROUP

Management Total 
in EUR million Low risk attention Substandard Non-performing exposure
Agriculture and forestry 490 174 51 69 784
Mining 67 75 219 27 388
Manufacturing 2,676 1,210 710 332 4,927
Energy and water supply 477 191 21 11 700
Construction 2,218 849 318 324 3,709
Trade 2,609 1,403 679 524 5,215
Hotels and restaurants 740 732 436 337 2,246
Transport and communication 686 450 119 123 1,379
Banking and insurance 10,521 218 44 14 10,796
Real estate and other business activities 4,594 2,322 390 547 7,853
Public administration 6,204 32 6 2 6,245
Health and social work 772 113 35 33 953
Other service activities 718 274 97 108 1,197
Private households 13,722 1,060 310 744 15,837
Other 50 9 0 2 61
Total 46,545 9,111 3,436 3,198 62,290

Credit risk by sector in Austria (in EUR million)

Management Total 
in EUR million Low risk attention Substandard Non-performing exposure
Agriculture and forestry 232 86 25 20 362
Mining 245 114 12 1 372
Manufacturing 1,907 543 148 117 2,715
Energy and water supply 760 318 53 40 1,171
Construction 275 72 15 26 387
Trade 1,490 342 80 106 2,018
Hotels and restaurants 356 185 62 57 660
Transport and communication 1,032 309 35 94 1,470
Banking and insurance 27,861 516 36 36 28,450
Real estate and other business activities 2,079 511 54 85 2,729
Public administration 11,390 118 3 19 11,529
Health and social work 63 10 1 2 77
Other service activities 269 56 18 47 391
Private households 4,511 165 78 170 4,923
Other 811 42 13 20 887
Total 53,280 3,387 635 840 58,142

Credit risk by sector outside Austria (in EUR million)



> Of the total growth of EUR 10.4 billion, industrialised countries accounted
for EUR 6.1 billion (with a growth rate of 29.1%) and the extended home
market grew by EUR 4.1 billion (17.4%).

> The credit growth in the industrial countries is attributable to the Group
treasury’s increased business with bank and government risks.

> The gain in Central Europe results from the growth of the subsidiaries, and
the purchase of Postabank. The largest jump was achieved in Hungary,
at EUR 2.4 billion or about 100%, with approximately one-half of the
increase attributable to the first-time consolidation of Postabank. A
significant role was also played by the expansion in cross-border busi-
ness, particularly at Erste Bank AG. The credit exposure in emerging
markets and developing countries was up a very modest EUR 0.2 billion
overall. This uptick represented almost only the countries joining the EU
in 2004. In fact, outstandings in countries with higher risk profiles
declined.
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CREDIT RISK AT THE ERSTE BANK GROUP

Regional distribution of credit risk

22.5% Industrialised countries

   0.1% Developing countries

22.9% Extended home market

   2.8% Emerging markets

51.7% Austria

Credit risk by region in 2003 (in %)

Management Total 
in EUR million Low risk attention Substandard Non-performing exposure
Austria 46,545 9,111 3,436 3,198 62,290
Industrialised countries 25,405 1,218 181 257 27,061
Extended home market 24,890 1,764 370 506 27,530

Czech Republic 13,577 369 126 179 14,251
Slovak Republic 4,375 349 27 103 4,853
Hungary 4,077 607 72 103 4,859
Croatia 2,018 344 133 77 2,572
Slovenia 843 95 12 45 995

Emerging markets 2,925 393 57 54 3,429
Asia 957 55 3 25 1,039
Latin America 520 94 15 9 638
Russia 123 51 1 0 176
Other 1,324 193 38 19 1,576

Developing countries 60 11 27 23 122
Total 99,825 12,498 4,070 4,038 120,431

Credit risk by region (in EUR million)
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CREDIT RISK AT THE ERSTE BANK GROUP

Non-performing loans (NPL) and risk provisions

Loans are classified as non-performing if one or more of the default
criteria set out by Basle II are met: full repayment unlikely, interest or prin-
cipal payments more than 90 days past due, restructuring resulting in a loss
to lender, write-off of a loan loss, or opening of bankruptcy proceedings.
By adopting the Basle II definition of default, Erste Bank has chosen a con-
servative approach.

The NPL figures presented here constitute gross amounts, meaning
that collateral has not been taken into account. Only where guarantees exist
risk is transferred to the guarantor.

In 2003 NPL decreased EUR 82 million to EUR 4,038 million, or
2.0%. At the same time, risk provisions for loans and advances fell by 
EUR 205 million to EUR 2,829 million (6.8%). However, it is worth noting
that the sale of fully provisioned bad loans by Česká spořitelna led to a
reduction of about EUR 250 million in risk provisions in the third quarter
of 2003.

On average in the Group, risk provisions cover 70.1% of reported
NPL. As NPL include secured outstandings, this level can be considered
sufficient, especially when taking into account the actual loss experience
given default. The situation in the individual reporting segments is de-
scribed in the discussion which follows.

Asset quality by segment

This section describes the composition of credit exposure in terms
of reporting segments. The allocation is based on the domicile of the res-
pective Group institutions carrying the credit risk on their books. 

The degrees of provisioning for non-performing loans vary accord-
ing to the different market conditions in the segments shown. In Austria,
experience in the valuation and sale of collateral goes back many years.
Moreover, the legal environment has been stable for decades, giving rise
to a well-established body of case law on all important legal issues in this
context.

By contrast, in the Central European core markets, the legislative
treatment of mortgage collateral and corporate bankruptcy, to name only
the most important examples, has had to be created anew in recent years.
Likewise, the corresponding practice of the courts is only now developing.
As a consequence, lenders in these countries face a different risk situati-
on and need to follow more conservative provisioning policies. Other dif-
ferences between the Group’s markets lie in the local regulatory require-
ments.

Taking these circumstances into account, the levels of provisioning
in the different markets have been found to be appropriate to the respec-
tive local environment.

Austria segment

With economic growth of less than 1%, the business environment
in 2003 – despite originally optimistic expectations – was sluggish. Both
private and corporate bankruptcies increased only slightly. The percentage
of major insolvencies last year was low.

Savings Banks
Credit exposure of cross-guarantee-system savings banks rose

4.3% in 2003 to EUR 29.7 billion. Like the year before, it represented
about one-quarter of the Group’s total credit portfolio.

While growth was witnessed in the two safest risk classes, the
amounts in the substandard and non-performing categories eased. 

The foreign component of the savings banks’ loan credit portfolio
increased in 2003 from 7 to 10%. Most of this change resulted from the
shift in interbank lending from Austria towards the industrialised coun-
tries. 

The high shares of private households (26%) and housing finance
(13%) reflect the traditional core businesses of the savings banks. Growth
in exposure to domestic retail customers was 6.1%. 

Risk 
Total provisions 

Management Non- Total risk in % 
in EUR million Low risk attention Substandard performing exposure provisions of NPL
Austria (total) 64,686 10,407 3,602 3,508 82,203 2,091 60%
Central Europe (total) 22,664 1,270 342 398 24,674 607 152%
International Business 12,256 822 126 132 13,336 131 99%
Corporate Centre 219 0 0 0 219 0
Total 99,825 12,498 4,070 4,038 120,431 2,829 70%

Credit risk by reporting segment (in EUR million)
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Tiroler Sparkasse
In a turnaround from earlier reporting periods, the risk situation of

Tiroler Sparkasse was improved substantially. Exposure in low and non-per-
forming loans was reduced; uncollateralised risk was also brought down.
Despite slack economic activity and traditionally strong competition in the
region around Tyrol, these achievements and a small increase in SME
lendings produced a visible improvement in the portfolio structure.

The strategic focus of the SME business is directed above all at win-
ning additional market share with top companies and further reducing the
proportion of higher-risk exposure. Against the background of an even mix
of industries, limits were defined (and are continuously monitored) for the
key sectors manufacturing, construction, trade, tourism, transport and
real estate. 

In the retail market, the strategic focus centres on housing finance.
Subject to a conservative risk policy, the market position of Tiroler Spar-
kasse is to be expanded further.

Salzburger Sparkasse
In spite of a slight gain in the fourth quarter, Salzburger Sparkas-

se’s outstandings eased slightly last year. While the mid-range and upper
portion of the SME business grew, exposure to small businesses and
consumers was down.

With a balanced risk distribution, the composition in terms of indus-
tries was broadly steady without particular risk concentration. At 96.6% the
domestic share of the customer base also remained constant on the
previous years. 

The distribution in terms of credit quality improved slightly on bal-
ance. In retail lending, assets classified as low-risk increased slightly while
the management-attention and substandard categories contracted in equal
measure. More than 85% of retail customers are rated as low-risk. 

In the SME portfolio the past few years’ rising trend in the poorer
risk classes eased. This translated into a significant shift in credit exposure
towards the better credit classes. Additionally, exposure to the poorer risks
was reduced, with the result that there were no substantial defaults. On
balance, Salzburger Sparkasse 2003 was not touched by the large bank-
ruptcies in the Salzburg area.

CREDIT RISK AT THE ERSTE BANK GROUP

Retail and Real Estate
The retail credit exposure at Erste Bank and the subsidiaries as-

signed to the Retail and Real Estate segment remained almost unchanged
in the reporting year at about EUR 23.9 billion. 

Retail
On the Retail side of the segment the 2003 financial year was

marked by the further refinement of the customer rating system in use for
the past several years, which now permits a more exact assessment of
risk.

The risk structure in the retail portfolio remained good in 2003
and exhibited a high degree of diversification. Total lendings were nearly
constant on the year before. The rating structure too did not change sig-
nificantly.

Consistent with the trends in financial markets, a large amount of
foreign-currency loans was switched from Japanese yen into Swiss francs.

In loans to small businesses and free professionals, the focus was
placed on portfolio analysis, which was stepped up at the branches in
order to identify and mitigate risks at an early stage. 

Both the number of customers and business volume declined some-
what as a consequence of the more conservative selection of credit clients.
The modest increase in non-performing loans was due to relatively small
bankruptcies. 

Given the higher risks posed by business start-ups, Erste Bank
established a dedicated department two years ago that is organisational-
ly part of operational risk management rather than forming part of the
branch system. Thanks to the resulting pool of expertise, which brought
together the functions of sales and service and the lending decision, the
level of loan losses was kept low.

Real Estate
The traditionally low-risk Real Estate portion of the segment was

again characterised by broad diversification of lendings. The risk-con-
scious extension of credit and correspondingly tight management of
accounts led to a favourable risk-reward experience. 

With its good risk-return profile and low concentration of risk, com-
mercial housing finance also continued to perform well in 2003. The port-
folio of s Wohnbaubank likewise displays good credit quality coupled with
low risks in residential housing finance.
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Bausparkasse
At the building society, Bausparkasse der österreichischen Spar-

kassen, the functions of risk management, real estate valuation and balan-
ce sheet analysis were combined in the risk management department with
effect from 1 January 2003. As well, in the year under review new risk man-
agement tools (such as updated credit approval rules, electronically assisted
supervision processes, and improved reporting) were implemented or intro-
duced and the real estate credit scorecard – developed together with Erste
Bank as part of the new rating system – was tested and installed. All credit
applicants are now rated by a system that is fully compliant with Basle II. 

Bausparkasse’s plans for 2004 include launching systems for Basle
II-compliant application analysis and for collateral- and loss-processing. This
facilitates the data entry into the Group-wide risk database for the gathering
of the required time series on schedule for Basle II. 

The year’s net allocation to risk provisions, at 0.11% of outstanding
balances, is satisfactory by international standards. Although growth in
new lending did not quite reach the previous year’s rate, Bausparkasse’s loan
book was expanded from EUR 4,740 million to EUR 4,815 million. 

The number of credit defaults fell steadily in 2003, which should lead
to a further improvement in the portfolio quality in the coming years as
well. 

EBV-Leasing 
After two years of decline, new vehicle registrations for cars includ-

ing station wagons rose again in 2003, climbing 7.4%. The corresponding
growth rate for leased vehicles was 1.3%. In this healthier market, EBV
expanded its new financing volume by about 21% to EUR 265.4 million. 

Jointly with Erste Bank and Lehman Brothers, a package of asset-
backed-securities was placed on the capital market in May of the year. This
transaction securitised a large part (EUR 220 million) of the leasing assets
previously funded by Erste Bank.

Small and Medium-Sized Corporate Customers
Defying the difficult economic environment, the clearly defined

goal of a significant improvement in the quality of the SME portfolio was
attained in 2003. This was made possible partly by shedding higher-risk
clients in particular, a trend that reduced credit exposure as planned by
some 25% (approximately EUR 600 million) to EUR 1,550 million. Most of
the volume reduction occurred in the management-attention risk classes
or worse, and the collateralisation of loans especially in the mid-quality
classes was reinforced considerably. 

The highly selective approach to the acquisition of new customers
based on stringent creditworthiness criteria also contributed to the im-
provement in portfolio quality.

At the same time, the sector mix in the SME segment remains well-
balanced.

Large Corporate Customers
Including Immorent, which is assigned to the Large Corporate

Customers segment, credit exposure in this segment was up 3.6% to EUR
11.5 billion.

Large Corporate Customers – Erste Bank AG
Amid the adverse economic situation, many large companies con-

solidated their level of activity. Investment projects were curtailed or post-
poned in the face of slow economic growth, and business strategies were
adjusted in favour of earnings stability, liquidity improvement and reduc-
tions in debt-equity gearing. In the big picture, a deterioration in the cred-
it quality of some accounts in Erste Bank’s portfolio was balanced by
improvements in the standing of other obligors; the number of defaults de-
clined slightly.

The continuing cost-cutting and restructuring measures at every
level of government, with the associated decrease in public sector spend-
ing, affected the composition of the Large Corporates exposure. Lendings
were repaid further and the utilisation of existing credit lines receded
noticeably. Similar trends were seen with government-owned corporations
and in energy utilities of regional or municipal governments.

Among private sector Large Corporate Customers, outstandings
were held steady in the good and intermediate credit quality classes and
were reduced significantly in the higher-risk categories. There is no risk con-
centration in specific sectors.

Regarding methodology, in 2003 the development process was
initiated for refining the credit-score-based limits for individual clients.
Most of the exposure was adjusted to the new limit policy, thus achieving
a tangible improvement in risk diversification. Additionally, pricing was
placed on a consistent risk-adjusted basis.

Immorent
The financing exposure in 2003 rose from EUR 2,676 million to 

EUR 2,940 million. Business in Austria constituted 73% of the total and
credits in the extended home market made up 20% of the portfolio.
Immorent’s largest customer segment remains the Austrian national 
government.

In addition to this business, done at Immorent’s risk, leasing trans-
actions are also handled both for other units of the Erste Bank Group and
for non-Group parties at their credit risk.

Both the number and monetary scope of impaired loans are man-
ageable and sufficient loan loss reserves were provided. 

CREDIT RISK AT THE ERSTE BANK GROUP
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Central Europe segment

Credit exposure of the subsidiaries in Central Europe rose EUR 2.9
billion or 13.4% overall to EUR 24.7 billion, which amounted to 20.5% of
the Group’s total exposure. More than half of this increase represented the
consolidation of Postabank, acquired in 2003. The organic growth of those
subsidiaries that were already consolidated at the beginning of 2003 was
due especially to a rise in consumer outstandings.

Česká spořitelna
Where credit risk is concerned, the portfolio of Česká spořitelna saw

the greatest change in the Erste Bank Group. Thus, both non-performing
loans and risk provisions for loans and advances fell by about one-half. This
trend was driven by the sale of the legacy portfolio of fully provisioned bad
loans (Bad Bank sale) of about EUR 250 million. 

Total credit exposure was up a moderate 2.1%, but the retail loan
portfolio (including mortgage loans) grew about 50%.

Slovenská sporiteľňa
Although the Slovak central bank tightened its regulations rele-

vant to credit risk, the risk situation improved further with a decrease to
2.1% in the proportion of NPL to total exposure. The degree to which prob-
lem loans are covered by risk provisions remains highly satisfactory, despi-
te the fact that released risk provisions exceeded the decrease in NPL.

The growth in the credit portfolio was generated both in corporate
and retail banking. In retail lending the expansion was due in large part to
the typically lower-risk mortgage business, which almost doubled in 2003.
In the process, loans and advances to households were lifted more than
50%.

Erste Bank Hungary
Amid a stable credit risk profile and continuing good sector diver-

sification, the corporate banking business expanded by 25% in 2003.
However, in keeping with the desired improvement in profitability and con-
stant credit quality, growth was not as rapid as in the previous year. Provi-
sions for defaults are at a level more than sufficient to cover the probable
incidence of credit losses.

In retail lending, growth was fuelled chiefly by the brisk demand for
government-subsidised home construction finance, which surpassed other
retail mortgage finance in value. The retail credit portfolio thus rose by about
50% in 2003 to nearly one-fourth of Erste Bank Hungary’s total credit
exposure. The traditional focus on mortgage finance was intensified further,
but unsecured retail lending will grow in importance with the integration of
Postabank.

Postabank
Postabank’s retail lending franchise, which concentrates on con-

sumer credit and auto finance, effectively rounds out the existing retail
business of Erste Bank Hungary. In commercial lending, the merging of the
two banks’ similarly structured portfolios is expanding the combined mar-
ket share in Hungary.

Based on the appraisal of the credit portfolio during due diligence
and the first-time consolidation, appropriate risk provisions were made for
Postabank’s credit risks.

Erste & Steiermärkische banka
In terms of credit risk management, the integration of Riječka banka

and Erste & Steiermärkische banka has now been successfully completed.
Slightly more than one-half of the credit portfolio is commercial and the
other almost 50% represents retail exposure. The retail share is to be
increased continually in the future.

Maximum diversification without significant concentrations of risk
is sought in managing the distribution of credit exposure across sectors.
However, owing to the structure of the Croatian economy, trade is strongly
represented in the portfolio. In retail lending, the number of products se-
cured by mortgages was expanded to about one-third and total retail expo-
sure rose 20%.

The provisions constitute enough cover for NPL and for impaired
loans. By successful streamlining of the portfolio, especially in corporate
credits, Erste & Steiermärkische banka was able to lower NPL and the
requirement for risk provisions.

CREDIT RISK AT THE ERSTE BANK GROUP
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International Business segment

New York branch
About two-thirds of all lending by the New York branch consists of

syndicated senior secured loans to corporate clients. Total new business
of USD 300 million was booked in 2003. The amount of trade finance
activities with selected Latin American banks remained approximately level
with the previous years. 

Outstanding loans declined because of the weakness of the US
dollar against the euro. For 2004 it is planned to slightly increase new lend-
ing and total credit exposure. 

London branch
The market segments covered by the London branch did not change

last year, consisting of acquisition finance (mainly in Central Europe),
asset-backed securities, trade finance and real estate and aircraft financ-
ing. Business growth accelerated almost evenly across all areas of activi-
ty. An exception was the aircraft finance business, where exposure was
reduced sharply amid the market volatility in the aviation industry. The
quality of the credit portfolio was unchanged at an investment-grade
weighting of close to 70%.

Hong Kong branch
The Hong Kong office assumes credit risks of financial institutions,

national governments and top companies in the Asia-Pacific region. With
growth in the proportion of investment-grade assets to more than 80% as
of the 2003 year-end, the portfolio retained high credit quality.

There were no new defaults in 2003. Exposure declined in the cate-
gory non-performing, thanks largely to the improvement in Indonesia’s
credit rating. 

Vienna
International Business in Vienna centres on lending to national

governments and banks, rounded out by a smaller percentage of corporate
loans. The strategic emphasis is placed on maximum diversification of
country risks. The portfolio consists largely of assets swaps and euroloans
(each approximately 30%) and floating-rate notes (about 20%). The port-
folio quality was improved further in 2003, with the share of investment-
grade assets rising to more than 80%.

CREDIT RISK AT THE ERSTE BANK GROUP
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2003 Consolidated Financial Statements according 
to IFRS 

I. Consolidated Balance Sheet of Erste Bank 
at 31 December 2003

at at
in EUR thousand Notes 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Assets
1. Cash and balances with central banks 12 2,548,758 3,181,046 
2. Loans and advances to credit institutions 1, 13 13,140,025 15,492,393 
3. Loans and advances to customers 1, 14 67,766,224 64,435,407 
4. Risk provisions for loans and advances 2, 15 (2,771,653) (2,982,868) 
5. Trading assets 3, 16 5,259,294 3,487,007 
6. Investments available for sale 4, 17 7,379,239 6,735,714 
7. Financial investments 5, 18, 19, 49 26,454,438 22,572,142 
8. Intangible assets 6, 19 1,868,201 1,595,753 
9. Tangible assets 7, 19 1,814,078 1,866,017 
10. Other assets 11, 20, 21 5,116,649 4,839,641 
Total assets 128,575,253 121,222,252 

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
1. Amounts owed to credit institutions 22 25,703,928 26,424,661 
2. Amounts owed to customers 23 64,838,840 61,308,019 
3. Debts evidenced by certificates 9, 24 16,944,124 14,190,783 
4. Provisions 10, 11, 25 6,366,096 5,488,009 
5. Other liabilities 26 5,514,814 5,219,988 
6. Subordinated capital 27 3,537,729 3,386,632 
7. Minority interests 2,878,953 2,723,258 
8. Shareholders’ equity 28 2,790,769 2,480,902 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 128,575,253 121,222,252 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Earnings per share
Earnings per share constitutes net profit after minority interests divided by the average number of ordinary shares outstanding. Diluted earnings

per share represents the maximum potential dilution (increase in the average number of shares), which would occur if all issued subscription and conversion
rights were exercised.

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

II. Consolidated Income Statement of Erste Bank for
the year ended 31 December 2003

in EUR thousand Notes 2003 2002
1. Interest and similar income 5,209,459 5,699,613 
2. Interest paid and similar expenses (2,622,618) (3,236,577) 
I. Net interest income 29 2,586,841 2,463,036 
3. Risk provisions for loans and advances 30 (406,428) (406,361) 
4. Fee and commission income 1,181,614 1,118,002 
5. Fee and commission expenses (185,047) (173,695) 

Net commission income 
(Net of 4 and 5) 31 996,567 944,307 

6. Net trading result 32 214,551 167,359 
7. General administrative expenses 33 (2,460,755) (2,431,964) 
8. Income from insurance business 34 32,944 8,442 
9. Other operating result 35 (202,132) (80,209) 
10. Extraordinary result – –
II. Pre-tax profit for the year 761,588 664,610 
11. Taxes on income 36 (224,191) (151,387) 
III. Profit for the year 537,397 513,223 
12. Minority interests (184,094) (258,019) 
IV. Net profit after minority interests 37 353,303 255,204 

2003 2002
Net profit after minority interests in EUR thousand 353,303 255,204 
Average number of shares outstanding 1 number 59,461,459 53,942,369 
Earnings per share in EUR 5.94 4.73 
Diluted earnings per share in EUR 5.89 4.73 
1 Including those shares representing minority interests
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2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

III. Consolidated Statement of Changes in 
Shareholders’ Equity

Subscribed Add. paid-in Retained Distributable Total Total
in EUR million capital capital earnings profit 2003 2002
Shareholders’ equity at 
31 December previous year 435 1,440 532 74 2,481 1,904 
Translation differences – – (46) – (46) (5) 
Own shares – – 55 – 55 (270) 

thereof shares acquired – – (268) – (268) (391) 
thereof shares sold – – 307 – 307 111 
thereof result – – 16 – 16 10 

Dividends – – 1 (74) (73) (62) 
Capital increases 1 1 5 – – 6 641 
Net profit after minority interests – – 263 90 353 255 
Other changes – – 15 – 15 18 

thereof cash flow hedge – – 24 – 24 32 
thereof deferred tax – – (7) – (7) (12) 
thereof other – – (2) – (2) (2) 

Shareholders’ equity at 31 December 436 1,445 820 90 2,791 2,481 
1 Capital increase from management stock option plan 2002 (MSOP 2002) and employee share ownership plan 2003 (ESOP 2003)

in units 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Issued shares 59,943,808 59,825,114 
less own shares in bank’s portfolio (3,659,307) (4,392,897) 
Shares outstanding 56,284,501 55,432,217 
Shares outstanding at 1 January 55,432,217 50,349,615 
Additions from first-time inclusion of Haftungsverbund savings banks at 1 January 2002 – (3,621,064) 
Acquisition of own shares (3,397,175) (2,625,806) 
Disposal of own shares 4,130,765 1,867,313 
Capital increase in July 2002 – 9,210,000 
Capital increase due to ESOP and MSOP 118,694 252,159 
Shares outstanding at 31 December 56,284,501 55,432,217 
Own shares 1 3,659,307 4,392,897 
Number of shares at 31 December 59,943,808 59,825,114 
1 Including those shares held by members of the Haftungsverbund Agreement 

Changes in number of shares (see also Note 28)
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2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

IV. Cash Flow Statement

in EUR million 2003 2002
Profit for the year 537 513
Non-cash items in net profit

Depreciation, amortisation, revaluation of tangible assets, financial investments 
as well as investments available for sale 489 407 
Allocation/release of provisions (including risk provisions) 454 422 
Profits from the sale of financial investments and tangible assets (91) (113) 
Other adjustments1 (2,256) (1,936) 

Changes in assets and liabilities from operating activities after adjustment for non-cash components
Loans and advances to credit institutions 2,447 155 
Loans and advances to customers (2,314) (1,581) 
Trading portfolio (1,766) 56 
Investments available for sale (635) (1,357) 
Other assets (964) (307) 
Amounts owed to credit institutions (1,012) (1,474) 
Amounts owed to customers 2,326 2,023 
Debts evidenced by certificates 2,747 2,554 
Other liabilities from operating activities 1,070 1,472 
Interest and dividends received 5,209 5,700 
Interest paid (2,623) (3,237) 

Cash flow from operating activities 3,618 3,297 
Proceeds from the disposal of

Financial investments 5,832 5,221 
Fixed assets 818 233 

Payments for the acquisition of
Financial investments (9,123) (6,864) 
Fixed assets (1,323) (1,169) 

Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash and cash equivalents acquired) (482) (486) 
Cash flow from investing activities (4,278) (3,064) 

Capital increases 6 641 
Dividends paid (74) (62) 
Other financing activities 136 (180) 

Cash flow from financing activities 68 399 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 3,181 2,573 

Cash flow from operating activities 3,618 3,297 
Cash flow from investing activities (4,278) (3,064) 
Cash flow from financing activities 68 399 
Effect of translation differences (40) (24) 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 2,549 3,181 
1 Largely interest paid less interest received and dividends
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During the reporting period Erste Bank acquired 99.97% of Postabank és Takarékpénztár Rt. (PB), 15% of Kärntner Sparkasse AG (Kärntner Spk.),
3.17% of Česká spořitelna, a.s. (CS), and 2.82% of Slovenská sporiteľňa, a.s. (SLSP).

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

in EUR million PB Kärntner Spk. CS SLSP Total
Shares purchased (in %) 99.97% – – – –
Successive share purchases (in %) 15.00% 3.17% 2.82% –

Cash and cash equivalents 56 – – – –
Loans and advances to credit institutions and 
customers 1,181 – – – –
Risk provisions (54) – – – –
Trading assets 6 – – – –
Investments available for sale – – – – –
Financial investments 418 – – – –
Sundry assets 97 – – – –
Amounts owed to credit institutions and customers (1,523) – – – –
Debts evidenced by certificates and 
subordinated liabilities (21) – – – –
Sundry liabilities (67) – – – –
Minority interests – – – – –
Shareholders’ equity 93 – – – –

Share purchase (in %) 99.97% 15.00% 3.17% 2.82% –
Acquired equity stakes 93 33 34 10 170
Goodwill 368
Purchase price 538
Cash and cash equivalents (56)
Cash flow for acquiring companies
less cash and cash equivalents acquired 482
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General information

Erste Bank der oesterreichischen Sparkassen AG is Austria’s oldest
savings bank and the largest wholly privately-owned Austrian credit insti-
tution listed on the Vienna stock exchange. Since October 2002 it is also
quoted on the Prague stock exchange. Erste Bank’s registered offices are
located at Graben 21, 1010 Vienna, Austria.

The Erste Bank Group offers a complete selection of banking and
financial services, such as saving, asset management (for example invest-
ment funds), lending, mortgage loans, investment banking, securities and
derivatives trading, portfolio management, project financing, foreign trade
financing, corporate finance, capital market and money market services,
foreign exchange trading, leasing, factoring and insurance business.

The Consolidated Financial Statements of Erste Bank for the 2003
financial year and the comparative figures for 2002 were prepared in com-
pliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS, formerly
IAS) published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and
their interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Inter-
pretations Committee (IFRIC, formerly SIC), thus satisfying the prerequisites
set forth in Section 245a Austrian Commercial Code and Section 59a Aus-
trian Banking Act on exempted consolidated financial statements prepared
in accordance with internationally recognised accounting principles.
Furthermore, the disclosure requirements of the European Union were met.

No changes were made to accounting policies or measurement
methods for this reporting period.

Points in which the Consolidated Financial Statements prepared in
accordance with IFRS differ from Austrian reporting methods are outlined
in section VI of these Notes.

Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts are stated in millions of
euros. Rounding differences may occur in the accompanying tables.

Erste Bank is a member of the Haftungsverbund Agreement of the
savings bank group, a system that was established in 2001 and took effect
1 January 2002. At the balance sheet date almost all of Austria’s savings
banks formed part of this system.

The provisions of the agreement governing the Haftungsverbund are
implemented by a Steering Company (s Haftungs- und Kundenabsicherungs
GmbH). Erste Bank AG directly holds at least 51% of the share capital of
the Steering Company (31 December 2003: 55.63%). Two of the four
members of the Steering Company’s management, including the CEO, who
has the casting vote, are appointed by Erste Bank AG. The Steering
Company is invested with the power to establish the common risk policies
of its members and monitor adherence to these policies. As well, if a
member encounters serious difficulties – this can be discerned from the
specific indicator data that is continually generated – the Steering Company
has the mandate to provide the support measures described later in this

section and/or intervene accordingly in the business management of the
affected member savings bank.

As Erste Bank AG owns a controlling interest in the Steering Com-
pany, which by virtue of its rules of procedure can exercise significant influ-
ence by using controlling power on the business policy of any of its mem-
bers, all members of the Haftungsverbund Agreement have in accordance
with IFRS been included in Erste Bank’s Consolidated Financial State-
ments since 1 January 2002.

Following an amendment of Section 30 Austrian Banking Act effec-
tive 1 September 2002, credit institutions belonging to a Haftungsverbund
Agreement meeting the criteria laid down in Section 30 (2a) Austrian
Banking Act shall be included in the group of credit institutions as the
superordinate credit institution within the meaning of Section 30 Austrian
Banking Act. This applies to Erste Bank and the savings banks belonging
to the Haftungsverbund Agreement. Therefore, since 1 September 2002 all
relevant legal provisions must be fulfilled that pertain to groups of credit
institutions as defined in Section 30 Austrian Banking Act, thus including
all members of the Haftungsverbund Agreement.

Under the provisions of the agreement in principle between Erste
Bank and the participating savings banks, this agreement guarantees, by
virtue of joint and several liability, the payment of all amounts owed to
customers (all deposits as defined by Section 1 (1.1) Austrian Banking Act,
all monetary claims based on credit balances from banking transactions
and all monetary claims from the issuance of securities, with the exception
of qualifying capital pursuant to Section 23 Austrian Banking Act and
payables from transactions relevant under criminal law).

Pursuant to the requirements of the Austrian Banking Act and the
agreement in principle of the Haftungsverbund, the individual members in
the system must provide support and other types of intervention to fellow
members in financial difficulty (ranging, for instance, from injections of
liquidity, granting of loans, assumption of guarantees and infusions of
equity all the way to interventions in business strategy and effecting of
changes in management) and honour troubled members’ secured obliga-
tions to customers in the event defined in Section 93 (3.1) Austrian Banking
Act. It is not possible to determine in advance the actual scope of assis-
tance required of individual members of the Haftungsverbund Agreement.
Such assistance includes those amounts routinely made available by
members in the course of statutory deposit protection under Sections 93 ff
Austrian Banking Act.

V. Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements of
the Erste Bank Group
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Acquisitions and changes in the scope of consolidation

In April 2003 Erste Bank acquired another tranche of 3.17% of the
shares of Česká spořitelna. The purchase price of EUR 60.3 million result-
ed in additional goodwill of EUR 32.5 million (including acquisition ex-
penses) that is to be amortised over 15 years. Erste Bank now holds
97.96% of the total equity of Česká spořitelna. 

In May 2003 Erste Bank raised its stake in Kärntner Sparkasse
10% by way of a capital increase, bringing its total ownership of the savings
bank to 25%. This new investment amounted to EUR 54.9 million, giving
rise to additional goodwill of EUR 22.0 million that is being written off over
20 years. 

Two Croatian subsidiaries, Erste & Steiermärkische banka and
Riječka banka, were merged effective 1 August to form Erste & Steier-
märkische banka. This created the third largest bank in Croatia, with total
assets of EUR 2.5 billion at 31 December 2003. Erste Bank AG as of the
end of 2003 holds 77.29% of the shares of the combined institution. 

On 22 September 2003 Erste Bank bought an additional 2.82% of
the share capital of Slovenská sporiteľňa at a price of about EUR 14.5
million. This increased Erste Bank’s interest in its Slovak subsidiary from
67.19% to 70.01%. The resulting added goodwill was EUR 4.5 million and
is to be amortised over 15 years. 

On 25 September 2003 Erste Bank received the green light for the
acquisition of Hungary’s Postabank és Takarékpénztár Rt. (Postabank).
The purchase price for 99.97% of the shares of Postabank was HUF 101.3
billion (EUR 399.4 million), which represents 2.7 times the shareholders’
equity reported in the audited IFRS financial statements at 31 December
2002. The formal legal closing and the share transfer occurred on 16
December 2003; the inclusion of the new unit in Erste Bank’s Consolidated
Financial Statements took effect on the same date. After restructuring
provisions, remeasurement of assets at fair value and incidental acquisi-
tion costs, goodwill at 31 December 2003 was EUR 309.3 million, which
will be written off over 15 years. The resulting annual goodwill amortisation
expense for the Erste Bank Group is thus approximately EUR 20.6 million.
Total assets of Postabank at the end of 2003 were about EUR 1.7 billion.
Approximately 480,000 customers are currently served at 112 branches
by 1,804 employees. The integration of Postabank into Erste Bank Hungary
was launched in December 2003, immediately after the change in owner-
ship. 

Erste Bank continued its strategy of streamlining the branch net-
work within Austria’s savings bank group, a process which has already
been completed in the regions of Salzburg, Carynthia, Upper Austria, Sty-
ria and Tyrol. Effective 30 September 2003 Erste Bank AG transferred its

Vorarlberg region branches to Dornbirner Sparkasse AG, to Sparkasse
Bregenz Bank AG and to Sparkasse der Stadt Feldkirch, taking cash and
shares in payment. These transfers comprised four branches and one
commercial centre (an office specialising in small and medium-sized
corporate customers) and involved total assets of about EUR 0.4 billion.
As a consequence, the equity stake in Sparkasse Bregenz Bank AG in-
creased from 25% to 43.71%. The branch transfers, which generated net
sales proceeds (because of the cash portion of these transactions) of
approximately EUR 13 million plus the additional equity interest in Spar-
kasse Bregenz Bank AG, took effect in the financial statements from the
beginning of the fourth quarter of 2003. 

In 2000 Erste Bank’s New York branch concluded an investment
consulting contract with New-York-based High Peak Funding LLC. This com-
pany with a special legal form is owned by Global Securitization Services,
LLC (registered offices: New York), which does not form part of the Erste
Bank Group. Global Securitization Services LLC specialises in the mana-
gement and administration of companies whose business purpose is struc-
tured financing. The establishment of High Peak Funding allowed asset-
backed commercial papers to be issued for international investors and to
be invested in internationally rated American asset-backed securities. This
company’s investment policy is subject to stringent contractual rules under
which risk diversification (i.e. the spreading of risk in terms of the inter-
national ratings of the individual investments) is defined and continuous-
ly monitored. Based on the ratings assigned by Moody’s and Fitch, at least
80% of the overall portfolio must have a rating of between A1/A+ and
Aaa/AAA and at least 60% of the securities portfolio must be rated Aa2/AA
or better. The risk associated with this portfolio can thus be classified as
low. No investments may be made in instruments with a rating below
Baa3/BBB. Additionally, Erste Bank’s New York office extends short-term
credit facilities to this company for the eventuality that the investments can-
not be completely funded with the investment vehicles issued by High Peak
Funding. Erste Bank’s New York branch also has a financing obligation in
the event that a security is assigned a credit rating below Aa3/AA and that
High Peak Funding’s portfolio contains more than ten securities with this
rating. Erste Bank’s New York location has no guarantee or financing obli-
gation in the event that a securities issuer does not meet its payment obli-
gations, nor is it liable if High Peak Funding itself becomes insolvent. Erste
Bank’s New York branch receives commissions for the activities described
here. As of 31 December 2003 High Peak Funding’s financing portfolio
amounted to about USD 2.6 billion. Given the company’s particular legal
and ownership structure, it was not included in the Erste Bank Group’s Con-
solidated Financial Statements.

Shareholdings in significant companies and their representation in
the Consolidated Financial Statements are detailed in Note 49.

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS
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Relationship to AVS

Until recently DIE ERSTE österreichische Spar-Casse Anteilsver-
waltungssparkasse (AVS) was a pure holding company formed under the
Austrian Savings Bank Act. The general assembly of AVS decided on 
9 December 2003 to change AVS’s legal form to that of a private founda-
tion in accordance with current Austrian legal requirements. 

The conversion to a private foundation, now named “DIE ERSTE
österreichische Spar-Casse Privatstif tung”, was made retroactive to 
31 March 2003. In addition to supporting socially engaged and charitable
institutions, the purpose of the foundation is to hold a substantial equity
interest in Erste Bank. As the Managing Board of a private foundation must
have at least three members, Franz Ceska was appointed as the third
board member at the savings bank supervisory body meeting on 9 Decem-
ber, joining existing members Andreas Treichl and Reinhard Ortner. Franz
Ceska was previously general secretary of the Federation of Austrian
Industry until 1997 and Austrian ambassador to France until the end of
2001. At the end of 2003 this savings bank holding company and private
foundation held 34.01% of Erste Bank AG and is thus the largest share-
holder.

In accordance with a supervisory board decision of 11 March 2004,
Dietrich Karner (Chief Executive Officer of Generali Holding Vienna AG)
was appointed to the Managing Board of AVS, where he took the place of
Reinhard Ortner.

Accounting policies

Assets and liabilities stated in foreign currencies and pending
foreign-currency spot transactions are converted at the mean rate of ex-
change; forward exchange contracts are converted at the forward rate
prevailing at the balance sheet date.

In translating the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries report-
ing in foreign currencies, the mean rate of exchange at the balance sheet
date is applied in the case of the balance sheet and the annual average rate
is used for the income statement. Translation gains and losses resulting
from the inclusion of foreign subsidiaries in the Consolidated Financial
Statements are taken directly to retained earnings.

The hedging activities of the Erste Bank Group focus on measures
to protect net interest income and control net present value risk. Cash
flow hedges are used to mitigate interest rate risk. Fair value hedges are
employed to reduce net present value risk.

Basis of consolidation

All significant subsidiaries controlled by Erste Bank AG are in-
cluded in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Significant equity inte-
rests of between 20% and 50% (investments in associates) are stated at
equity. Investments in the insurance sector are stated pursuant to local
accounting standards owing to the special national legal requirements
and the fact that insurance companies in Austria do not yet report on an
IFRS basis

Proportionate consolidation is not applied in the Consolidated
Financial Statements (IAS 31.28) because joint ventures are of minor sig-
nificance in the Erste Bank Group’s portfolio of equity holdings.

Subsidiaries whose overall influence on the Group’s financial posi-
tion and results of operations is small and undertakings whose assets are
subject to restrictions under the Non-Profit Housing Act were not consoli-
dated. 

The remaining equity holdings are reported at fair value. If this
value cannot be reliably determined, they are reported at cost or, in the
event of material impairment, at remeasured amounts. 

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase
method by comparing the acquisition cost against the parent company’s
share in identifiable assets and liabilities at fair values. Goodwill arising
after 1 January 1995 is recognised as an asset and written off over its esti-
mated useful life. This is generally taken to be 20 years for domestic banks
and financial services providers, 15 years for foreign banks and financial
services providers and between 5 and 15 years for all other undertakings
(see Note 6, Intangible assets).

Minority interests are determined on the basis of proportionate
equity.

Intercompany balances, intercompany income and expenses and
intercompany profits and losses are eliminated if significant.

1) Loans and advances
Loans and advances to credit institutions and customers are report-

ed at cost. Credit losses which were not provided for are directly written off
in this item. 

Provisions are not set off against the corresponding loans and
advances but reported as a separate line item in the balance sheet.

Premiums and discounts – the differences between amounts paid
out and par values – are reported as interest income or interest expense
under other assets or other liabilities and attributed to the accounting
period in which they are earned or incurred, respectively.

Interest receivable is not recognised as revenue in the income
statement if, regardless of any legal claims, it is highly unlikely to be
collected. 

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS
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Unlisted securities (with the exception of negotiable credit substi-
tutes) are reported within the appropriate securities item (the trading port-
folio, investments available for sale or held-to-maturity portfolio). Since 
1 January 2001 (when application of IAS 39 began) an exception has
been made for asset swaps, which are since then reported within loans and
advances to credit institutions or loans and advances to customers.

2) Risk provisions for loans and advances 
The special risks inherent in the banking business are taken into

account by forming adequate specific provisions, which are made using the
same measurement methods throughout the Group and which reflect any
collateral where present. The transfer risk from lending to borrowers in
foreign countries (country risk) is measured using an internal rating system
which takes into consideration the respective economic, political and
regional situation.

The total amount of risk provisions for loans and advances, inas-
much as it relates to on-balance-sheet assets, is reported on the face of
the balance sheet under assets as a line item deduction below loans and
advances to credit institutions and loans and advances to customers. The
risk provisions for off-balance-sheet transactions (particularly warranties
and guarantees as well as other lending commitments) are included in
the item provisions.

3) Trading assets
Securities, derivatives and other financial instruments held for trad-

ing purposes are reported at their fair values at the balance sheet date.
Negative fair values are reported in the balance sheet in other liabilities.
Listed products are measured at prices quoted on the stock exchange. For
non-listed products the fair values are determined according to the present
value method or using suitable pricing models.

All realised and unrealised gains in such positions are reported in
the income statement within net trading result. Also included in this item
are interest and dividend income earned on, and funding interest incurred
on, the trading portfolio.

4) Investments available for sale
Securities which, under the Group’s internal guidelines and 

IAS 39, are assigned neither to the trading portfolio nor to financial invest-
ments are reported at fair value in this item. 

The gains and losses of this portfolio – realised or unrealised – are
included in other operating result.

5) Financial investments
This item includes bonds intended to be held to maturity and other

fixed income and floating-rate securities, provided they have a fixed matu-
rity. In compliance with IAS 39, these assets are assigned to the held-to-
maturity portfolio (HTM). Also included in this item are investments in
associates, ownership rights in non-consolidated companies and property
intended primarily for leasing to outside parties. Investments in associates
are accounted for by the equity method. Equity holdings that are intended
for sale in the short to medium term are stated at fair value (in the case of
listed investments, at the quoted price) at the balance sheet date.

Financial investments intended for leasing to outside parties are
reported at cost (less normal periodic depreciation in the case of leased
property) using the cost method permitted by IAS 40. In the case of impair-
ment the asset is written down as required. If the reasons which led to the
write-down cease to apply, the impairment loss is reversed to no more
than the original cost.

6) Intangible assets
Intangible assets consist mainly of goodwill arising on acquisition

and software, which are reported at cost less amortisation and impairment. 
Goodwill arising on acquisitions after 1 January 1995 is amortised

on a straight-line basis in the income statement (for domestic financial ser-
vice providers over 20 years, for foreign financial service providers over 
15 years, and for all other companies over 5 to 15 years). Goodwill from
acquisitions before 1 January 1995 was deducted from equity.

Software produced internally is recognised as an asset if the future
economic benefits associated with the software are likely to flow to the
Group and the cost can be reliably determined. Such software is amor-
tised over the estimated useful life, which is generally deemed to be 4 to
6 years, the same range assumed in the case of acquired software.

Impairment losses are recognised if they are believed to be per-
manent.

7) Tangible assets
Tangible assets – land and buildings, office furniture and equipment

– are stated at cost, less depreciation corresponding to their estimated use-
ful life. Permanent impairment losses are recognised. 

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS
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The assumed useful lives of tangible assets are presented in the
table below:

8) Leasing
The leasing agreements in force in the Erste Bank Group almost

exclusively represent finance leases, defined as leases in which all of the
risks and rewards associated with the leased asset are transferred to the
lessee. Pursuant to IAS 17, the lessor reports a receivable from the lessee
amounting to the present value of the contractually agreed payments and
taking into account any residual value.

In the case of operating leases (defined as leases where the risks
and rewards of ownership remain with the lessor), the leased asset is
reported by the lessor in financial investments and depreciated in accor-
dance with the principles applicable to the type of fixed assets involved.
Lease payments are recognised as income, spread over the term of the
lease.

9) Debts evidenced by certificates
Debts evidenced by certificates in issue are stated at their redemp-

tion value or par value. Bonds issued at a discount with long maturities (e.g.
zero coupon bonds) and similar debt securities in issue are reported at their
present value.

10) Provisions
In compliance with IAS 19 (Employee Benefits), long-term em-

ployee provisions (obligations for pensions as well as for termination and
jubilee benefits) are determined using the projected unit credit method.
Pension provisions now pertain only to already retired employees, whereas
the pension obligations for current staff were transferred to retirement
funds in previous years.

Future obligations are determined based on actuarial expert opin-
ions. The calculation takes into account not only those pensions and vested
rights to future pension payments known at the balance sheet date, but also
anticipates future rates of increase in salaries and pensions.

The most important assumptions used for the actuarial computa-
tion of pension obligations are an annual discount rate (long-term capital
market interest rate) of 5.5% and an annual rise in salaries of 3.5% for
active employees. The premises for pension provisions for retirees (for this
portion no transfer was made to a pension fund) are a discount rate of 5.5%
and an anticipated statutory increase in pension benefits of 1.5% annual-
ly. The assumed retirement age is 56.5 for women and 61.5 for men.

Obligations for termination and jubilee benefits are also calcu-
lated based on an annual discount of 5.5% and an average annual in-
crease in salary of 3.8%.

Long-term employee provisions (obligations for pensions as well as
for termination and jubilee benefits) were calculated in accordance with
current mortality tables (“AVÖ 1999 P – Rechnungsgrundlagen für die Pen-
sionsversicherung” by Pagler & Pagler), which reflect an increased average
life expectancy.

Other provisions are made for contingent liabilities payable to out-
side parties in the amount of the anticipated utilisation of benefits.

11) Taxes on income – deferred taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are included in the items other

assets and other provisions. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are stated
at the tax rates at which it is expected that the taxes will be paid to or
credited by the respective tax authorities.

In measuring deferred taxes, the balance sheet liability method is
used for temporary differences. Under this method the carrying amounts
are compared with the tax base of the respective Group company. Diffe-
rences between these amounts represent temporary differences for which
deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities are reported regardless of when
such differences cease to exist. The deferred taxes for the individual Group
companies are measured at the local future tax rates that are expected to
be applied. The deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities of any one
company are netted only if the taxes on income are levied by the same tax
authority. 

A deferred tax asset for unused tax losses is recognised if it is like-
ly that the entity will generate corresponding taxable profits in future
periods. Deferred taxes are not discounted.

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

Useful life in years
Buildings 25–50
Office furniture and equipment 5–20
Computer hardware 4–5
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Information on the Consolidated Balance Sheet

This item includes receivables from finance lease agreements total-
ling EUR 2,997 million (2002: EUR 2,904 million). The gross investment
in the leases is EUR 3,591 million (2002: EUR 3,613 million), and the relat-
ed unearned finance income totals EUR 601 million (2002: EUR 774 mil-
lion).

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

at at
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Cash in hand 1,243 1,303 
Balances with central banks 1,306 1,878 
Total 2,549 3,181

12) Cash and balances with central banks

at at
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Loans and advances to domestic credit institutions 2,193 3,462 
Loans and advances to foreign credit institutions 10,947 12,030 
Total 13,140 15,492 

13) Loans and advances to credit institutions

at at
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Loans and advances to domestic customers

Public sector 3,004 3,116 
Commercial customers 25,977 26,990 
Private customers 16,650 16,157 
Other 127 150 
Total loans and advances to domestic customers 45,758 46,413 

Loans and advances to foreign customers
Public sector 2,996 3,090 
Commercial customers 13,861 11,402 
Private customers 4,949 3,314 
Other 202 216 
Total loans and advances to foreign customers 22,008 18,022 

Total 67,766 64,435

14) Loans and advances to customers
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2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

Acquisition Transla-
at of com- tion Alloca- Reclassi- at

in EUR million 31 Dec 2002 panies 1 difference tions 2 Use Releases 2 fication 31 Dec 2003
Risk provisions 2,845 57 (31) 720 (549) (354) 3 2,691
Suspended interest 138 – (4) 35 (61) (25) (2) 81
Risk provisions for loans and advances 3 2,983 57 (35) 755 (610) (379) 1 2,772
Other risk provisions 4 30 – – 1 (1) (1) (3) 26
Provision for guarantees 51 – (1) 24 (1) (20) 4 57
Total 3,064 57 (36) 780 (612) (400) 2 2,855
1 Resulting largely from the consolidation of Postabank és Takarékpénztár Rt. (Postabank)
2 Additions to and releases of risk provisions pertaining to specific risks, country risks and guarantees are reported in the income statement in risk provisions for loans and advances. Suspended interest is

reported under net interest income and other risk provisions are included in other operating result.
3 Risk provisions for loans and advances are reported in item 4 of the asset side of the balance sheet.
4 Includes provisions for legal proceedings, risks associated with investments, realisation losses and liabilities for statements made in offering circulars.

15) Risk provisions

at at
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Bonds and other fixed-income securities

Listed 3,586 1,733 
Unlisted 190 423 

Shares and other variable-yield securities
Listed 89 115 
Unlisted 355 335 

Positive fair value of derivative financial instruments
Currency transactions 152 159 
Interest rate transactions 868 722 
Other transactions 19 –

Total 5,259 3,487 

16) Trading assets

at at
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Bonds and other fixed-income securities

Listed 4,136 3,528 
Unlisted 442 492 

Shares and other variable-yield securities
Listed 198 87 
Unlisted 2,603 2,629 

Total 7,379 6,736

17) Investments available for sale
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Other financial investments includes the carrying amount of assets
subject to operating lease agreements amounting to EUR 187 million
(2002: EUR 190 million).

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

at at
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Bonds and other fixed-income securities

Listed 14,657 11,950 
Unlisted 4,475 3,800 

Variable-yield securities
Listed 70 264 
Unlisted 670 692 

Equity holdings
In non-consolidated subsidiaries 123 72 
In associates accounted for at equity

Credit institutions 63 80 
Non-credit institutions 72 95 

In other investments
Credit institutions 85 102 
Non-credit institutions 154 114 

Investments of insurance companies 4,989 4,290 
Other financial investments 1,096 1,113 
Total 26,454 22,572

18) Financial investments

Acquisition
Currency of com-

At cost translation panies1 Additions Disposals At cost
in EUR million 1 Jan 2003 (+/–) (+) (+) (–) 31 Dec 2003
Intangible assets 2,249.7 (7.7) 29.1 826.0 (369.3) 2,727.8 

Goodwill 1,417.0 0.2 (0.6) 416.1 (21.9) 1,810.8 
Other 832.6 (7.9) 29.7 409.9 (347.4) 917.0 

Tangible assets 3,247.1 (33.2) 50.0 913.4 (648.4) 3,529.0 
Land and buildings 1,910.8 (19.1) 9.0 219.1 (68.5) 2,051.3 
Office furniture and equipment 1,336.3 (14.1) 41.0 694.3 (579.9) 1,477.7 

Financial investments 1,982.3 (6.1) 2.0 479.5 (421.0) 2,036.7 
Non-consolidated subsidiaries 111.9 (0.6) 0.1 114.5 (55.7) 170.2 
Associates accounted for at equity 198.8 0.3 0.0 65.4 (100.1) 164.4 
Other equity holdings 294.3 (0.5) 1.9 152.8 (152.8) 295.7 
Other financial investments
(particularly property used by third parties) 1,377.4 (5.3) 0.0 146.8 (112.4) 1,406.4 

Total 7,479.1 (46.9) 81.2 2,218.8 (1,438.7) 8,293.5 

19) Movement of fixed assets and financial investments
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Sundr y assets per tain largely to payments on account for
construction in progress and capitalised funding costs.

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

Amortisation
Accumulated Currency and depre- Carrying Carrying
depreciation translation ciation Impairment amounts amounts

in EUR million (–) (+/–) (–) 2 (–) 3 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Intangible assets (859.7) (4.7) (234.7) (17.2) 1,868.1 1,595.8 

Goodwill (328.2) 0.2 (95.6) 0.0 1,482.7 1,198.5 
Other (531.6) (4.9) (139.1) (17.2) 385.4 397.2 

Tangible assets (1,715.0) (19.5) (207.5) (23.9) 1,814.0 1,866.0 
Land and buildings (673.0) (13.9) (61.0) (17.8) 1,378.4 1,389.8 
Office furniture and equipment (1,042.0) (5.6) (146.5) (6.1) 435.7 476.2 

Financial investments (442.9) (5.7) (42.4) (22.0) 1,593.8 1,576.6 
Non-consolidated subsidiaries (47.4) (0.5) (2.1) (11.1) 122.8 72.2 
Associates accounted for at equity (29.9) 0.3 0.0 (2.9) 134.5 175.3 
Other equity holdings (55.8) (0.4) (2.7) (5.3) 239.9 215.8 
Other financial investments 
(particularly property used by third parties) (309.8) (5.1) (37.6) (2.7) 1,096.6 1,113.3 

Total (3,017.6) (29.9) (484.6) (63.1) 5,275.9 5,038.4 
1 Arising largely from the first-time consolidation of Postabank
2 Including depreciation of companies not engaged in the banking business which is reported under other operating result.
3 Impairment is included in other operating result.

at at
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Income from accrued interest and commissions 1,341 1,144 
Prepaid expenses 101 42 
Deferred taxes 362 385 
Securities lending and other repurchase agreements 1,258 1,157 
Positive fair values of derivatives (banking book) 548 712 
Sundry assets 1,507 1,400 
Total 5,117 4,840

20) Other assets



ERSTE BANK 2003 ANNUAL REPORT62

In compliance with IAS 12.39, no deferred taxes were calculated for
temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries in the amount
of EUR 285.9 million (2002: EUR 267.5 million).

Deferred tax assets are reported under other assets; deferred tax
liabilities are shown under provisions.

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Temporary differences relate to the following items:
Loans and advances to customers (1) (1) 22 22
Investments available for sale 35 – (78) (52)
Financial investments 78 69 (7) (3)
Tangible fixed assets 14 16 (10) 1
Amounts owed to customers 5 – (24) (22)
Long-term employee provisions 66 84 27 34
Other provisions 25 26 (12) (9)
Tax loss carry forward 123 167 5 6
Other 17 24 (30) (46)
Total 362 385 (107) (69)

21) Deferred tax assets and liabilities

at at
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Amounts owed to domestic credit institutions 5,583 6,860 
Amounts owed to foreign credit institutions 20,121 19,565 
Total 25,704 26,425 

22) Amounts owed to credit institutions

Domestic 31 Dec Foreign countries 31 Dec Total 31 Dec 
in EUR million 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002
Savings deposits 29,587 28,842 7,748 8,038 37,335 36,880 
Other

Public sector 470 287 946 911 1,416 1,198 
Commercial customers 6,151 5,718 5,070 4,715 11,221 10,434 
Private customers 4,293 3,792 9,915 8,316 14,208 12,108 
Sundry 166 194 493 495 659 688 
Total other 11,080 9,991 16,424 14,437 27,504 24,428 

Total 40,666 38,833 24,173 22,475 64,839 61,308 

23) Amounts owed to customers

at at
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Mortgage and municipal bonds 1,222 1,067 
Other bonds 11,527 9,464 
Certificates of deposit 1,637 1,115 
Profit-sharing rights 91 86 
Other certificates of deposits/name certificates 1,695 1,689 
Other 772 770 
Total 16,944 14,191 

24) Debts evidenced by certificates
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For 2003 the size of the debt-issuance programme (DIP) launched
in 1998 was set at EUR 15 billion. The DIP is a programme for issuing debt
instruments in any currency, with a wide array of available structures and
maturities.

In 2003 the DIP floated 47 new issues with a total volume of about
EUR 2.8 billion. As of 31 December 2003 the DIP’s utilisation rate was
about 67%.

In order to further diversify its funding mix, Erste Bank expanded its
Euro-commercial paper programme by adding the ability to issue certifi-
cates of deposit. The size of the programme remains EUR 3 billion. In 2003
Erste Bank placed 63 issues with total proceeds of approximately 
EUR 2.4 billion. Redemptions approximately balanced new issues.

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

at at
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Long-term employee provisions 1,097 1,117 
Other provisions 5,269 4,371 
Total 6,366 5,488 

25) Provisions

Applying the current AVÖ 1999 P mortality tables (“AVÖ 1999 P –
Rechnungsgrundlagen für die Pensionsversicherung”, by Pagler & Pagler),
which assume a longer life expectancy, as of 31 December 2003 the
present value of the pension obligations for future benefits was EUR 822 mil-

lion. The difference of EUR 90 million between this amount and the pension
provisions reported in the balance sheet essentially results from the use
of the current mortality tables.

Pension Termination Jubilee Total long-term
in EUR million provisions provisions provisions provisions
Net present value at 31 Dec 2001 482 135 30 647 
Unrecognised actuarial losses (corridor) (46) – – (46) 
Long-term employee provisions at 31 Dec 2001 436 135 30 601 
New commitments from acquisition of companies 351 153 16 520 
Service cost – 13 2 15 
Interest cost 43 15 2 60 
Payments (71) (11) (7) (89) 
Actuarial gains/losses 68 9 1 78 
Net present value at 31 Dec 2002 827 314 44 1,185 
Unrecognised actuarial losses (corridor) (68) – – (68)
Long-term employee provisions at 31 Dec 2002 759 314 44 1,117
New commitments from acquisition of companies – – – –
Service cost – 13 2 15 
Interest cost 43 17 2 62 
Payments (70) (8) (4) (82) 
Actuarial gains/losses 90 (25) 10 75 
Net present value at 31 Dec 2003 822 311 54 1,187 
Unrecognised actuarial losses (corridor) (90) – – (90)
Long-term employee provisions at 31 Dec 2003 732 311 54 1,097

a) Long-term employee provisions
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rities transactions, derivatives and ongoing payment transactions as well
as other current accounts.
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Acquisiton
at of com- Currency Alloca- Reclassi- at

in EUR million 31 Dec 2002 panies 2 translation tions Use Releases fications 31 Dec 2003
Provision for taxes 1 121 – (2) 158 (37) (18) – 222 
Provision for off-balance-sheet 
and other risks 81 – (1) 25 (2) (21) 1 83 
Insurance reserves 4,072 – (7) 900 (136) – – 4,829 
Sundry other provisions 3 97 22 (1) 73 (17) (37) (2) 135 
Total 4,371 22 (11) 1,156 (192) (76) (1) 5,269 
1 Regarding deferred tax liabilities, see Note 21.
2 The additions result largely from the inclusion of Postabank.
3 This item consists mainly of restructuring provisions and provisions for litigations.

b) Other provisions 

at at
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Liabilities relating to trading

Currency transactions 113 69 
Interest rate transactions 769 587 
Other transactions 40 1 

Deferred income 242 246 
Accrued interest and commissions 633 657 
Securities lending and other repurchase agreements 1,290 1,164 
Negative fair values of derivatives (banking book) 514 747 
Sundry liabilities 1,914 1,749 
Total 5,515 5,220 

26) Other liabilities

at at
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Subordinated liabilities 1,434 1,765 
Supplementary capital 2,104 1,622 
Total 3,538 3,387 

27) Subordinated capital
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28) Shareholders’ equity

Subscribed share capital as at 31 December 2003 was EUR 435.6
million (2002: EUR 434.8 million), consisting of 59,943,808 voting bearer
shares (ordinary shares) with no par value.

In connection with the IPO in 1997, stock options were issued to
management-level staff of the Erste Bank Group. The number of stock
options that became vested (in other words, that option holders were

actually permitted to exercise) after the vesting period depended on the
return on equity of the Erste Bank Group in 2000. A return on equity of
10.2% or more meant that all share options became vested. This was in fact
the outcome, as the Erste Bank Group’s return on equity in 2000 was
12.3%.

The timeframe for exercising the options was 30 June 2001 to 
30 June 2003; the length of the lock-up period, during which shares
purchased under the options could not be sold, was one year.

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

Staff Senior management Managing Board
Number of options exercised by 31 December 2002 132,114 132,579 38,000
Number of options exercised in 2003 financial year 138,288 109,290 4,000
Total exercised options 270,402 241,869 42,000
Spread between exercise price and closing market price 
when exercised in 2003 financial year (in EUR) 26.35–33.34 12.51–31.89 24.78–33.44

Managing Board members Options granted Options exercised
Andreas Treichl 20,000 20,000
Elisabeth Bleyleben-Koren 16,000 3,000
Reinhard Ortner 16,000 16,000
Franz Hochstrasser 3,000 3,000

By 30 June 2003 the following numbers of options were exercised:

In addition, a new employee stock ownership programme (ESOP)
and management stock option plan (MSOP) were initiated in April 2002.

The 2002 MSOP comprises a maximum total of 1,100,000 ordinary
shares of Erste Bank, including 60,000 options (12,000 per person) for
the then five members of the Managing Board and 8,000 options for the
sixth member, who joined the Board on 1 January 2003. The remaining
1,032,000 options are designated for distribution to eligible management
staff and other eligible employees of the Erste Bank Group.

Conditions: Each of the options, which are granted free of charge,
entitles the holder to purchase one share; the transfer of options inter
vivos is not permitted. Those eligible must have placed a binding order for
the maximum number of shares (100) under the 2002 ESOP. The options
granted in 2002 are delivered in three tranches by crediting to recipients’
accounts: For the Managing Board and other executives, on 24 April 2002,

1 April 2003 and 1 April 2004; for performance leaders among employ-
ees, on 1 June 2002, 1 June 2003 and 1 June 2004. The grant price (the
exercise price) for all three tranches was set at the average quoted price
of Erste Bank shares in March 2002 (rounded down to the nearest half
euro), which was EUR 66 per share. The term of the options begins at
delivery date and ends on the value date of the exercise window (describ-
ed below) of the fifth calendar year after delivery date. Every year, de-
clarations to exercise may be submitted beginning on the day after publica-
tion of the preliminary consolidated financial results for the previous
financial year, but no earlier than 1 April and no later than 30 April of the
year. This period represents the exercise window. It is followed by the lock-
up period, which ends on 10 May of the year following exercise of the
option. Up to 15% of the purchased shares may be sold during the lock-
up period.
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Under the 2002 MSOP, 768 options were exercised in April 2003.
At a grant price of EUR 66, the proceeds was EUR 50,688, of which 
EUR 5,581.27 was allocated to subscribed share capital (item 9 in
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity) and EUR 45,106.73 was assigned to
additional paid-in capital (item 10 in Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity).
Of the options exercised, 550 represented other management and 
218 were exercised by other staff. The spread between the grant price and
the market price at the time of exercising in the year under review ranged
from EUR 4.70 to EUR 5.75 for other management and from EUR 3.20 to
EUR 5.75 for other staff.

The grant price of the individual options – the average of all closing
prices recorded in March 2002 – rounded to the nearest half euro was 
EUR 66. The estimated values of the options at the balance sheet date of
31 December 2003 were EUR 35.03 for each option credited in 2002 and
EUR 36.83 for each credited in 2003. 

Under the 2003 ESOP, between 12 and 23 May 2003 employees
subscribed 117,926 shares at a grant price of EUR 55.50. Of the issue
proceeds of EUR 6,544,893, EUR 857,001.67 was added to subscribed
share capital (item 9 in Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity) and 
EUR 5,687,891.33 was assigned to additional paid-in capital (item 10 in
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity). The 2003 ESOP is thus completed.

Of the 117,926 ordinary shares subscribed in the 2003 ESOP,
employees of Erste Bank bought 81,150. 

The shares subscribed by Managing Board members under the
2003 ESOP were purchased by the following individuals:

Authorised and conditional capital remaining 
at 31 December 2003

Clauses 4.4. as well as 4.4.1. and 4.4.2. of the Articles of Asso-
ciation authorise, for a five-year period from the date of registration of 
the amendment to the Ar ticles of Association in the Commercial 
Register, the issuing of up to 20,000,000 shares with a par value of 
EUR 145,345,668.34. The Managing Board is authorised by the Articles
to exclude the shareholders’ subscription rights, with the consent of the
Supervisory Board, for the issue of shares against non-cash contributions
or inasmuch as the capital increase serves to issue shares to staff, senior
executives and Managing Board members of Erste Bank or of its sub-
sidiaries. 

Clause 4.4.3. of the Articles of Association authorises, for a period
of f ive years from the date of registration of the amendment of the
Company’s Articles of Association in the Commercial Register, the issue of
EUR 18,168,208.54 of capital in the form of 2,500,000 ordinary bearer
or registered shares to be used to grant share options to employees,
management-level staff and members of the Managing Board of Erste
Bank or of its subsidiaries. This conditional capital increase was 
conducted to the extent that, under the 2002 ESOP and MSOP, a total of
252,159 bearer shares were subscribed in 2002 (with a par value of 
EUR 1,832,510.92) and 118,694 bearer shares were subscribed in 2003
(par value of EUR 862,582.94). Authorised but unissued capital thus now
amounts to 2,129,147 shares.

At the extraordinary general meeting on 21 August 1997 a res-
olution was passed to carr y out a conditional capital increase of 
EUR 43,603,700.50 by issuing 6,000,000 ordinary bearer or registered
shares. The capital increase is to be performed only to the extent that
holders of convertible bonds exercise conversion or subscription rights.

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

2002 2003
Options Options Total

Managing Board 20,000 24,000 44,000
thereof Andreas Treichl 4,000 4,000

Elisabeth Bleyleben-Koren 4,000 4,000
Reinhard Ortner 4,000 4,000
Franz Hochstrasser 4,000 4,000
Erwin Erasim 4,000 4,000
André Horovitz – 4,000

Other management 174,000 180,500 354,500
Other staff 93,211 116,959 210,170
Options credited to date1 287,211 321,459 608,670
Options credited but not yet exercised 607,902
1 This leaves a maximum of 491,330 options that can be credited for 2004, including 24,000 options for the Managing Board.

Shares
Elisabeth Bleyleben-Koren 100
Reinhard Orner 100
Erwin Erasim 100

The options credited to recipients’ accounts to date are distributed
as follows:
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Contingent upon the Supervisory Board’s consent, another employ-
ee share ownership plan (the 2004 ESOP) is to be introduced in the 2004
financial year that will draw on the remaining authorised capital under the
still valid authorisation.

The qualifying capital of the Erste Bank Group as determined under
the Austrian Banking Act had the composition shown below:

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

at at
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Subscribed capital 436 435
Reserves 3,940 3,839
Less intangible assets (464) (474)
Core capital (Tier 1) 3,912 3,800
Eligible subordinated liabilities 2,696 2,764
Revaluation reserve 198 185
Qualifying supplementary capital (Tier 2) 2,894 2,949
Short-term subordinated capital (Tier 3) 340 325
Total qualifying capital 7,146 7,074
Deductions according to Section 23 (13) and Section 29 (1–2) Austrian Banking Act (137) (91)
Total eligible qualifying capital 7,009 6,983
Capital requirement 5,315 5,146
Surplus capital 1,694 1,837
Cover ratio (in %) 132 136
Tier 1 ratio (in %) 6.3 6.3 
Solvency ratio (in %) 10.7 11.0 

The risk-weighted basis pursuant to Section 22 (1) Austrian Banking
Act and the resulting capital requirement showed the following changes:

at at
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Risk-weighted basis acc. to Section 22 Austrian Banking Act 62,188 60,257 

of which 8% minimum capital requirement 4,975 4,821 
Capital requirement for open foreign exchange position acc. to Section 26 Austrian Banking Act 14 9 
Capital requirement for the Trading Book acc. to Section 22 b (1) Austrian Banking Act 326 316 
Capital requirement 5,315 5,146
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Information on the Consolidated Income Statement

Net interest income includes the net interest income of EUR 139
million (2002: EUR 124 million) from finance leases.

The above figures do not include the allocations to and releases of
risk provisions netted in net interest income (suspended interest). See
the explanation provided in Note 15.

The allocations to and releases of other risk provisions that do not
pertain to lendings are included in other operating result (see Note 35).

The above figures include the allocations to and release of provi-
sions for off-balance-sheet credit risks as well as for sundry risks.

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

in EUR million 2003 2002
Interest income from

Lending and money market transactions with credit institutions 788.0 1,016.3 
Lending and money market transactions with customers 2,883.7 3,112.8 
Fixed-income securities 1,154.0 1,190.3 

Other interest and similar income 70.8 99.9 
Current income from

Shares and other variable-yield securities 163.9 169.3 
Investments
– in non-consolidated subsidiaries 10.7 12.7 
– in associates accounted for at equity 56.9 22.5 
– in other investments 14.2 10.9 
Property used by outside parties 67.3 64.9 

Total interest and similar income 5,209.5 5,699.6 
Interest expenses for

Amounts owed to credit institutions (591.4) (856.8) 
Amounts owed to customers (1,214.9) (1,525.5) 
Debts evidenced by certificates (577.2) (615.4) 
Subordinated capital (223.3) (227.4) 
Other (15.9) (11.5) 

Total interest and similar expenses (2,622.7) (3,236.6) 
Net interest income 2,586.8 2,463.0 

29) Net interest income

in EUR million 2003 2002
Allocation to risk provisions for loans and advances (745.1) (711.7) 
Release of risk provisions for loans and advances 374.9 380.3 
Direct write-offs of loans and advances (59.8) (90.0) 
Amounts received against written-off loans and advances 23.6 15.0 
Total (406.4) (406.4)

30) Risk provisions for loans and advances
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Net trading result represents the profits on trading activities and is
determined on the basis of fair value (realised and unrealised). Listed pro-
ducts are valued at the prices quoted on the balance sheet date. The fair
values of non-listed products are measured by the net present value method

or using suitable options pricing models. All realised and unrealised gains
are reported in the income statement within net trading result. Also in-
cluded in this item are interest and dividend income earned on the trading
portfolio, and the portfolio’s funding cost.

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

in EUR million 2003 2002
Lending business 160.1 151.4 
Payment transfers 384.7 344.7 
Securities transactions 248.8 232.7 

of which investment fund transactions 111.2 105.8 
custodial fees 43.9 43.4 
brokerage 93.6 83.5 

Insurance business 59.0 47.5 
Building society brokerage 38.3 28.3 
Foreign exchange transactions 50.5 49.9 
Other 55.2 89.8 
Total 996.6 944.3 

31) Net commission income

in EUR million 2003 2002
Securities and derivatives trading 97.6 64.5 
Foreign exchange transactions 117.0 102.9 
Total 214.6 167.4 

32) Net trading result

in EUR million 2003 2002
Personnel expenses (1,422.3) (1,373.2) 
Other administrative expenses (691.9) (762.6) 
Depreciation and amortisation (346.6) (296.2) 
Total (2,460.8) (2,432.0) 

33) General administrative expenses

in EUR million 2003 2002
Wages and salaries (1,031.4) (1,006.4) 
Compulsory social security contributions (273.5) (259.9) 
Long-term employee provisions (62.0) (85.0) 
Other personnel expenses (55.4) 1 (21.9) 
Total (1,422.3) (1,373.2) 
1 This includes EUR 32.0 million from one-time payments made to pension funds under Section 48a of the Austrian Pension Fund Act as amended.

Personnel expenses
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In addition to the headcount given above, during the reporting
period an average of 68 people (2002: 223) were employed in Group
companies that are non-banks (hotel and recreation segment).

At the end of 2003, loans and advances to members of the Manag-
ing Board totalled EUR 150 thousand (2002: EUR 157 thousand). Loans
to members of the Supervisory Board amounted to EUR 2,397 thousand
(2002: EUR 2,323 thousand). The applicable interest rates and other
terms (maturity dates and collateralisation) are in line with typical market
practice. In 2003 members of the Managing Board made loan repayments
totalling EUR 11 thousand (2002: EUR 54 thousand) and members of the
Supervisory Board repaid EUR 218 thousand (2002: EUR 2 thousand) on
loans.

In 2003 current members of the Managing Board received re-
muneration totalling EUR 4,973 thousand (2002: EUR 3,021 thousand),
which represented 0.35% of total personnel expenses. 

This pay included EUR 1,292 thousand of per formance-linked
bonuses; it did not include the options granted on Erste Bank shares. 

In financial 2003, EUR 599 thousand (2002: EUR 587 thousand)
was paid out to former members of the Managing Board or their surviving
dependants.

The total emoluments paid to members of the Supervisory Board
of Erste Bank last year amounted to EUR 467 thousand (2002: EUR 459
thousand). For legal services in the pursuit of debt recovery and for various
legal consulting to companies of the Erste Bank Group, the law firm Braun-
egg, Hoffmann & Partner in Vienna last year was paid a total of about 
EUR 153 thousand (including VAT, court fees and miscellaneous cash
expenses).

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

in EUR million 2003 2002
Employed by Group 36,661 37,152 
Domestic 15,213 15,532 

thereof Haftungsverbund savings banks 6,958 7,061 
Foreign countries 21,448 21,620 

thereof Česká spořitelna Group 12,823 13,084 
Slovenská sporiteľňa 5,300 5,570 
other subsidiaries 3,325 2,966 

Average number of employees on payroll during the financial year (in full-time equivalents)

in EUR million 2003 2002
IT expenses (162.1) (208.9) 
Expenses for office space (140.7) (133.2) 
Office operating expenses (135.7) (145.3) 
Advertising/marketing (103.5) (106.4) 
Legal and consulting costs (71.4) (74.8) 
Sundry administrative expenses (78.5) (94.0) 
Total (691.9) (762.6)

Other administrative expenses

in EUR million 2003 2002
Software and other intangible assets (132.3) (98.6) 
Real estate used by the Group (60.0) (71.1) 
Office furniture and equipment and sundry tangible assets (154.3) (126.5) 
Total (346.6) (296.2) 

Depreciation and amortisation
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Sundry operating income/expenses consist primarily of items not
attributable to the ordinary activities of a banking group, for example rental
income, operating costs, cost of goods purchased for resale, sales revenues
from providers of banking support services and from other non-banks,
and licensing income.

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

in EUR million 2003 2002
Premiums earned 937.1 880.7 
Investment income from technical business 252.4 160.5 
Claims incurred (285.8) (291.8) 
Change in underwriting reserves (693.6) (564.1) 
Expenses for policyholder bonuses (67.7) (42.1) 
Operating expenses (102.9) (89.0) 
Sundry underwriting profit/loss (10.0) (58.2) 
Underwriting profit/loss 29.5 (4.0) 
Financial profit/loss 255.8 172.9 
Carry forward – underwriting (252.4) (160.5) 
Total 32.9 8.4 

34) Net income from insurance business

in EUR million 2003 2002
Other operating income

Income from measurement/sale of securities held to maturity 14.2 17.2 
Income from real estate/properties 45.5 12.9 
Income from release of other provisions/risks 7.5 13.7 
Sundry operating income 94.3 94.0 

Total other operating income 161.5 137.8 
Other operating expenses

Expenses from measurement/sale of securities held to maturity (15.3) (12.4) 
Losses from real estate/properties (27.3) (18.7) 
Amortisation of goodwill (81.2) (58.4) 
Expenses from allocation of other provisions/risks (26.4) (9.2) 
Expenses from making deposit insurance contributions (41.5) (36.3)
Other taxes (10.7) (12.7)
Provisions for litigations (19.7) (20.7)
One-off expenses for non-capitalised software (33.4)
Sundry operating expenses (108.4) (109.6)

Total other operating expenses (363.9) (278.0)
Other operating result

Results from measurement/sale of securities held as investments available for sale 9.6 (5.0)
Results from measurement/sale of shares in unconsolidated subsidiaries (9.3) 65.0

Total other operating result (202.1) (80.2)

35) Other operating result
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36) Taxes on income
The taxes on income are made up of the current taxes on income

calculated in each of the Group companies based on the results as repor-

The following table reconciles the transformation of pre-tax profit
and the Austrian tax rate to the income taxes reported in the income
statement:

At the Annual General Meeting on 4 May 2004 the Managing Board
will propose that shareholders be paid a dividend of EUR 1.50 per share
(2002: EUR 1.24 per share) and that the remaining retained profit under
Section 65 (5) Austrian Stock Corporation Act be carried forward.

ted for tax purposes, corrections to taxes on income for previous years, and
the change in deferred taxes.

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

in EUR million 2003 2002
Current tax expense (179.0) (101.3) 
Deferred tax expense (45.2) (50.1) 
Total (224.2) (151.4) 

in EUR million 2003 2002
Pre-tax profit for the year 761.6 664.6 
Income tax expense for the financial year at the domestic statutory tax rate (34%) (258.9) (226.0) 
Impact of different foreign tax rates 14.7 8.7 
Tax reductions due to tax-exempt earnings of investments and other tax-exempt income 178.4 100.1 
Tax increases due to non-deductible expenses (137.4) (57.4) 
Tax expense/income not attributable to the reporting period (21.0) 23.2 
Reported taxes on income (224.2) (151.4) 

in EUR million 2003 2002
Net profit after minority interests 353.3 255.2 
Allocation to reserves (263.4) (181.0) 
Profit carried forward 0.2 0.2 
Distributable profit of the parent company 90.1 74.4 

37) Appropriation of net profit
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38) Segment reporting

New organisation of segment reporting by core business
activities

In order to further improve the transparency of the presentation, the
segment reporting of the Erste Bank Group has been revised, with the pri-
mary objective of aligning the segmentation more clearly with the markets
in which the Group operates. In large part this is intended to emphasise the
strongly regional nature of the retail business. The new segment structure
has been in use since the report on the first quarter of 2003.

The first-order segmentation now consists of the four market seg-
ments Austria, Central Europe, International Business and Group Corpo-
rate Centre. The significant changes from the old presentation are the fol-
lowing:

Austria segment: The Austria segment comprises all business
units and subsidiaries operating in Austria. It is further segmented along
business activity lines into Savings Banks, Retail and Real Estate, Large Cor-
porate Customers and Trading and Investment Banking. 

The treatment of the savings banks in the segmental structure was
adapted in two important ways. Those savings banks majority-owned by
Erste Bank (Tiroler Sparkasse, Salzburger Sparkasse and Sparkasse Hain-
burg-Bruck-Neusiedl) were assigned to the Retail and Real Estate seg-
ment. All savings banks in which Erste Bank holds minority interests or
which are consolidated under the Haftungsverbund Agreement were pla-
ced in the Savings Banks segment.

The former Asset Gathering segment was dissolved and its contri-
bution to the results split up between its constituent functional segments,
with the largest portion assigned to the Retail and Real Estate segment.

International Business has been taken out of Large Corporate
Customers and is now shown separately.

Central Europe segment: The Central Europe market segment,
which is subdivided into the entities operating in the individual countries,
encompasses the results of Česká spořitelna (the Czech segment), Slovens-
ká sporiteľňa (Slovak segment), Erste Bank Hungary (Hungary segment)
and Erste & Steiermärkische banka (Croatia segment).

International Business segment: This reporting segment includes
both the International Business unit in Vienna and the commercial lending
business of the London, New York, and Hong Kong profit centres. In the past
these profit centres were treated as a business unit within the Large
Corporate Customers segment. The results of the treasury activities of the
New York and Hong Kong branches are presented in Trading and Investment
Banking.

Corporate Centre segment: As in the past, Corporate Centre repre-
sents all performance components that cannot be attributed directly to
other segments, as well as consolidating entries.

The allocation of results to the segments is based on the profit
contribution report at the business unit level.

Net interest income is determined based on oppor tunity cost
(market spread, maturity mismatch), with the contribution from maturity
transformation attributed entirely to the Treasury unit. Fees and commis-
sions, net trading result and other operating result are allocated to busi-
ness units according to where they are generated. 

General administrative expenses are derived from activity-based
costing (product cost, indirect costs and general overhead) at the business
unit level.

Risk provisions include the actual credit risk costs recognised for
each business unit.

New segmentation by geographic markets
The following regional segmentation underlies this segmental

analysis:
> Austria
> Central Europe (Czech Republic, Slovak Republic, Hungary, Croatia)
> Rest of Europe
> North America
> Central and South America
> Asia
> Other

The Austria geographic segment captures the contributions gene-
rated in Austria and Corporate Centre, subdivided by core business areas.
The Central Europe segment represents the contributions from the re-
spective subsidiaries. 

The International segment, partitioned by core business activities,
is distributed between the geographic segments according to customer
location.

The prior-year data was restated accordingly.

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS
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2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

Total Austria Central Europe 
in EUR million 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002
Net interest income 2,586.8 2,463.1 1,622.8 1,604.2 829.4 741.7 
Risk provisions for loans/advances (406.4) (406.4) (374.6) (363.1) (9.7) 3.9 
Net commission income 996.6 944.1 680.2 628.1 345.3 297.2 
Net trading result 214.6 167.4 137.1 123.8 71.2 56.6 
General administrative expenses (2,460.7) (2,432.0) (1,655.6) (1,633.2) (766.7) (705.2) 
Income from insurance business 32.9 8.4 25.9 6.1 10.2 2.3 
Other operating result (202.1) (80.1) (26.4) (67.0) (167.1) (57.9) 
Pre-tax profit for the year 761.6 664.6 409.4 298.9 312.6 338.7 
less taxes (224.2) (151.7) (128.4) (68.1) (78.1) (89.0) 
less minority interests (184.1) (257.9) (112.3) (131.4) (44.7) (102.0) 
Net profit after minority interests 353.3 255.1 168.7 99.4 189.7 147.7 
Average risk-weighted assets 61,888.0 60,511.9 44,771.0 44,674.8 10,162.1 9,157.6 
Average attributed equity 2,578.2 2,015.5 1,549.1 1,183.1 611.0 481.3 
Cost-income ratio (in %) 64.2% 67.9% 67.1% 69.1% 61.0% 64.2%
ROE based on net profit after minority interests (in %) 13.7% 12.7% 10.9% 8.4% 31.1% 30.7%
Funding costs (142.0) (129.4) (73.0) (57.8) (44.4) (36.9) 
Amortisation of goodwill (81.1) (58.5) (18.5) (12.9) (54.4) (38.1)

Segment reporting/overview

International Business Corporate Centre
in EUR million 2003 2002 2003 2002
Net interest income 146.8 134.7 (12.1) (17.5) 
Risk provisions for loans/advances (26.1) (51.9) 3.9 4.7 
Net commission income 21.1 15.2 (50.0) 3.6 
Net trading result 0.1 0.0 6.2 (13.0) 
General administrative expenses (34.0) (38.4) (4.4) (55.1) 
Income from insurance business 0.0 0.0 (3.2) 0.0 
Other operating result (13.8) 3.6 5.2 41.2 
Pre-tax profit for the year 94.1 63.3 (54.5) (36.2) 
less taxes (24.0) (11.8) 6.3 17.3 
less minority interests 0.0 0.0 (27.1) (24.5) 
Net profit after minority interests 70.1 51.4 (75.3) (43.4) 
Average risk-weighted assets 6,387.5 6,128.9 567.3 550.6 
Average attributed equity 384.0 322.1 34.1 28.9 
Cost-income ratio (in %) 20.2% 25.6% – –
ROE based on net profit after minority interests (in %) 18.3% 16.0% – –
Funding costs 0.0 0.0 (24.5) (34.7) 
Amortisation of goodwill 0.0 0.0 (8.3) (7.4) 
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2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

Austria Savings Banks Retail and Real Estate
in EUR million 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002
Net interest income 1,622.8 1,604.2 841.3 866.6 521.8 531.0 
Risk provisions for loans/advances (374.6) (363.1) (198.1) (186.6) (132.4) (123.7) 
Net commission income 680.2 628.1 321.5 267.5 264.1 266.7 
Net trading result 137.1 123.8 29.3 24.6 16.7 17.3 
General administrative expenses (1,655.6) (1,633.2) (820.5) (794.1) (653.0) (655.3) 
Income from insurance business 25.9 6.1 0.0 0.0 25.9 6.1 
Other operating result (26.4) (67.0) (22.3) (10.8) (2.5) (39.9) 
Pre-tax profit for the year 409.4 298.9 151.3 167.1 40.5 2.1 
less taxes (128.4) (68.1) (46.7) (40.8) (15.5) (1.4) 
less minority interests (112.3) (131.4) (101.5) (122.9) (5.3) (0.2) 
Net profit after minority interests 168.7 99.4 3.1 3.5 19.8 0.5 
Average risk-weighted assets 44,771.0 44,674.8 22,179.7 22,164.3 12,185.8 12,141.3 
Average attributed equity 1,549.1 1,183.1 190.8 0.0 732.7 638.1 
Cost-income ratio (in %) 67.1% 69.1% 68.8% 68.5% 78.8% 79.8%
ROE based on net profit after minority interests (in %) 10.9% 8.4% 1.6% – 2.7% 0.1%
Funding costs (73.0) (57.8) (15.3) (13.2) (39.5) (27.0) 
Amortisation of goodwill (18.5) (12.9) (5.9) (4.9) (12.6) (7.8) 

Segment reporting/Austria

Large Corporate Trading and 
Customers Investment Banking

in EUR million 2003 2002 2003 2002
Net interest income 147.7 135.9 112.1 70.7 
Risk provisions for loans/advances (44.1) (52.7) 0.0 0.0 
Net commission income 53.1 75.8 41.5 18.1 
Net trading result 1.5 2.8 89.6 79.1 
General administrative expenses (81.2) (85.7) (100.9) (98.1) 
Income from insurance business 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
Other operating result 9.1 (5.9) (10.8) (10.3) 
Pre-tax profit for the year 86.1 70.1 131.5 59.6 
less taxes (25.6) (13.0) (40.6) (12.9) 
less minority interests (6.0) (9.5) 0.3 1.2 
Net profit after minority interests 54.6 47.7 91.2 47.8 
Average risk-weighted assets 6,918.9 6,478.0 3,486.6 3,891.2 
Average attributed equity 416.0 340.5 209.6 204.5 
Cost-income ratio (in %) 40.2% 40.0% 41.5% 58.4%
ROE based on net profit after minority interests (in %) 13.1% 14.0% 43.5% 23.4%
Funding costs (15.7) (14.2) (2.5) (3.4) 
Amortisation of goodwill 0.0 0.0 0.0 (0.2) 
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Central Europe Česká spořitelna Slovenská sporiteľňa
in EUR million 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002
Net interest income 829.4 741.7 460.8 477.3 234.7 161.3 
Risk provisions for loans/advances (9.7) 3.9 1.3 23.0 3.3 (2.4) 
Net commission income 345.3 297.2 252.3 226.9 51.6 43.4 
Net trading result 71.2 56.6 38.1 29.4 10.8 9.1 
General administrative expenses (766.7) (705.2) (474.1) (458.7) (157.3) (145.0) 
Income from insurance business 10.2 2.3 10.2 2.3 0.0 0.0 
Other operating result (167.1) (57.9) (75.7) (30.9) (81.9) (30.6) 
Pre-tax profit for the year 312.6 338.7 212.9 269.4 61.3 35.8 
less taxes (78.1) (89.0) (75.2) (84.0) (5.6) (2.3) 
less minority interests (44.7) (102.0) (15.2) (79.9) (22.9) (16.7) 
Net profit after minority interests 189.7 147.7 122.5 105.5 32.7 16.8 
Average risk-weighted assets 10,162.1 9,157.6 6,287.5 6,230.5 1,493.2 1,033.7 
Average attributed equity 611.0 481.3 378.0 327.5 89.8 54.3 
Cost-income ratio (in %) 61.0% 64.2% 62.3% 62.3% 52.9% 67.8%
ROE based on net profit after minority interests (in %) 31.1% 30.7% 32.4% 32.2% 36.5% 30.9%
Funding costs (44.4) (36.9) (27.7) (22.9) (6.2) (6.9) 
Amortisation of goodwill (54.4) (38.1) (40.2) (24.9) (12.0) (12.0) 

Segment reporting/Central Europe

Erste Bank Hungary Erste Bank Croatia
in EUR million 2003 2002 2003 2002
Net interest income 58.5 45.0 75.4 58.1 
Risk provisions for loans/advances (7.5) (8.2) (6.9) (8.6) 
Net commission income 28.8 17.3 12.5 9.7 
Net trading result 11.6 6.3 10.7 11.9 
General administrative expenses (69.3) (54.3) (66.1) (47.3) 
Income from insurance business 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
Other operating result (7.6) (1.1) (1.8) 4.7 
Pre-tax profit for the year 14.7 5.0 23.7 28.5 
less taxes (1.7) (0.4) 4.3 (2.3) 
less minority interests 0.1 0.3 (6.7) (5.7) 
Net profit after minority interests 13.2 4.9 21.3 20.5 
Average risk-weighted assets 920.8 590.9 1,460.6 1,302.5 
Average attributed equity 55.4 31.1 87.8 68.5 
Cost-income ratio (in %) 70.0% 79.1% 67.1% 59.3%
ROE based on net profit after minority interests (in %) 23.8% 15.8% 24.2% 29.9%
Funding costs (3.2) (3.0) (7.3) (4.1) 
Amortisation of goodwill 0.0 0.0 (2.2) (1.2) 
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Austria Central Europe
in EUR million 2003 2002 2003 2002
Net interest income 1,628.5 1,584.7 837.7 747.0
Risk provisions for loans/advances (370.6) (361.7) (12.3) 3.9
Net commission income 626.8 625.6 348.5 298.9
Net trading result 141.6 108.7 71.2 52.4
General administrative expenses (1,659.7) (1,689.7) (769.1) (707.4)
Income from insurance business 22.7 6.1 10.2 2.3
Other operating result (32.7) (25.4) (167.1) (56.5)
Pre-tax profit for the year 356.6 248.3 319.1 340.6
less taxes (117.5) (39.3) (80.1) (90.4)
less minority interests (139.4) (155.9) (44.7) (102.0)
Net profit after minority interests 99.7 53.1 194.3 148.1
Average risk-weighted assets 46,238 46,334 11,402 9,483 

Segment reporting by region

Rest of Europe North America
in EUR million 2003 2002 2003 2002
Net interest income 28.1 40.6 44.4 44.7
Risk provisions for loans/advances (2.5) (16.3) (13.4) (7.7)
Net commission income 5.2 3.7 8.3 10.8
Net trading result 0.3 3.7 0.5 1.6
General administrative expenses (13.3) (12.7) (11.6) (11.0)
Income from insurance business 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Other operating result (2.4) (1.1) 0.0 3.0
Pre-tax profit for the year 15.4 17.9 28.2 41.4
less taxes (4.8) (5.2) (8.7) (12.0)
less minority interests 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Net profit after minority interests 10.7 12.7 19.4 29.4
Average risk-weighted assets 1,373 1,561 1,587 1,780 

Central/South America Asia
in EUR million 2003 2002 2003 2002
Net interest income 2.6 3.8 14.9 13.0
Risk provisions for loans/advances (0.3) 0.0 (2.6) (14.5)
Net commission income 2.6 1.2 4.4 3.5
Net trading result 0.0 0.0 (0.6) (3.7)
General administrative expenses (1.0) (1.0) (4.9) (8.0)
Income from insurance business 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Other operating result 0.0 0.0 0.0 (0.1)
Pre-tax profit for the year 3.9 4.0 11.2 (9.8)
less taxes (1.2) (1.2) (3.5) 2.8
less minority interests 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Net profit after minority interests 2.7 2.9 7.7 (7.0)
Average risk-weighted assets 180 124 642 728
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39) Additional information

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies:

Unconsolidated foreign investments and goodwill are not reported
as assets denominated in foreign currencies.

Foreign assets and liabilities:

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

Other Total
in EUR million 2003 2002 2003 2002
Net interest income 30.7 29.4 2,586.8 2,463.1
Risk provisions for loans/advances (4.7) (10.2) (406.4) (406.4)
Net commission income 0.9 0.5 996.6 944.1
Net trading result 1.6 4.7 214.6 167.4
General administrative expenses (1.1) (2.2) (2,460.7) (2,432.0)
Income from insurance business 0.0 0.0 32.9 8.4
Other operating result 0.0 0.0 (202.1) (80.1)
Pre-tax profit for the year 27.3 22.2 761.6 664.6
less taxes (8.5) (6.4) (224.2) (151.7)
less minority interests 0.0 0.0 (184.1) (257.9)
Net profit after minority interests 18.9 15.8 353.3 255.0
Average risk-weighted assets 467 503 61,888 60,512

at at
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Assets 53,874 49,590 
Liabilities 45,986 41,360 

at at
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Assets 59,609 48,891 
Liabilities 54,807 51,514
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at at
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Loans and advances to credit institutions

Unconsolidated subsidiaries 1 2 
Associates accounted for at equity 42 106 
Other investments 377 306 

Loans and advances to customers
Unconsolidated subsidiaries 466 340 
Associates accounted for at equity 107 252 
Other investments 598 809 

Investments available for sale
Unconsolidated subsidiaries 3 –
Associates accounted for at equity 36 36 
Other investments 61 252 

Financial investments
Unconsolidated subsidiaries 1 –
Associates accounted for at equity 7 4 
Other investments 67 4 

Amounts owed to credit institutions
Unconsolidated subsidiaries 3 8 
Associates accounted for at equity 29 37 
Other investments 2,020 1,581 

Amounts owed to customers
Unconsolidated subsidiaries 56 53 
Associates accounted for at equity 19 36 
Other investments 164 101 

Debts evidenced by certificates
Unconsolidated subsidiaries 5 5 
Associates accounted for at equity 26 26 
Other investments 44 66 

Subordinated capital
Unconsolidated subsidiaries – – 
Associates accounted for at equity 9 – 
Other investments 26 1 

40) Loans and advances to and amounts owed to unconsolidated subsidiaries and investments
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41) Assets pledged as collateral

Assets in the amounts stated below were pledged as collateral for
the following liabilities and contingent liabilities:

The following assets were pledged as collateral for the above-
mentioned liabilities:

42) Fiduciary transactions

The fiduciary operations not reported in the Balance Sheet are
broken down as follows:
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at at
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Amounts owed to credit institutions 202 326 
Amounts owed to customers 788 827 
Debts evidenced by certificates 1,314 1,361 
Other obligations 21 29 

at at
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Loans and advances to credit institutions 5 98 
Loans and advances to customers 1,920 1,956 
Trading assets 122 373 
Investments available for sale 204 160 
Financial investments 363 345 
Tangible assets 1 1 

at at
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Loans and advances to credit institutions 103 330 
Loans and advances to customers 2,449 387 
Investments available for sale 597 529 
Assets held in trust 3,149 1,246 
Amounts owed to credit institutions 260 280 
Amounts owed to customers 2,224 411 
Debts evidenced by certificates 665 555 
Liabilities held in trust 3,149 1,246 
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43) Risk management policies

Risk strategy
The Erste Bank Group pursues a strategy of risk control guided

both by the demands of a customer-oriented banking business and by the
legal environment.

To satisfy these requirements, the Erste Bank Group uses a group-
wide system of risk oversight and control designed to identify all risks
throughout the Group (market, credit, business and operational risks),
measure these risks in terms of value-at-risk (VaR) and ultimately enable
the management to exert active control over the identified and measured
risks.

Risk management organisation
In keeping with relevant law (especially the Austrian Banking Act),

the central responsibility for risk management lies with the Group Manag-
ing Board. One way in which the Managing Board performs this task is by
setting an aggregate bank limit based on value-at-risk at the quarterly
meeting of the Risk Committee. 

As set out in the Erste Bank Risk Rulebook, the role of the Risk Com-
mittee is to approve amendments to the rules where appropriate, allocate
capital at the macro level, set an aggregate risk limit for the bank as a whole
based on the bank’s risk absorption capacity, set an aggregate limit based
on value-at-risk for market risk activities on the trading book, and define
medium-term objectives for risk management. 

The Group Risk Management Committee (GRMC) is chaired by the
Group Chief Risk Officer. The Group Risk Management Committee provides
decision support on risk issues, performs detailed analyses of the Group’s
risks, evaluates opportunities and possible risk potential, and takes action
to adjust the Group’s risk profile as appropriate. The committee continually
analyses the credit portfolio in detail and uses the findings to help steer
business activities. Additionally, the Group Risk Management Committee
discusses and selects the methods, techniques and processes of credit risk
management that form part of the Group’s credit policy.

Since the beginning of 2003, Erste Bank has placed a Chief Risk
Officer (CRO) in charge of the overall management of risks. The Chief Risk
Officer’s sphere of responsibility includes the following service units:
> Strategic Risk Management
> Credit Risk Management Austria/CE 
> Credit Risk Management International 
> Credit Restructuring
> Planning and Controlling

The Strategic Risk Management unit supports the Chief Risk Officer
in furthering the disciplined handling of risks and in harmonising risk man-
agement applications for all risk types in the business units. Working closely
with the risk management departments of the business units, this unit also
ensures the implementation of the risk management strategy. 

At every level of the risk management process – particularly con-
cerning market and credit risks – the measurement and oversight functions
are exercised independently of the front-office functions to be supervised.
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CHIEF RISK OFFICER (CRO)

STRATEGIC RISK MANAGEMENT

GROUP RISK CONTROL GROUP CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT & REPORTING

Group Market Risk Control

Group Credit Risk Control

Group Operational Risk Control

Group Credit Risk Reporting & Monitoring

Group Credit Risk Management
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In addition, the Chief Risk Officer is responsible for the develop-
ment, implementation and review of limits, of risk reporting, of the risk
management strategy and of the associated standards and processes.

The Chief Risk Officer is also in charge of credit risk control for the
Erste Bank Group, which involves, among other activities, initiating mea-
sures to optimise the credit portfolio and ease regulatory capital require-
ments. The Chief Risk Officer defines standards for credit policy and pro-
cesses, credit portfolio management and risk-adjusted pricing and par-
ticipates in the development and implementation of credit risk measure-
ment methods. Moreover, the Chief Risk Officer is the functional head of
the entire credit risk management organisation and has line authority over
and directs the organisation of senior risk managers. 

In view of the growing demands placed on risk control, and in the
interest of a clear definition of the roles and areas of authority of all units
involved, the Group credit risk management and risk controlling activities
have been combined and concentrated in the Strategic Risk Management
service unit (previously known as Group Risk Management).

Risk controlling
The Group Risk Control department forms part of the Strategic Risk

Management unit. This department acts as a central and independent risk
control unit as required by the Austrian Banking Act and sets up Group
guidelines for processes relating to risk management (Erste Bank Risk
Rulebook). As a department independent of the business units, Group
Risk Control thus ensures that all measured risks are within the limits set
by the Managing Board. 

The core competencies of Group Risk Control in the risk control pro-
cess include the daily computation, analysis and reporting of market risks
for the whole Group and the timely and continuous monitoring of credit,
business and operational risks on the basis of value-at-risk. Another key
function is the aggregation of all risks (market, credit, business and oper-
ational) into a measure of total bank risk (economic capital) as part of the
determination of the Group’s risk-bearing ability. As well, Group Risk Control
allocates risk capital, puts uniform risk control standards into practice
and ensures fulfilment of the relevant legal and regulatory requirements.
Finally, Group Risk Control also provides regular reporting to the Managing
Board based on value-at-risk.

To do justice to this broad mandate, Group Risk Control is divided
into three groups that respectively concentrate on market, credit and oper-
ational risk. These sub-units each calculate value-at-risk on an ongoing
basis with the help of specialised models. Their other responsibilities
include the refinement and updating of the models and measurement
methods employed and the rollout of the risk control process in the Group.

Risk control process
The Erste Bank Group’s independent risk control process consists

of four steps:
> Risk identification at the Erste Bank Group means the detection of all

relevant risks related to banking operations. A systematic and struc-
tured approach to this task is emphasised. Aside from existing risks,
potential risks also need to be identified. The aim of risk identification
is the permanent, timely, rapid, complete and cost-effective capture of
all individual risks that have a bearing on the target system of the Erste
Bank Group. However, risk identification is concerned not only with the
early detection of risks, but also the most complete possible recognition
of all sources of risk.

> Risk measurement at the Erste Bank Group means the valuation and
analysis of all quantifiable risks on the basis of value-at-risk (VaR).

> The expected loss is the average amount which Erste Bank can expect to
lose per year in its business activities. This represents the average annual
observed historical loss over the course of an economic cycle. These
foreseeable costs enter into pricing as a risk premium (standard risk
costs) and must be recouped through the terms extended to customers.
The expected loss thus does not pose a risk for Erste Bank as much as a
“cost of doing business”.

> The unexpected loss (equivalent to value-at-risk) is the maximum actual
loss in excess of this amount for a given observation period and a pre-
determined probability of occurrence (expressed in terms of a confi-
dence level). For this unexpected loss, equity capital must be reserved
as a safety buffer.

> In addition, stress scenarios are defined, with the goal of quantifying the
losses that may be triggered by extremely adverse, albeit highly unlike-
ly, events. The information gained from test scenarios complements VaR
results, making it easier to predict the effects of potential extreme mar-
ket movements.

> Risk aggregation refers to the compilation of the results of value-at-risk-
based risk measurement for the individual risk types (taking into account
diversification effects) into an aggregate potential loss from the assump-
tion of risk. This resulting aggregate measure is known as economic capi-
tal (representing VaR at a confidence level of 99.95% over a one-year time
period). In a multi-stage process, this aggregate total potential loss from
the assumption of risk (economic capital) is compared to the resources
(earnings potential, reserves and equity) available to cover potential
losses. At Erste Bank this is done as part of the determination of risk
absorption capacity.

> Risk reporting at Erste Bank means continual reporting to management
of the results of the various value-at-risk calculations in the individual risk
types (daily VaR report by the Market Risk Control group via Erste Bank’s
electronic information system, monthly and quarterly reports, and risk
absorption capacity calculation).
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Risk types
Market risk

Fluctuation in interest rates, exchange rates, share prices and com-
modity prices creates market risks. Market risks derive from short-term trad-
ing (trading book) in instruments whose prices are fixed daily as well as from
the traditional banking business (banking book). 

Taking into account the Bank’s risk-absorbing capacity and pro-
jected earnings, the Managing Board sets the aggregate limit in the Risk
Committee. The aggregate limit is then allocated by the Market Risk Com-
mittee based on a recommendation from the decentralised Treasury and
Investment Banking Risk Management unit. All market risk activities are
assigned risk limits that, in the aggregate, are statistically consistent with
the aggregate value-at-risk limit covering all market risks of Erste Bank. Limit
compliance is verified at several levels: by the appropriate local risk man-
agement unit, by Treasury and Investment Banking Risk Management and
also by the independent Group Risk Control unit. 

A key step in limit-setting is the estimation of the potential losses
that could be caused by market movements. This amount – value-at-risk –
is calculated at Group level on a daily basis and relayed to the Managing
Board via the electronic management information system. VaR is deter-

mined on the basis of a historical simulation using KVAR+, an internation-
ally recognised software product. In its analysis Erste Bank uses a 99%
confidence level and holding periods of one and ten days. The validity of
the statistical methods applied is constantly checked by backtesting.

Extreme market situations can exert a strong influence on the value
of trading positions and have extraordinary effects on trading results. The
main such events are market movements that have a low probability of
occurrence. Relying on purely statistical methods such as VaR to measu-
re risk does not adequately take into account the consequences of crisis
situations. For this reason Erste Bank reinforces its VaR-based risk mea-
surement with stress testing by several methods (historical worst, extreme
value theory, scenario analysis). The results of these assessments are
made available to the Managing Board via the electronic management
information system.

Risk ratios for market risk in the trading book and
banking book (Erste Bank Group excluding 
Haftungsverbund savings banks)

Value-at-risk for market risk at the balance sheet date (31 Decem-
ber 2003) by risk-taking unit and risk type (unaudited):
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in EUR million Total Interest Currency Shares Commodity Volatility
Erste Bank Group 30.1 28.4 1.4 5.6 0 0.4

Banking book 28.1 28.0 0.4 3.1 0 0
Hedge funds 1.8 0.0 0.0 1.8 0 0
Trading book 2.5 1.8 1.3 1.1 0 0.4

Market risk was distributed as follows at 31 December 2003: 
The total value-at-risk at the 99% confidence level and for a one-

day holding period was EUR 30.1 million. Market risk was EUR 28.1 million
for the banking book, EUR 1.8 million for hedge funds and EUR 2.5 million
for the trading portfolio.

Analysed by risk factors, EUR 28.4 million represented risk from
interest rate fluctuations, EUR 1.4 million was accounted for by exchange
rate movements, EUR 5.6 million of risk was associated with share price
fluctuations and risk of EUR 0.4 million was generated by changes in option
volatility. The difference between total risk and the sums of the individual
risks is explained by diversification effects. 

The market risk model approved by the Austrian Federal Ministry of
Finance is used to determine the minimum regulatory capital requirements
of Erste Bank AG under the Austrian Banking Act. The calculation employs
the most favourable multiplier possible (3), assigned by Austria’s Finan-
cial Market Authority on the basis of an appraisal by the Austrian National
Bank.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises in traditional lending business (losses incurred by

the default of obligors or by the need to provision assets as a result of the
deteriorating credit quality of borrowers) as well as from trading in market
risk instruments (counterparty risk). Country risks are recognised implicitly
in the calculation of credit risk.

The task of the Group Credit Risk Control unit within the Group Risk
Control department in this context is the measurement of credit risk, using
a portfolio model based on value-at-risk, for the entire credit business of
Erste Bank AG and the largest foreign and domestic subsidiaries. Neither
the Group Risk Control department nor the Group Credit Risk Control unit
is involved in the operational credit decisions. That responsibility falls en-
tirely to the three decentralised credit risk management units (Group Credit
Risk Reporting, Credit Risk Management International and Credit Risk
Management/CE).
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Credit value-at-risk is calculated based on the CreditMetrics meth-
odology using CreditManager software. Measurement is based on confi-
dence levels of 95% and 99.95% (as in total bank risk management
calculation of risk-absorption capacity) and a risk horizon of one year. The
central risk drivers in the portfolio model – the probabilities of default and
transitional probabilities for each customer segment – are determined
based on the Group’s own rating history and used in the calculation of credit
value-at-risk.

Operational risk
When the Basle consultation paper (Basle II) was published in

January 2001 it became clear that banks would have to deal much more
systematically and rigorously with the issue of operational risk. In the past
few years progress has been made towards arriving at a uniform definiti-
on of operational risk. The definition used by Erste Bank is in line with the
Basle consultation paper.

At Erste Bank, operational risk is thus understood to be the risk of
losses arising from the inadequacy or failure of internal processes or
systems, human factors or external events. In keeping with current prac-
tice at most international banks, the line management is responsible for
operational risks. 

As early as March 2000 a project was started for the first group-
wide identification and measurement of operational risks. It was complet-
ed in April 2001 with the implementation of a model for calculating opera-
tional risk in value-at-risk terms. The model is predicated on internal loss
experience data collected retroactively to 1 January 1998. Since June
2001 the business units report losses monthly to the Group Operational
Risk Control unit. The proper transmission of loss reports is verified by the
Internal Audit department. Furthermore, data pooling and the related
recording of loss data in a central data base at the Sparkassenprüfungs-
verband (Savings Bank Auditing Agency) were extended to take in the
whole savings bank sector. External data and scenarios are also used in
order to factor in losses which have not occurred before but are neverthe-
less possible. 

In collaboration with the Security Organisation unit, the groundwork
was laid for qualitative risk assessment. This type of evaluation is to con-
tinue in 2004. Another high priority this year, aside from the rollout in the
Erste Bank Group, will be the refinement of the qualitative assessments.
Based on the qualitative information obtained, a potential further step
would be to develop risk management instruments to support line mana-
gement in making decisions aimed at reducing operational risk.

Last year a captive insurance company was established that began
operation at the beginning of 2004. The intent is to reduce expenses for the
Group’s traditional property and casualty insurance needs and use the
freed-up resources to purchase additional insurance for as yet uninsured
bank-specific risks. Potential economies on the one hand and additional

insurance cover on the other, without an increase in cost, are to be achieved
by retaining part of the losses in a captive reinsurance firm, thus per-
mitting diversification of risk in the Group.

Business risk (fixed-costs risk)
Business risk, or fixed-costs risk, is defined by Erste Bank as the

risk that an unexpected decline in revenues will lead to a loss because of
the inflexibility of fixed costs. Known also as operating leverage risk, busi-
ness risk thus reflects the degree of volatility of the major income and
expense items in Erste Bank’s contribution margin accounting. Such unex-
pected fluctuations in income may be caused by changes in competitive
conditions or customer behaviour or by technological advances.

Controlling Erste Bank’s overall risk
It follows from the formula for risk-absorption capacity that the

objective of risk-adjusted performance measurement must be to ensure the
credit institution’s sustained solvency. The central instrument for securing
the solvency of Erste Bank AG is the calculation of risk-absorption capac-
ity. In this computation, the value-at-risk resulting from the different risk
types is aggregated to arrive at the total potential loss from the assump-
tion of risk (economic capital) and this loss potential is then compared in
a multiple-stage process to the resources (earnings potential, reserves
and equity) available to cover these potential losses. Aside from the risk
actually measured, a safety buffer and the existing risk limits are also
taken into account on a value-at-risk basis. The point of this comparison
is to determine the extent to which the bank is in a position to absorb
potential unexpected losses (calculation of the risk-absorbing capacity).
Risk-absorption capacity thus represents a limit for aggregate risk activities
at Erste Bank. Based on the bank’s measured ability to absorb risk, the
Managing Board establishes an aggregate bank limit at the quarterly Risk
Committee meeting.

The measure of risk used to calculate this aggregate bank limit is
the economic capital that the bank must hold in order to cover its risk. This
economic capital is defined as the minimum capital necessary on an
annual basis to cover unexpected losses at a confidence level of 99.95%,
which is derived from the default probability of Erste Bank’s target rating.
The objective of calculating this figure is to determine the amount of capi-
tal needed in order to ensure Erste Bank’s solvency (the going concern prin-
ciple) even in extreme loss scenarios. This figure also allows for compara-
tive measurement and aggregation of all risks. In parallel with this approach
based on economic capital, for information purposes the risk-absorption
capacity is also calculated at a much lower confidence level of 95% and
conveyed to the management.
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Erste Bank AG’s aggregate risk by risk type 
(unaudited):

Allocation of economic capital (99.95% confidence level) at 
31 December 2003:

Risk-adjusted performance measurement (RAPM) and
shareholder value added

Building on this calculation of risk throughout the bank based on
value-at-risk for the different types of risk, Erste Bank can use the economic
capital determined for each business area as the crucial component in the
calculation of risk-adjusted return on economic capital (ROEC). This figure
compares all revenue with the risk that is taken in generating it, using eco-
nomic capital as the measure of risk. As part of measuring risk-adjusted
performance, a comparison is drawn between the results of marginal
costing based on regulatory capital and the results based on economic
capital.

Return on economic capital is determined for each business unit.
This extends the existing controlling tools, such as marginal costing, by also
making available to management the information it needs to view the en-
tire bank through the lens of risk-return ratios. Going beyond the determi-
nation of regulatory capital adequacy, this also lays the foundation for
risk-efficient capital allocation based on risk-adjusted performance mea-
surement (RAPM). Thus, economic capital and ROEC combine risk limita-
tion aimed at preserving the Bank’s solvency (going concern principle)
with active risk and capital management geared to increasing Erste Bank’s
enterprise value for its shareholders (adding shareholder value).

Decentralised risk management
The decentralised Treasury and Investment Banking Risk Manage-

ment group within Treasury is responsible for the day-to-day control of the
market risk associated with trading activities. It oversees market risk limits
and counterparty limits. Other key duties include risk reporting, supporting
the trading desk, legal support, testing of new products and – in co-ordi-
nation with Group Risk Control – market risk management.

The Treasury unit is also where market risks relating to the banking
book are measured. The Balance Sheet Management group submits month-
ly reports to the Asset Liability Committee (ALCO) on the Erste Bank Group’s
interest rate risk, to be used as a basis for adjusting risks arising from
balance sheet imbalances.

The responsibility for operational credit risk management rests
with two units: Credit Risk Management Austria/CE and Credit Risk Man-
agement International. Depending on their requirements, foreign branches
and subsidiaries either have their own risk management units or are covered
by the appropriate decentralised risk management unit of Erste Bank AG
(e.g. Treasury and Investment Banking Risk Management).

Erste Bank Risk Rulebook
The procedures relating to risk management at Erste Bank are set

out in the Erste Bank Risk Rulebook, which is binding for the entire Group.
The purpose of the Rulebook is twofold: to minimise operational risks and
to create a standard for the uniform collection of data on market and cred-
it risk activities. The key directives of the Rulebook are consistent with
commonly applied international standards. Current developments both in
Austria and abroad, particularly amid the new capital regulations for banks
under Basle II, are also taken into account in the ongoing adaptation of the
Rulebook and are swiftly incorporated into Group practices.

Based on this central, uniform set of rules in use group-wide, local
risk manuals are drawn up by the individual decentralised risk management
units in order to reflect national variation in legal and other conditions. The
Group’s Internal Audit department audits compliance of local practices and
local risk manuals with the Rulebook.

Basle II
In order to fulfil the requirements of the new capital adequacy

regulations (Basle II/Brussels), a dedicated Basle II programme was set
up within the Erste Bank Group. Its technical direction is provided by the
Strategic Risk Management unit.

Advanced approaches to measuring credit, market and
operational risk

Erste Bank AG is an active participant in the consultation process
shaping the new capital adequacy regulations for banks. Erste Bank’s goal
is to qualify for advanced approaches when the new provisions enter into
force.

For credit risk, Erste Bank seeks to apply the Advanced IRB
Approach in the retail segment and the Foundation IRB Approach in all other
Basle segments. For the measurement of market risk in the trading book,
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17.6% Operational risk from credit risk

   1.4% Market risk

14.6% Operational risk

66.4% Credit risk
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an internal model approved by the Austrian Financial Market Authority is
already in place, and the model for measuring interest rate risk in the
banking book already satisfies the Basle requirements to a large extent. In
the area of operational risk, Erste Bank is working to qualify for an Advanced
Measurement Approach (loss distribution approach) when the new
provisions take effect.

Qualification for the Foundation IRB Approach and Advanced Mea-
surement Approach (loss distribution approach) is expected to have a cor-
responding beneficial effect on the regulatory capital requirements of the
Erste Bank Group.

Rating systems
In 2003 the optimisation of existing systems and development of

new standardised rating methods remained the central focus.
Some completed components were tested operationally in 2003

and are now integrated in the quality assurance process.
Further progress was made in implementing the appropriate com-

ponents group-wide in the functional and banking subsidiaries.

Credit risk
The credit risk stated at their carrying amounts at 31 December

2003:

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

Total loans and advances 
to credit institutions 

and customers (incl. fixed- Guarantees/ 
in EUR million income securities) letters of credit Total 31 Dec 2003 Total 31 Dec 2002
Banking and insurance 37,303 1,943 39,246 32,638
Consumers 20,657 103 20,760 18,416
Public administration, social security 17,220 554 17,774 17,191
Manufacturing 6,269 1,373 7,642 7,708
Real estate 9,952 630 10,582 10,522
Retail 6,711 522 7,233 7,392
Construction 3,269 827 4,096 4,321
Hotels and restaurants 2,707 199 2,906 2,954
Transport and communication 2,478 371 2,849 2,868
Energy and water supply 1,680 191 1,871 1,879
Other 5,230 242 5,472 6,138
Total 113,476 6,955 120,431 112,027

The total comprises loans and advances to credit institutions and
customers, fixed-income securities held in the trading portfolio, as invest-
ments available for sale and as financial investments (held to maturity),
and off-balance-sheet credit risks.

The changes in risk provisions are explained in Notes 15 and 30.
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Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk of adverse change in the fair value of

financial instruments caused by movement in market interest rates. This
type of risk arises when mismatches exist between assets and liabilities
(including off-balance-sheet items) in respect of their maturities or of the
timing of interest rate adjustments. 

In order to identify interest rate risk, all financial instruments,
including transactions not recognised in the balance sheet, are grouped in
order of maturity bands according to their remaining term to maturity or to
an interest rate adjustment.

The following tables list the open fixed-income positions held by the
Erste Bank Group in the three currencies that carry significant interest rate
risk: the euro, Czech koruna and Slovak koruna.

Only those open fixed-income positions are shown which are not
allocated to the trading book. Positive values indicate fixed-income risks
on the asset side, i.e. a surplus of asset items; negative values represent
a surplus on the liability side.

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

1–3 3–5 5–7 7–10 over 10
in million years years years years years
Fixed-interest gap in EUR positions at 31 December 2003 (2,292.0) (220.2) 3,305.6 1,243.3 878.0
Fixed-interest gap in CZK positions at 31 December 2003 (20,771.8) (20,923.8) 14,090.5 15,969.9 8,372.7
Fixed-interest gap in SKK positions at 31 December 2003 (3,863.7) 5,311.8 1,088.6 10,148.9 245.5

Open fixed-income positions not assigned to the trading book (unaudited):

Hedging
The goals of market risk management for the banking books of the

Erste Bank Group are to optimise the risk position while taking into account
the economic environment, competitive situation, market value risk and
effect on net interest income; to maintain an adequate liquidity position
for the Group; and to centrally manage all market risks inherent in the
banking book via the Group’s Asset Liability Committee.

In keeping with the goals of risk management, hedging activities
focus on the two main control variables – net interest income and market
value risk. Two kinds of instruments are available with which to manage
these variables: Cash flow hedges are used to stabilise interest rate risk and
fair value hedges are employed to reduce market value risk.

Fair value hedges are currently used to turn fixed-income or struc-
tured transactions into variable-income transactions. The current policy on
debts evidenced by certificates is to use fair value hedges to convert those
issues that are not money-market-linked into issues that are. Additional fair

value hedges were set up for a portion of the syndicated loan portfolio, for
a small number of fixed-interest loans and deposits and for a small portion
of liabilities with no defined period of fixed interest rates according to the
funds transfer pricing guidelines.

Interest rate swaps are the main instruments used for these fair
value hedges. Particularly when issues are involved, cross currency swaps,
swaptions, caps, floors and other options are also used to hedge fair value. 

Cash flow hedges are used for two objectives: to turn money-
market-linked transactions into fixed-interest transactions so as to reduce
interest rate risk, and to hedge anticipated foreign-currency interest income
against exchange rate risk. Cash flow hedges were thus employed in 2003
to convert some of the revolving money market assets and liabilities into
fixed-interest transactions and to hedge the expected income from the
Group’s international units.

Interest rate swaps were the only instruments used to hedge interest
cash flows. Currency risk was hedged with spot transactions.
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2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

Nominal amount by remaining maturity Fair value
in EUR million < 1 year 1–5 years > 5 years Total Positive Negative 
Interest rate contracts
OTC products 
– Interest rate options

Purchase 4,305 4,147 3,013 11,466 308 (7) 
Sell 4,379 5,468 4,685 14,532 12 (362) 

– Interest rate swaps
Purchase 87,390 33,297 19,977 140,664 4,422 266 
Sell 93,695 31,094 14,735 139,524 371 (4,162) 

– FRA’s
Purchase 18,014 2,047 – 20,061 9 2 
Sell 16,014 2,108 – 18,122 4 (8) 

Listed products 
– Futures

Purchase 570 97 25 691 1 –
Sell 976 474 317 1,767 – –

– Interest rate options 
Purchase 447 – 120 567 – –
Sell 704 – – 704 – –

Currency contracts 
OTC products 
– Currency options

Purchase 5,144 82 – 5,227 54 –
Sell 4,939 84 – 5,023 – (48) 

– Currency swaps 
Purchase 26,635 1,278 897 28,811 804 (485) 
Sell 24,784 1,272 849 26,904 556 (656) 

Listed products 
– Futures

Purchase 464 – – 464 1 (1) 
Sell 33 – – 33 – –

– Currency options 
Purchase – – – – – –
Sell – – – – – –

Precious metal contracts 
OTC products 
– Precious metal options 

Purchase 8 – – 8 – –
Sell 8 – – 8 – –

Listed products 
– Futures

Purchase 14 – – 14 – –
Sell – – – – – –

– Precious metal options 
Purchase – – – – – – 
Sell – – – – – – 

44) Total volume of unsettled derivatives as of 31 December 2003
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45) Fair value of financial instruments

In the table below the fair values (unaudited) of the balance sheet
items are compared with their carrying amounts.

The fair value is the amount for which a financial instrument could
be exchanged or settled between knowledgeable, willing parties in an

arm’s length transaction. Market prices were used in measurement where
available. 

Otherwise, internal valuation models were applied, in particular the
present value method.

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

Nominal amount by remaining maturity Fair value
in EUR million < 1 year 1–5 years > 5 years Total Positive Negative
Securities-related transactions 
OTC products 
– Stock options 

Purchase 25 28 30 83 32 (2) 
Sell 43 124 17 184 2 (4) 

Listed products 
– Futures

Purchase 148 – – 148 – – 
Sell 42 – – 42 – – 

– Stock options 
Purchase 37 – – 37 2 –
Sell 243 – – 243 – (5) 

Total 289,060 81,600 44,666 415,326 6,578 (5,471) 
Thereof OTC products 

Purchase 141,520 40,880 23,918 206,318 5,630 (226) 
Sell 143,862 40,149 20,286 204,298 945 (5,239) 

Thereof listed products 
Purchase 1,680 97 145 1,922 3 (1) 
Sell 1,997 474 317 2,788 – (6) 

at 31 Dec 2003 at 31 Dec 2002
in EUR million Fair value Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount
Assets 
Cash and balances with central banks 2,549 2,549 3,181 3,181 
Loans and advances to credit institutions 13,149 13,140 15,519 15,492 
Loans and advances to customers 68,187 67,766 65,270 64,435 
Risk provisions (2,772) (2,772) (2,983) (2,983) 
Trading assets 5,259 5,259 3,487 3,487 
Investments available for sale 7,379 7,379 6,736 6,736 
Financial investments 26,830 26,454 23,107 22,572 
Derivatives in banking book (other assets) 548 548 712 712 
Liabilities 
Amounts owed to credit institutions 25,733 25,704 26,480 26,425 
Amounts owed to customers 65,034 64,839 61,868 61,308 
Debts evidenced by certificates 16,944 16,944 14,191 14,191 
Trading liabilities (other liabilities) 922 922 657 657 
Subordinated capital 3,538 3,538 3,387 3,387 
Derivatives in banking book (other liabilities) 514 514 747 747
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Like many Austrian credit institutions, Erste Bank AG had to deal
with the consumer protection issue raised by the former sliding interest rate
clause. Although as of 2003 the Supreme Court had not yet ruled on crit-
ical legal aspects of this matter, Erste Bank has for years been studying the
claims filed and is reaching settlements with its individual customers by
evaluating each customer claim. In 2003 Erste Bank joined an agreement
of the Savings Banks Association with consumer protection organisations
and the federal ministry responsible for consumer protection.

Concerning the “rounding rule” related to this issue, Austria’s
Supreme Court has ruled in suits filed against other banks that the prac-
tice of rounding up to the nearest one-eighth which is applied in the cur-
rent sliding interest rate clause in consumer loan agreements is not per-
missible. Erste Bank has already decided to apply what it has learned
from these rulings by issuing the appropriate refunds and making interest
rate adjustments.

As long ago as 2002 Erste Bank filed an appeal in the European
Court of First Instance against the decision of the European Commission,
which had imposed fines in 2002 on eight Austrian banks (including Erste
Bank) for entering into illicit antitrust arrangements in the period from
1995 to 1998. The case is still pending and is not likely to be settled until
2005 at the earliest. Erste Bank made sufficient provisions for this case
in its 2002 financial statements.

In preparation for the eastward enlargement of the European Union,
the European Commission is screening state assistance granted by the
governments of the accession countries in the past with respect to its con-
formity with EU standards for the period after the accession date of 1 May
2004. The European Commission’s examination of the restructuring of the
Czech Republic’s Česká spořitelna, a.s. was completed on 28 January
2004. Its conclusion was favourable: The European Commission found
that the restructuring measures conform to the EU standards. The corre-
sponding inquiries concerning Slovenská Sporitel’ňa, a.s. in the Slovak
Republic and Postabank és Takarékpénztár Rt. of Hungary will probably be
completed before May 2004. Based on present information, these inqui-
ries are not likely to have negative consequences for Erste Bank or the
banking subsidiaries in question.

Česká spořitelna remains involved in a lawsuit concerning owner-
ship of a number of buildings used in its operations. 

Certain assertions made by an Austrian competitor at the end of
2003 to the Austrian Financial Market Authority and to the Austrian Federal
Competition Authority allege that Section 30 (2a) of the Austrian Banking
Act conflicts with European law and that the form of the Haftungsverbund
Agreement between Erste Bank and the other participating Austrian savings
banks does not comply with European and/or national law. Section 30 (2a)
of the Act has the effect that the Haftungsverbund Agreement existing
between Erste Bank and the other members qualifies as a banking group. 

At present the Cartel Court (on request from the Federal Competi-
tion Authority and the competitor) is reviewing the question of the appli-
cability of European competition law to the co-operation between Erste
Bank and the participating savings banks under the Haftungsverbund
Agreement. Under national competition law, explicit exemptions apply to
the co-operation of members of a banking group within the meaning of Sec-
tion 30 (2a) Austrian Banking Act. However, the petitioning parties claim
that the Haftungsverbund Agreement has effects on trade between Austria
and the EU member states and thus falls under Article 81 of the EC Treaty,
although to date no decisions exist on this type of co-operation. In the
opinion of Erste Bank, these inquiries will conclude that the form of Erste
Bank’s Haftungsverbund Agreement is in full compliance with all applicable
national and EU laws and that the co-operation of Erste Bank with the
participating savings banks complies with the current regulations. 

This banking group constitutes the basis for Erste Bank’s legally
required consolidation of the qualifying capital (under Section 24 Aus-
trian Banking Act) and of the risk-weighted assets (under Section 22 of the
Act) of the Haftungsverbund members. 

The Financial Market Authority completed its review of the complaint
with the conclusion that it will continue to apply Section 30 (2a) of the Aus-
trian Banking Act. The Financial Market Authority also confirmed that the
Haftungsverbund Agreement of Erste Bank and the participating savings
banks qualifies as a banking group. 
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at at
in EUR million 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2002
Contingent liabilities 7,068 5,918 

– from guarantees and warranties 6,955 5,809 
– Other 113 109 

Other obligations 15,926 14,972 
– Undrawn credit and loan commitments, promissory notes 15,047 13,549 
– Amounts owed resulting from repurchase agreements 328 1,063 
– Other 551 360

46) Contingent liabilities and other obligations
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The Haftungsverbund-related consolidation of the qualifying capi-
tal of member savings banks made a difference of about 55 basis points
(0,55%) in the Tier 1 ratio of the Erste Bank Group upon first consolida-
tion in September 2002. Even without inclusion of the Haftungsverbund
savings banks, the legal minimum requirements for regulatory capital are
fully met.

Numerous lawsuits are pending against Postabank és Takarék-
pénztár Rt. (Postabank), the institution acquired by Erste Bank in 2003,
and some additional legal proceedings against Postabank have been
threatened. In the course of due diligence before acquiring Postabank, Erste
Bank examined these proceedings and the provisions formed for them.
Moreover, by obtaining a corresponding guarantee in the purchase agree-
ment from the seller, the Hungarian government, Erste Bank ensured that
any risks from threatened or as yet unknown litigation against Postabank
that exceed a specified amount would be assumed by the seller.

In 2003, in connection with the financial collapse at the end of the
1980s of the WEB-IMMAG conglomerate of real estate finance compa-
nies in Salzburg, Austria, a trial court passed criminal judgements against
three former managers of Salzburger Sparkasse. The verdicts are subject
to appeal. The three retired managers were charged with being accesso-
ries to acts of embezzlement committed by the individuals responsible at
the WEB-IMMAG conglomerate, who were already convicted by the court
of last instance. At the beginning of 2004, former WEB-IMMAG investors
brought a civil suit against Salzburger Sparkasse in reference to these
appealable sentences, claiming alleged damages.

Under the savings bank collective agreement and a shop agreement
for Erste Bank, until 1998 Erste Bank paid pension contributions for about
2,000 of 5,000 employees additional to the contributions under the public
pension plan. Together with the public pension plan, these contributions
brought pension benefits up to as much as 85% of pensionable final pay.

In accordance with the Pension Fund Act, Erste Bank as of 
31 December 1998 transferred its pension obligations to a pension fund

and thus converted the defined-benefit pension plan into a defined-con-
tribution plan. In connection with this conversion, Erste Bank made pay-
ments to the pension fund for the purpose of maintaining benefit levels for
plan beneficiaries, based on the assumption of a specified level of invest-
ment performance. The Austrian savings banks followed this example in
1999, shifting their pension obligations to an external fund under the
terms of a collective agreement.

Given the capital market performance in the years from 2000 to
2002, the projected pension benefit levels could not be reached. This
affected especially those employees who retired during or shortly after
this period or who plan to retire soon. The Austrian Trade Union Federation
(ÖGB), the Union of Salaried Private Sector Employees (GPA), therefore filed
a suit with the Austrian Supreme Court in 2003 against the outward trans-
fer of pension obligations by the savings banks group.

In parallel with this lawsuit, an amendment to the Pension Fund Act
entered into force in August 2003 that allowed the transfer of the funds for
future benefits of the pension fund’s prospective and current beneficiaries
from higher-risk sub-funds into sub-funds with low investment risk, at a flat
rate of taxation on the transferred amounts. The Erste Bank Group offered
its employees and pensioners this switch combined with a one-time, age-
dependent addit ional  payment on condit ion that  the r ecipients 
waive the right to sue. This offer was valid until 30 November 2003. Given
the high rate of acceptance of the offer Erste Bank believes it to be highly
unlikely that the suit brought by the ÖGB and GPA will have a material
effect on the financial position of Erste Bank. 

As well, both Erste Bank and some subsidiaries are involved in
legal disputes of a nature typically encountered during the conduct of ordi-
nary business activities. It is currently unlikely that these legal proceedings
will have a material negative impact on the financial position or the results
of operations of Erste Bank, as either appropriate provisions have already
been made, or Erste Bank has rights of recourse, or the cases in question
are of insignificant magnitude in the aggregate.

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS



ERSTE BANK 2003 ANNUAL REPORT92

Events after the balance sheet date
On 27 November 2003 the sale of the property and casualty insu-

rance division of insurance firm Pojistovna CS (in which Česká spořitelna
held 55% and s Versicherung 45%) to Kooperativa pojistovna a.s. was
contractually agreed.

The sale price was set at CZK 4.1 billion, subject to an increase or
decrease of up to 10% depending on the 2003 financial statements of
Pojistovna CS. 

The sale closed in January 2004 after the required approvals were
obtained and the audited financial statements examined. 

On 27 January 2004 the ownership structure of Erste & Steier-
märkische banka d.d. (Croatia) changed as planned: Steiermärkische
Bank und Sparkassen AG increased its interest in Erste & Steiermärki-
sche banka by 2.4 percentage points through a voluntary tender offer to
minority shareholders and by 17.5 percentage points through a share
purchase from Erste Bank, to a new total of 35.0%. The purchase price of
a total of EUR 47.5 million paid by Steiermärkische Bank und Sparkassen

AG has no direct effect on the income statement of the Erste Bank Group
as this represented an intercompany transaction.

On 3 March 2004 the Slovak government decided to sell the 10%
of Slovenská sporiteľňa a.s. (SLSP) which it still owned by the govern-
ment. The sale is being carried out under a put option that had been agreed
between the Slovak finance ministry and Erste Bank when Slovenská
sporiteľňa was first privatised. This purchase raises Erste Bank’s ownership
interest in Slovenská sporiteľňa from 70.01% to 80.01%. The purchase
price of EUR 72 million for the new tranche is based on an independent
appraisal by an investment bank. The transaction is expected to close by
the end of April.

As part of a tax reform taking effect in 2005, the Austrian govern-
ment plans to lower the corporation tax rate from the present level of 34%
to 25%. As the reform package also calls for changes in the tax base and
new rules for the taxation of groups that have not yet received final approval,
it is too early to predict the overall effect on the Erste Bank Group.

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

On Up to 3 months 1–5
in EUR million demand 3 months –1 year years > 5 years 
Loans and advances to credit institutions 915 9,355 1,648 876 347 
Loans and advances to customers 5,531 7,782 8,690 19,365 26,397 
Securities held in the trading portfolio 487 771 826 1,380 1,796 
Securities held as investments available for sale 565 730 301 1,355 4,429 
Securities held to maturity 20 1,045 2,718 9,323 6,766 
Total 7,518 19,682 14,182 32,299 39,735 
Amounts owed to credit institutions 2,028 19,246 2,212 893 1,325 
Amounts owed to customers 23,282 11,305 9,986 10,253 10,013 
Debts evidenced by certificates 167 2,072 694 7,186 6,825 
Subordinated capital 35 150 61 509 2,782 
Total 25,512 32,772 12,952 18,842 20,946 

47) Breakdown of remaining maturities as of 31 December 2003
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48) Boards of Erste Bank der oesterreichischen Sparkassen AG

Supervisory Board

Heinz Kessler
President from 3 September 2003
First Vice President – from 6 May 2003 Retired former CEO of Nettingsdorfer Papierfabrik AG

Herbert Schimetschek until 31 August 2003
President President of the General Council of the Austrian National Bank

Klaus Braunegg from 3 September 2003
First Vice President Attorney at law

Karl Korinek until 6 May 2003
First Vice President President of the Austrian Constitutional Court

Theresa Jordis from 3 September 2003
Second Vice President Attorney at law

Dietrich Blahut Businessman

Dirk Bruneel until 9 October 2003
Member of the Executive Committee of the Dexia Group (Belgium)

Elisabeth Gürtler Businesswoman
Member of the Management Board of the Austrian Hotel Association 

Wolfgang Houska Businessman

Werner Hutschinski General manager of A. Sochor & Co GmbH

Dietrich Karner Chief Executive Officer of Generali Holding Vienna AG

Josef Kassler Chief Executive Officer of Steiermärkische Bank und Sparkassen AG
President of the Austrian Savings Banks Association

Lars-Olof Ödlund Chief Advisor of FöreningsSparbanken AB 

Axel Freiherr von Ruedorffer until 6 May 2003
Member of the Managing Board of Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft
(Germany)

Hubert Singer Chief Executive Officer of Dornbirner Sparkasse AG

Georg Winckler Rector of the University of Vienna
Professor of Economics at the University of Vienna
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Representatives of the Staff Council 

Günter Benischek
Chairman of the Central Staff Council

Bertram Mach
until 11 November 2003
Deputy Chairman of the Central Staff Council

Erika Hegmala
Second Deputy Chairwoman of the Central Staff Council

Ilse Fetik
Member of the Central Staff Council

Joachim Härtel
Member of the Central Staff Council

Anton Janku
Member of the Central Staff Council

Elfriede Junger
until 13 May 2003
Member of the Central Staff Council

Christian Havelka
Member of the Central Staff Council

Representatives of the Supervisory Authority

Robert Spacek
Senate Councillor, State Commissioner

Peter Pillmeier
Deputy Municipal Director, Deputy State Commissioner

Managing Board

Andreas Treichl
Chairman

Elisabeth Bleyleben-Koren
Vice Chairwoman

Reinhard Ortner
Member

Franz Hochstrasser
Member

Erwin Erasim
Member

André Horovitz
Member
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49) Details of the companies of the Erste Bank Group at 
31 December 2003

Companies of the Erste Bank Group
The reported equity and earnings figures were generally prepared

in accordance with IFRS and may therefore differ from the financial state-
ments of the individual companies prepared according to local reporting
policies. 

The net income reported is equivalent to net income/loss after tax
(but before allocations to reserves), in the case of tax affiliations to net in-
come before tax.

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

Share- Inclusion in
holders’ Net Balance Consolidated

Interest equity income Profit sheet Financial
Company name, domicile in % in EUR million in EUR million transfer 1 date Statements 2

1. Credit institutions
Allgemeine Sparkasse Oberösterreich 
Bankaktiengesellschaft, Linz (Group) 26.9% 317.8 38.4 31 Dec 2003 V *
Bausparkasse der österreichischen 
Sparkassen Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna 100.0% 123.1 24.6 X 31 Dec 2003 V
Česká spořitelna a.s., Prague (Group) 97.9% 963.8 240.4 31 Dec 2003 V
Die Erste & Constantia Beteiligungsfonds 
Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna 100.0% 17.1 (0.9) X 31 Dec 2003 V
Erste Bank (Malta) Limited, Sliema 100.0% 111.0 6.0 31 Dec 2003 V
Erste Bank Hungary Rt., Budapest (Group) 99.6% 90.1 14.4 31 Dec 2003 V
Erste Financial Products Ltd., London 100.0% 26.8 5.4 31 Dec 2003 V
ERSTE-SPARINVEST Kapitalanlagegesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna 84.3% 11.7 23.1 X 31 Dec 2003 V
Erste & Steiermärkische banka d.d., Rijeka 77.3% 209.7 29.9 31 Dec 2003 V
Europay Austria Zahlungsverkehrssysteme GmbH, Vienna 3.1% 32.4 8.2 31 Dec 2002 E *
Intermarket Bank AG, Vienna 22.2% 19.5 2.2 31 Dec 2003 E
Investkredit Bank AG, Vienna (Group) 11.3% 487.2 46.8 31 Dec 2002 A
Kapital-Beteiligungs Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna 15.0% 8.7 0.2 30 Sep 2003 A
Kärntner Sparkasse Aktiengesellschaft, Klagenfurt (Group) 25.0% 214.6 15.3 31 Dec 2003 V *
Niederösterreichische Kapitalbeteiligungs-
gesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna 30.0% 2.9 0.2 30 Sep 2003 E
Niederösterreichische Kreditbürgschafts-
gesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna 25.0% 6.5 0.0 31 Dec 2002 E
Prvá stavebná sporiteľňa, a.s., Bratislava 32.0% 203.4 19.1 31 Dec 2003 E
Postabank és Takarékpénztár Rt., Budapest 99.9% 118.2 (21.3) 31 Dec 2003 V
Oesterreichische Kontrollbank Aktiengesellschaft, 
Vienna (Group) 12.9% 259.6 20.1 31 Dec 2003 A
Österreichische Hotel- und Tourismusbank 
Gesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna 18.8% 27.2 1.5 31 Dec 2003 A
s Wohnbaubank AG, Vienna (Group) 90.9% 29.9 4.1 X 31 Dec 2003 V
Salzburger Sparkasse Bank Aktiengesellschaft, Salzburg 98.7% 161.6 4.0 X 31 Dec 2003 V
Slovenská sporiteľňa a.s., Bratislava 70.0% 376.5 66.3 31 Dec 2003 V
“Spar-Finanz”-Investitions- und 
Vermittlungs-Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna 50.0% 3.8 0.1 31 Dec 2002 E
1 Profit transfer agreement with Erste Bank AG
2 V ............ Full consolidation pursuant to the provisions of Austrian company law

V* ............ Full consolidation as a result of the Haftungsverbund Agreement
E ............ Reported at equity pursuant to the provisions of Austrian company law 
E* ............ Reported at equity as a result of the Haftungsverbund Agreement 
A ............ Stated at cost
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2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

Share- Inclusion in
holders’ Net Balance Consolidated

Interest equity income Profit sheet Financial
Company name, domicile in % in EUR million in EUR million transfer 1 date Statements 2

Sparkasse Bregenz Bank Aktiengesellschaft, Bregenz 43.7% 27.8 1.8 31 Dec 2003 V *
Sparkasse Hainburg-Bruck-Neusiedl 
Aktiengesellschaft, Hainburg 75.0% 28.0 3.3 X 31 Dec 2003 V
Sparkasse Kremstal-Pyhrn Aktiengesellschaft, Kirchdorf 24.1% 31.9 3.7 31 Dec 2003 V *
Sparkasse Mühlviertel-West Bank 
Aktiengesellschaft, Rohrbach 40.0% 35.2 3.0 31 Dec 2003 V *
Sparkasse Voitsberg-Köflach Bankaktiengesellschaft 6.3% 24.2 0.4 31 Dec 2003 V *
Steiermärkische Bank und Sparkassen 
Aktiengesellschaft, Graz (Group) 25.0% 559.5 41.7 31 Dec 2003 V *
Tiroler Sparkasse Bankaktiengesellschaft Innsbruck, 
Innsbruck (Group) 74.7% 149.8 1.2 31 Dec 2003 V
2. Financial institutions
CDI-Erste Central Europe Holding Ges.m.b.H., 
Düsseldorf (Group) 100.0% (0.2) (0.3) 31 Dec 2003 V
EBV-Leasing Gesellschaft m.b.H. & Co. KG., Vienna 100.0% 5.6 1.5 31 Dec 2003 V
Erste Securities Polska S.A., Warsaw (Group) 100.0% 3.2 0.1 31 Dec 2003 V
Erste Securities Zagreb d.o.o., Zagreb 98.9% 1.1 0.2 31 Dec 2003 V
IMMORENT Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna (Group) 100.0% 331.2 46.8 X 31 Dec 2003 V
Neue Eisenstädter gemeinnützige Bau-, Wohn- und 
Siedlungsgesellschaft m.b.H., Eisenstadt 49.8% 1.8 0.1 31 Dec 2002 A
Österreichisches Volkswohnungswerk Gemeinnützige 
Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung, Vienna 100.0% 25.5 2.9 31 Dec 2002 A
s Autoleasing GmbH, Vienna 100.0% 0.0 0.0 31 Dec 2003 V
“Wohnungseigentümer” Gemeinnützige Wohnbau-
gesellschaft m.b.H., Mödling 26.0% 13.7 2.5 31 Dec 2002 A
3. Others
ARWAG Holding- Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna (Group) 19.2% 42.1 3.2 31 Dec 2002 A
AVS Beteiligungsgesellschaft m.b.H., Innsbruck 51.0% 77.7 (0.9) 31 Dec 2003 V
BMG-Warenbeschaffungsmanagement GmbH, Vienna 55.9% 0.0 0.0 31 Dec 2003 V
BVP-Pensionskassen Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna 19.0% 11.3 0.0 31 Dec 2002 A
BVP-Pensionsvorsorge-Consult G.m.b.H., Vienna 19.0% 0.3 0.0 30 Jun 2003 A
Capexit Private Equity Invest AG, Vienna (Group) 93.9% 7.7 (0.8) 31 Dec 2003 V
CSSC Customer Sales Service Center GmbH, Vienna 46.9% 0.0 0.0 31 Dec 2003 V *
Donau Allgemeine Versicherungs-Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna 8.1% 119.0 23.1 31 Dec 2002 A
EB-Beteiligungsservice GmbH, Vienna 100.0% 0.0 0.0 X 31 Dec 2003 V
EB-IT-Erste Bank Informations-Technologie Ges.m.b.H., Vienna 100.0% 0.0 0.0 X 31 Dec 2003 V
EB-Malta-Beteiligungen Gesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna 100.0% 117.2 4.7 31 Dec 2003 V
EB-Restaurantsbetriebe Ges.m.b.H., Vienna 100.0% 0.1 0.0 X 31 Dec 2003 V
EB-Touristik Unternehmensbeteiligungs GmbH, Vienna 100.0% 3.5 (7.1) 31 Dec 2003 V
ecetra Internet Services AG, Vienna (Group) 100.0% 17.8 (7.4) 31 Dec 2003 V
ECO Unternehmensbeteiligungs-GmbH, Vienna 100.0% 10.5 (1.0) 31 Dec 2003 V
Erste Bank Beteiligungen Gesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna 100.0% 81.3 (2.0) 31 Dec 2003 V
Erste Reinsurance S.A., Luxemburg 100.0% 15.0 0.0 31 Dec 2003 V
Erste Wiener Hotel-Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna 35.2% 20.1 (1.0) 31 Dec 2002 E
GESCO Gesellschaft für Unternehmenscommunication 
GmbH, Vienna 55.9% 2.4 0.3 31 Dec 2003 V
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2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCORDING TO IFRS

Share- Inclusion in
holders’ Net Balance Consolidated

Interest equity income Profit sheet Financial
Company name, domicile in % in EUR million in EUR million transfer 1 date Statements 2

Industriegrundstücks-Verwaltungsgesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna 100.0% 8.5 0.1 31 Dec 2003 V
Informations-Technologie Austria GmbH, Vienna 25.9% 26.3 0.3 31 Dec 2003 E
OM Objektmanagement GmbH, Vienna (Group) 100.0% 85.0 8.6 X 31 Dec 2003 V
s Haftungs- und Kundenabsicherungs GmbH, Vienna 62.6% 0.2 0.0 31 Dec 2003 V
s Immobilienfinanzierungsberatung GmbH, Vienna 73.1% (3.1) (1.9) 31 Dec 2003 V
S REAL Holding GmbH, Vienna (Group) 100.0% 0.9 0.1 31 Dec 2003 V
SPARDAT Sparkassen-Datendienst Gesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna 73.4% 3.5 1.7 31 Dec 2003 V
Sparkassen Versicherung Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna (Group) 61.9% 141.7 17.5 31 Dec 2003 V
Sparkassen Zahlungsverkehrabwicklungs GmbH, Linz 40.0% 0.4 0.0 31 Dec 2003 V *
“Sparkassen-Haftungs Aktiengesellschaft”, Vienna 38.8% 0.2 0.0 31 Dec 2003 V *
Sparkassen Immobilien Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna (Group) 25.0% 190.2 2.3 31 Dec 2002 V
SporDat, spol. s.r.o., Bratislava 100.0% 2.8 1.0 31 Dec 2003 V
S-Tourismusfonds Management Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna 99.9% 76.3 2.2 31 Dec 2003 V
UBG-Unternehmensbeteiligungsgesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna 100.0% 0.6 0.0 31 Dec 2002 A
Vereinigte Pensionskasse Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna 29.8% 18.8 (1.0) 31 Dec 2002 E
VERMREAL Liegenschaftserwerbs- und -betriebs GmbH, Vienna 25.6% 4.7 0.0 31 Dec 2003 E
VMG-Erste Bank Versicherungsmakler GmbH, Vienna 100.0% 0.3 (1.4) X 31 Dec 2003 V
WED Holding Gesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna 19.2% 11.6 0.0 31 Dec 2002 A
Wiener Börse AG, Vienna 10.1% 24.9 0.8 31 Dec 2002 A
1 Profit transfer agreement with Erste Bank AG
2 V ............ Full consolidation pursuant to the provisions of Austrian company law

V* ............ Full consolidation as a result of the Haftungsverbund Agreement
E ............ Reported at equity pursuant to the provisions of Austrian company law 
E* ............ Reported at equity as a result of the Haftungsverbund Agreement 
A ............ Stated at cost
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The purpose of consolidated financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRS differs sharply from that of consolidated accounts
drawn up under the Austrian Commercial Code and the Austrian Banking
Act. In particular, IFRS financial statements provide greater transparency
and more meaningful information about the enterprise as a business.
Under IFRS, figures prepared solely for tax purposes are not permitted. 
IFRS assign priority to the information needs of investors.

The differences in goals between the two sets of standards trans-
late into substantial differences in accounting principles and lead to more
extensive reporting requirements in the Notes under IFRS.

Important differences between IFRS and Austrian accounting pro-
visions are embodied as follows in the Erste Bank Group’s Consolidated
Financial Statements (list may not be complete):

Basis of consolidation: Unlike Austrian Accounting Principles,
under IFRS subsidiary and associated undertakings are consolidated that
are not directly related to the banking business but over which the parent
exercises significant or complete control.

Balance sheet and income statement format: The Austrian
Banking Act requires that a specific form be used for the balance sheets
and income statements of credit institutions, while IFRS do not stipulate
this.

Loans and advances to credit institutions and customers: Under
IFRS these items are presented as gross amounts, i.e. before deduction of
risk provisions for loans and advances. In addition, under IFRS, unlisted
securities – which under the Austrian Banking Act are assigned to the loans
and advances items – are grouped with the securities portfolio that they per-
tain to (trading assets, investments available for sale or financial invest-
ments).

Risk provisions for loans and advances: In keeping with IFRS,
those risk provisions pertaining to on-balance-sheet loans and advances
are reported as a separate line item under assets (below loans and ad-
vances), consistent with standard international practice. This provides
greater insight into the Group’s risk provisioning policy. Net additions to or
releases of risk provisions for loans and advances are reported on the face
of the income statement (below net interest income).

Trading assets: All trading assets are reported as a line item in the
IFRS balance sheet. This item consists largely of the securities in the trad-
ing portfolio (stated at fair value) and the positive fair value of derivatives
positions that were open at the balance sheet date.

Investments available for sale: IFRS require securities that are
classified neither as trading assets nor as financial investments to be
reported as investments available for sale. Under IAS 39 these assets are
measured at fair value.

Financial investments: In accordance with IFRS, this item com-
prises long-term investments, securities held as financial investments and
other financial investments (particularly leased properties). In line with 
IAS 39, shares and other financial assets that have no fixed maturity are
not reported as held-to-maturity fixed assets.

Intangible fixed assets: Intangible fixed assets generated internal-
ly must be capitalised under IFRS if the requirements for capitalisation are
met, whereas the Austrian Commercial Code prohibits capitalisation of
such assets.

Purchased goodwill must be capitalised under IFRS and written
off on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life. By contrast, the
Austrian Commercial Code allows such assets to be offset against equity.

Long-term employee provisions: Under IFRS the actuarial calcula-
tion of long-term provisions for employee benefits (applying the projected
unit credit method) takes into account the expected forecast increase in
salaries and a long-term capital market rate is used as the discount rate.

Deferred taxes: The calculation and reporting of deferred taxes
under IFRS is based on the concept of temporary differences. This involves
comparing the carrying amounts of the individual assets and liabilities in
the balance sheet with the corresponding tax base. Variances between
the two sets of figures represent temporary differences that form the basis
for deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities regardless of when these
differences cease to exist. Under IFRS these deferred items must be report-
ed, whereas under the Austrian Commercial Code the reporting of deferred
tax assets is optional in the separate financial statements. The Austrian
Commercial Code permits tax accruals and deferrals only as a conse-
quence of temporary differences between profit reported in the income
statement and the tax base, provided that a tax expense would actually have
accrued before the application of tax losses carried forward. The Austrian
Commercial Code prohibits the recognition of deferred tax assets relating
to tax losses.

Fiduciary transactions: In keeping with their economic purpose,
pursuant to IFRS fiduciary operations that are conducted in the bank’s
name but for the accounts of third parties are not included in the balance
sheet. Under Section 48 (1) Austrian Banking Act such fiduciary agree-
ments are in principle to be reported by the fiduciary agent. However, if other
regulations exist under which the assets held in trust can be segregated in
the event of bankruptcy proceedings, the fiduciary transactions should be
reported off the balance sheet.

Net interest income: Under IFRS this item includes interest in-
come, interest expenses, income from equity holdings in associates and
non-consolidated subsidiaries and other companies, other dividends, and
income earned on non-fixed-interest securities. Interest income and fund-

VI. Information and explanations supplied in
accordance with Section 245a Commercial Code on
accounting, measurement and consolidation methods
applied which deviate from Austrian law
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ing expenses resulting from items assigned to the trading portfolio, on 
the other hand, are reported in the income statement within net trading
result.

The Austrian Banking Act distinguishes between net interest in-
come on the one hand and income from non-fixed-interest securities and
equity holdings on the other. 

Depreciation and amortisation: This item represents depreciation,
amortisation and impairment of all tangible and most intangible fixed
assets. Amortisation of acquired goodwill (which under the Austrian Com-
mercial Code is shown in depreciation and amortisation) is reported in other
operating result under IFRS.

Other operating result: Under IFRS this item comprises mainly
the following earnings components:
> Gains on the remeasurement or sale of securities held as investments

available for sale and of all assets reported as financial investments
(financial-investment securities, equity holdings) 

> Remeasurement gains or losses and net additions to or releases of pro-
visions not pertaining to lendings

> Impairment and disposal gains on real estate
> Amortisation of acquired goodwill
> Other operating income/expenses not included in other items of the

income statement.

ERLÄUTERUNGEN GEM. § 245A HGB

Vienna, 22 March 2004

The Managing Board

Andreas Treichl mp Elisabeth Bleyleben-Koren mp
Chairman Vice Chairwoman

Reinhard Ortner mp Franz Hochstrasser mp
Member Member

Erwin Erasim mp André Horovitz mp
Member Member
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We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Financial State-
ments of Erste Bank der oesterreichischen Sparkassen AG (the Erste Bank
Group) for the years ended 31 December 2003 and 31 December 2002,
consisting of the consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 2003 and
2002 and the consolidated income statements, consolidated statements
of changes in equity, consolidated cash flow statements and the Notes for
the years ended 31 December 2003 and 2002. 

These Consolidated Financial Statements are the responsibility of
the Managing Board. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
Consolidated Financial Statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Stan-
dards on Auditing (ISA) of the International Federation of Accountants
(IFAC). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the Consolidated Financial
Statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures found
in the Consolidated Financial Statements. An audit also includes assessing

the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by man-
agement, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presenta-
tion. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion the Consolidated Financial Statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group at 31 December 2003
and 31 December 2002 and of the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the financial years then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Under Austrian commercial law, the Group Management Report
must be audited and it must be ascertained whether the legal require-
ments under Section 59a Austrian Banking Act for exemption from the
requirement to prepare consolidated financial statements in accordance
with Austrian accounting principles have been met.

We confirm that the Group Management Report is consistent with
the Consolidated Financial Statements and that the legal requirements for
exemption from the requirement to prepare consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with Austrian accounting principles are fulfilled. 

Auditors’ Report

Vienna, 22 March 2004

Sparkassen-Prüfungsverband
Savings Bank Auditing Agency

Wolfgang Riedl Klaus Goschler
Public Accountant Audit Director

Eidos Deloitte & Touche Wirtschaftsprüfungs-
und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft mbH

Public Accountants and Tax Advisors

Kurt Schweighart Claudia Fritscher-Notthaft
Public Accountant Public Accountant
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In 2003 the Supervisory Board was regularly informed by the Man-
aging Board on the course of business and the state of affairs of Erste Bank
der oesterreichischen Sparkassen AG; the Supervisory Board discharged
all its responsibilities under the law and Erste Bank’s Articles of Associa-
tion. 

Concerning the meetings of the Supervisory Board of Erste Bank der
oesterreichischen Sparkassen AG, it should be noted that two members of
the Supervisory Board who have since stepped down were in attendance
at fewer than half of the meetings.

The separate financial statements of Erste Bank and the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements for 2003 were audited by the Sparkassen-

Prüfungsverband and Eidos Deloitte & Touche Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft mbH. The audit did not give rise to objec-
tions and an unqualified audit opinion was therefore issued.

The Supervisory Board has accepted the result of the audit and
approved the Management Report by the Managing Board as well as the
proposal for the distribution of profits. The Supervisory Board has ratified
the separate financial statements of Erste Bank for 2003, which are there-
by approved in accordance with Section 125 (2) of the Austrian Stock
Corporation Act, and has taken note of the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Report of the Supervisory Board

Vienna, April 2004

Heinz Kessler mp
President
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Publisher and copyright owner: Erste Bank der oesterreichischen Sparkassen AG, Graben 21, A-1010 Vienna
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